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INTRODUCTION 

This Fifth Year Interim Report was prepared alongside BGSP’s 2016-19 Strategic Plan.  Since 
the entire School, including the Board of Trustees, President’s Council, Administrative 
Directors, Faculty Council, faculty committees, administration, staff, and students were involved 
in the strategic planning process, from focus groups to outcomes assessment, data analysis, and 
active revision of the plan, much of the interim report reflects the voices of each of these 
constituencies, and a wide range of individuals are responsible for the development of the 
analyses and plans contained herein.   

Production of the interim report itself was a team effort led primarily by the Vice President of 
Finance and Institutional Relations, Dr. Carol Panetta, joined by Dr. Jane Snyder, President and 
Dr. Stephen Soldz, Director of Research and Evaluation.  This team supervised the completion of 
the Data First Forms by a stellar staff, including Ms. Allison Williams (Registrar), Ms. Stephanie 
Woolbert (Admissions Coordinator and Director of Financial Aid), Mrs. Gayle Dolan 
(Controller), and Ms. Wendy Forrester (Administrative Coordinator). 

Using the Data First Forms, Dr. Panetta then led the development of the Response to Areas 
Identified for Special Emphasis, relying greatly on information from the strategic planning 
process (which was led by Dr. Snyder).  Dr. Soldz led the development of the Reflective Essay 
on Educational Effectiveness, relying on the work done in administrative and faculty meetings to 
analyze assessment data (which was also led by Dr. Snyder).  Dr. Panetta then solicited 
volunteers to help with drafting the Standards Narrative.  Particular contributors include 
Elizabeth Dorsey (Chair of the Curriculum Committee) and Amy Cohen Rose (Director of 
Library Services).  Dr. Panetta was then responsible for articulating the Institutional Plans, tying 
together the entire report under the supervision of Dr. Snyder, providing a unified voice, and 
supervising staff (Mr. Mike Fraley) in the assembly of appendices.   

Each time BGSP writes a NEASC report, the School is reminded how much positive influence 
accreditation activities have had on BGSP over the years.  In particular, the opportunity to 
synthesize an immense amount of data and experiences and formulate an assessment of the 
School’s current situation is invaluable for planning the School’s future.   
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INSTITUTIONAL OVERVIEW 

The Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis was founded in 1973 as a single-purpose 
institute that granted the Certificate in Psychoanalysis after completion of its lengthy program of 
post-graduate psychoanalytic training.  At the time of the institute’s founding, the only other 
psychoanalytic institute operating in Massachusetts required a medical degree for admission; yet 
scores of students from other walks of life wanted to be trained in psychoanalysis. The founders 
of the young institute chose to follow Freud's philosophy, and that of most European institutes 
and many Americans trained by them, that social scientists, physicians, teachers, or any other 
students demonstrating talent, motivation, and the ability to use themselves therapeutically 
should be trained.  From its inception, the School trained students from a variety of backgrounds, 
including educators, nurses, social scientists, writers, other professionals, and, most frequently, 
mental health practitioners.   

At that time, students who did not already hold a graduate degree had to go elsewhere to receive 
a master’s degree before graduating from the original post-master’s Certificate Program.  Often 
the programs in which they enrolled accepted the School’s coursework for credit.  BGSP was 
clearly educating graduate students in the field of psychoanalysis at a level acceptable to other 
degree programs; yet, it was not awarding a degree to students who completed the work.  Instead 
it required these students to achieve a degree in a different field or to receive the degree from a 
separate institution.  Likewise, acquisition of a doctoral degree for students of psychoanalysis at 
the time required either (a) enrollment in an unrelated program or (b) enrollment in a university-
without-walls program that granted doctoral credit for work done in the Certificate program.   

It was for these reasons that BGSP sought and achieved degree-granting status for its 
psychoanalytic programs, which it achieved at the master’s level in 1994 and at the doctoral level 
in 1999 (in Vermont) and 2005 (in Massachusetts).  The School was initially accredited by 
NEASC in 1996.   

BGSP’s main campus is located in Brookline, Massachusetts in a single building; the School 
does not offer housing.  In 2005, the School established an additional campus in New York City, 
in partnership with a closely affiliated but independent institute, the Center for Modern 
Psychoanalytic Studies.  In 2015, BGSP opened a second additional campus in Livingston, New 
Jersey, in partnership with a second closely affiliated institute, the Academy of Clinical and 
Applied Psychoanalysis.   

Despite its growth over the last 43 years from a small, single purpose institute into a graduate 
school offering a range of degrees at the master’s and doctoral levels across three campuses, 
BGSP continues to remain committed to its mission to teach people to understand the 
unconscious dynamics driving human behavior.   
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RESPONSE TO AREAS IDENTIFIED FOR SPECIAL EMPHASIS  

Since BGSP’s comprehensive evaluation in 2011, the Commission has asked the School to give 
particular emphasis in the Interim Report to a number of areas, related primarily to enrollment 
and finances, but also leadership and assessment.  As the areas of emphasis have evolved over 
time, we have organized them not chronologically, but rather by topic.  Questions related to 
leadership and assessment are addressed first, followed by a lengthy analysis of finances and 
enrollment, incorporating a number of the areas identified for special emphasis. 

ACADEMIC LEADERSHIP AND OVERSIGHT 

After BGSP’s 2011 comprehensive evaluation, the Commission asked the School to report on its 
“success in assuring sufficient academic leadership and oversight of the college’s academic 
programs,” given its unique governance structure.  Specifically, the School has always been led 
by a President who is a psychoanalyst and faculty member and also serves, in conjunction with 
the Dean of Graduate Studies, as Chief Academic Officer.  The question was, given the School’s 
needs for the President to participate in increased institutional advancement, would she continue 
to be able sufficiently support academic quality? 

In fact, President Snyder has maintained her high level of involvement in academic leadership, 
continuing to oversee academic programming, assessment, and clinical education (in addition to 
her many other responsibilities).  She continues to work very closely with the Dean, department 
chairs, and program committees and offer her academic, administrative, and clinical insights and 
oversight to the School’s academic community.  As she always has, she participates in regular 
President’s Council meetings, Administrative Directors meetings, Clinical Studies meetings, 
Faculty meetings, Admissions/Recruitment meetings, and individual meetings with the Dean and 
department heads to ensure quality programming.  She has been instrumental in the School’s 
recent strategic planning process (described in Standard Two) and has led two faculty members 
in beginning to develop, respectively, a new Master’s degree in Social Justice and Human Rights 
and a new hybrid version of the accelerated Psya.D. program.   

There have also been opportunities for President Snyder to devote time to institutional 
advancement – for instance, by cultivating last year’s $25,000 major gift and this year’s $10,000 
bequest and by recruiting and/or interviewing five new Board members over the past five years.  
However, these activities have not dominated her schedule.  There remains room for growth in 
institutional advancement, a potential which is addressed more fully under “Fundraising.”   

USING ASSESSMENT TO INFORM PLANNING 

A second focus identified after the comprehensive evaluation was the School’s success in using 
the results of assessment efforts to inform planning – particularly the development of greater 
quantitative analysis to aid in planning. 
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A number of initiatives have helped BGSP improve its quantitative assessment, including a new 
student database, increased use of enrollment analytics, and the development of marketing and 
admissions research.  First, the School purchased a new student information system in 2012 and 
went live with the new system in 2013.  The new system, Empower, integrates all student, 
faculty, and donor data into a single integrated system, allowing for much cleaner data than the 
administration could previously access.  It accommodates online student registration, online 
grade entry, online payments, registration holds, and many other features previously unavailable.  
It also has a degree audit function that will be the last feature to be implemented, planned for 
2017. 

While the system has a rather inelegant administrative user interface (probably its biggest 
drawback), it has the most elegant data structure of the systems that the School evaluated for bid.  
It is able to accommodate the complex enrollment structures that tend to occur at the School, 
such as students transferring from program to program, students enrolling in dual programs, and 
people having multiple relationships with the School over time (e.g., student, faculty, alumni, 
and donor), without confounding data.  While BGSP is a small institution, navigating these types 
of complexities previously was extremely cumbersome.  Compared to the School’s previous 
Access database, Empower makes it much easier to query for the information the administration 
needs to use in planning.   

With the help of the new system, the administration has implemented more regular enrollment 
reporting, by program, by full-time/part-time status, by campus, and in aggregate, and such 
reporting is now used very consistently in planning.  The Registrar and Admissions Coordinator 
now complete more segmented, detailed versions of the NEASC Data First Enrollment and 
Admissions forms for use by administration and at the quarterly Board meetings, in addition to 
data on credits purchased each semester.  This latter statistic is more readily translated into 
revenue, and recurrently increases in the fall and decreases in the spring.  This pattern was not 
previously discerned, and recognition of it helps in financial forecasting.  The regular reporting 
also helps leaders at additional locations spot trends that they were not recognizing as readily 
with spotty data, which highlights the need for action, for example, to ramp up recruitment 
efforts at the New York campus. 

Since the comprehensive evaluation, the School has also initiated and – fueled by the ease of 
digital analytics – ramped up a regular program of marketing research.  This includes reporting 
on how our prospects heard about us, how those who eventually enrolled heard about us, which 
types of prospects respond to our email communications, how they respond (open rates, click-
through rates, which pages they visit), Google analytics on the performance of our web pages, 
how often our Facebook posts are shared and viewed (with sharing making an enormous 
difference on views), and attendance at continuing education events and whether this correlates 
with application to the School.  These reports are reviewed by the admissions and marketing 
departments, with highlights shared at President’s Council and Board meetings as appropriate.   
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One important finding from the quantitative digital market research is that psychoanalysis seems 
to have broader appeal among college graduates who intend to pursue graduate studies in the 
humanities.  It has limited appeal among college graduates who intend to pursue clinical work in 
mental health.  So, students in the humanities often open our introductory emails, click on our 
website links more frequently than other prospects, and spend more time viewing our web 
content once they have clicked through.  This critical piece of information supports our finding 
that faculty in humanities departments have been more interested in joining the Consortium for 
Psychoanalysis in Higher Education (described on page 23) than faculty in psychology 
departments. 

The School has also started using surveys to quantitatively evaluate the market for particular 
programs, in addition to its regular alumni surveys, described in the Reflective Essay on 
Educational Effectiveness.  In 2014, BGSP surveyed already-certified analysts to assess their 
interest in obtaining a doctoral degree that would give them credit for the psychoanalytic training 
they had already obtained.  Specifically, the survey asked them to rank their preferences in terms 
of location and mode of delivery for such a program.  Most, but not all, of the respondents live in 
New York.  Two-thirds of the respondents favored an in-person program located at the New 
York campus (which does not currently have doctoral degree-granting status), and one-third of 
the respondents favored a hybrid program delivered through a combination of video-
conferencing and intensive school-year weekends in Boston.  Hardly any respondents preferred 
to travel regularly to Boston or to meet intensively over the summer.  Based on the survey, the 
School is continuing to pursue doctoral degree-granting status in New York (a many year 
endeavor) and is launching a hybrid format for the accelerated Psya.D. program in 2017.  The 
Boston on-campus accelerated Psya.D. program began in Fall 2013, but only has 6 students 
enrolled.  

Another survey is currently underway to aid with planning for a new Master of Arts program in 
Social Justice and Human Rights.  BGSP is emailing its very large prospect database to survey 
college graduates about their specific interests in social justice, including potential topics of 
interest (e.g., racial justice, education, poverty) and potential skills (e.g., advocacy, leadership, 
research).  The survey also describes BGSP’s psychodynamic orientation and asks the 
respondents’ assessment of the contribution such an orientation would make to studies in social 
justice.  We expect the results for this to be complete in October, 2016.  This quantitative 
analysis will contribute to the School’s ongoing needs assessment for the new program. 

Finally, the School has also established a method, which it carried over from the data collection 
for the comprehensive evaluation, for quantitatively reporting student achievements of many 
varieties, as evidenced on the Standard 8: Educational Effectiveness data forms (previously the 
“S” forms).   

With the advent of clear enrollment trends downward, BGSP has also increasingly sought out 
external perspectives and research on enrollment trends in psychoanalysis, counseling, and 
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graduate school in general.  The 2016-19 Strategic Plan, appended, describes all of the factors 
examined in its section on the SWOT analysis.  Such data was highly integrated into the strategic 
planning process, as described in Standard Two. 

Probably the most difficult area to effect change in quantitative analysis has been in learning 
outcomes assessment.  The School has a long tradition of qualitative assessment of students, 
relying on a model of formative evaluation.  Many attempts have been made to quantify the 
evaluation forms used for such evaluation, but historically, each form has encountered some 
resistance from faculty.  In the last academic year, the faculty agreed on one form that the group 
(finally) found very useful for evaluating students at the fieldwork level (completing their 
clinical master’s degrees).  The faculty has enthusiastically agreed to adapt this form, which uses 
Likert scales to assess students against a number of criteria but also leaves room for qualitative 
assessment, for use at each level of clinical training.  The Reflective Essay on Educational 
Effectiveness discusses the learning outcomes evaluations in more detail.   

STATUS OF THE NEW YORK GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS 

At the time of BGSP’s comprehensive evaluation in Fall, 2011, BGSP and the NYGSP campus 
leadership were discussing the possibility of NYGSP, which is BGSP’s campus in New York, 
seeking independence from BGSP and applying for accreditation through the Middle States 
Association.  The Commission requested an update on this situation, paying particular attention 
to BGSP’s plans to achieve a balanced budget should it no longer receive income from NYGSP.   

In 2012, NYGSP campus leadership consulted with the Middle States Association and began 
investigating the resources needed to operate independently.  MSA was quite encouraging about 
achieving separate accreditation, and laid out a path toward Candidacy for NYGSP.  However, as 
discussions continued with BGSP, both campuses came to agree that maintaining the existing 
partnership serves the best interests of NYGSP and BGSP and their students.   

Therefore, BGSP continues and will continue to earn its expected revenue from NYGSP.  Net 
revenues for the program since the comprehensive visit in October, 2011 have been as follows: 

2011-12 $82,913 
2012-13 $92,785 
2013-14 $73,205  
2014-15 $50,713 
2015-16 $50,000 (projected for July 31, 2016) 
 

Net revenues for the program are budgeted at $51,000 for 2016-17, based on existing seat 
deposits, graduations, and typical attrition. 

As the revenue for the program suggests, there has been a decrease in enrollment in the New 
York program from a high of 27.5 FTE in Fall 2012 to a low of 20.0 in Fall 2015, reflecting a 
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gradual decrease in both full-time and part-time attendance.  Enrollment is projected to remain at 
20.0 FTE in Fall 2016.   

Despite the recent decreases in enrollment, the administration believes there is room for growth 
in NYGSP’s numbers.  New York State currently has 23 psychoanalytic institutes registered with 
the state – over five times as many as in New England, reflecting a much larger market of 
candidates interested in the field.  On the other hand, NYGSP’s enrollment approximately equals 
that of BGSP’s clinical master’s programs in Boston.   

Up until 2015-2016, recruitment for this program was poorly coordinated between the main 
campus and New York campus administration.  Since then, the School has been increasing 
coordination with the branch campus, ensuring greater effectiveness of emails to GRE-test-
takers, for instance, and increasing marketing efforts from the main campus.  The School has 
integrated its New York and New Jersey campuses into its overall logo, poster design, and 
emails and has the goal of increasing enrollment in New York by 15% in the next five years.  (A 
more aggressive goal would be reasonable except for the environmental data demonstrating the 
rapid decline of psychoanalytic programs in the Northeast.)   

In addition to maintaining and growing the Master of Arts program in Psychoanalysis at the 
NYGSP campus, BGSP is developing an application to the New York State Education 
Department to offer the Doctor of Psychoanalysis degree in New York in the accelerated format.  
Please refer to “Institutional Plans” for more information. 

ENROLLMENT AND FINANCES 

The bulk of the areas to emphasize in this Interim Report are related to BGSP’s enrollment and 
finances.  While the School’s enrollment and finances were quite robust at the time of the 2011 
comprehensive evaluation, the following year marked the beginning of a period of declines in 
new admissions at the main campus (with New York following a year later).  The resulting 
deficits were at their greatest in FY 2013-14 and have been improving rapidly since then.  The 
School is projected to earn a net profit in 2017-18 and going forward, as it continues to stabilize 
enrollment, moderate expenses and develop new programs.   

STABILIZING ENROLLMENT 

BGSP has stemmed its declines in new admissions at the Boston and New York campuses and 
opened a new, though small, campus in Livingston, New Jersey in 2015.  As a result, overall new 
admissions in Fall 2016 (36 projected enrollees) are 10% lower than the time of the Fall 2011 
comprehensive evaluation (40 new enrollees) – but are 53% higher than the low of 23 new 
enrollees in Fall 2012.  In addition, retention, which had an anomalously low rate for Fall 2013, 
returned to its historically high rate of 92% in Fall 2015. 
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Combined, these factors have helped enrollment increase approximately 10% from a low of 89.0 
FTE in Fall 2014 to a projected 97.5 FTE this Fall 2016. While still 16.6% lower than the 117.0 
FTE from Fall 2011, the rising tide indicates that the sharp declines have turned around.  

Meanwhile, BGSP is planning new programs to boost enrollment at the Boston campus.  The 
School expects FTE enrollment to increase at the Boston campus from 67.5 to 81.0 in FY 2017-
18, as planned programs yield new admissions.  These projections conservatively forecast 5 new 
FTE students in a proposed Master’s program in Social Justice and Human Rights and 7 new 
part-time students in a planned hybrid version of the accelerated doctoral program, with stable 
enrollment in Boston’s other programs, slight growth in New Jersey, and 5% growth in New 
York.  The following year, 2018-19, will benefit from two classes in each of the new programs, 
effectively doubling the boost in enrollment. 

FINANCIAL STABILITY 

Achieving a Balanced Budget 

With stabilized enrollment and cuts to expenses, BGSP slowed its losses very significantly from 
FY 2013-14 to FY 2015-16, just completed.  Realistic financial projections anticipate another 
year of smaller losses in FY 2016-17, followed by a balanced budget in 2017-18.  

Net student fees in FY 2015-16 remained 6% higher than those in 2013-14, with tuition rate 
increases of 4% in 2014-15 and 2.5% in 2015-16.  (The School is limiting its tuition rate 
increases in order not to outpace the cost of attendance at benchmark institutions.)   
 
Excluding depreciation, operating expenses decreased by $129,510 (7.9%) in FY 2014-15 and 
then by another $75,857 (5.0%) in FY 2015-16.  These cuts in expenses followed on the heels of 
the refinancing of the mortgage in November, 2012.  Even with a cash withdrawal of 
approximately $162,000 to cover the cost of the new student information system, the monthly 
payment was significantly reduced from $7,669 to $4,800.  Instructional expenses and 
administrative salaries also saw decreases, with no loss to academic quality, but an admitted 
sense of being stretched thin administratively.  The reduction in instructional expenses does not 
reflect a decrease in teaching capacity, but rather an enrollment-related drop in the number of 
course sections, supervisions, and research tutorials that are required.  In addition, savings were 
achieved through various renegotiations of IT, phone, and other contracts.  Combined with the 
increase in revenue, this resulted in a $241,219 reduction of the operating loss from ($349,505) 
in FY 2013-14 to ($108,286) in FY 2015-16.  
 
Based on a 2.2% tuition rate increase, stable enrollment in Boston and New York, and slight 
growth in New Jersey, BGSP anticipates a 3.7% increase in net student fees for FY 2016-17.  
With a 4.1% increase in expenses to ensure robust marketing and staff retention, the School 
projects a smaller loss of ($81,752) for FY 2016-17.  (Note: BGSP’s planning for a hybrid 
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version of its accelerated doctoral track is moving faster than anticipated.  If the School is able to 
launch the hybrid program in Spring 2017, this loss would very likely decrease even further.) 
 
As mentioned, the School expects a jump in enrollment in Boston in 2017-18 based on new 
programming.  Net student fees are forecasted to increase nearly 11%, while overall expenditures 
will only increase by 2.8%.  Increases in expenses to launch the new programs will be minimal 
for the hybrid program, which will use existing faculty and existing videoconferencing 
technology, with minimal improvements.  The proposed Master’s program in Social Justice, on 
the other hand, will call for new faculty expenditures as reflected in the budget. Using these 
assumptions, the School anticipates a net gain of $29,471 for FY 2017-18 and a net gain of 
$72,610 for FY 2018-19. 
 

Cash Flow and Debt Service 

For FY 2015-16, cash flows from operating activities reflected the operating deficit, with a net 
use of cash for operations of $155,149.  This cash deficit was funded by Board-approved 
withdrawals from the investment account.  Additionally, the outstanding $100,000 line of credit 
balance from 2014-15 was fully paid off, resulting in a total withdrawal from investments of 
$240,000.  There remains a balance of just under $1.8 million in the investment accounts.  With 
the School’s total debt now under $700,000 on its $4.2 million property, BGSP continues to have 
a strong balance sheet to carry the School, as it works its way back to profitability. 
 
Based on its solid financial position, BGSP was again able to obtain a waiver of its debt covenant 
requirements for FY 2014-15 (appended).  However, TDBank cancelled the School’s line of 
credit (which was paid off months earlier) in May, 2016.  The School’s investment advisor, 
Boston Financial Management, was able to help the School rapidly obtain another line of credit, 
this time secured by the investment portfolio.  Eastern Bank has provided a line of credit for 
$950,000 against the investment account (appended).  The line has a two-year, renewable term 
and a variable interest rate set at prime (currently 3.5%).  

Cash flow projections for 2016-17 indicate a cash deficit for the year of slightly over $51,000.  
While the School could again draw down the investment account, the plan instead is to utilize the 
line of credit.  That way, investment positions will not be disturbed, and investment gains should 
outpace the interest on the loan.  Because the cash flow projection for 2017-18 shows a net gain 
in cash of $62,600, the line will be able to be readily paid off. 

Diversifying Sources of Revenue 

As part of its financial planning strategy, BGSP has been working to diversify its sources of 
revenue, so as to be less vulnerable to changes in any one income stream.  Major areas of focus 
have included fundraising, programmatic changes in Boston, and the addition of a new 
instructional location in Livingston, New Jersey. 
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Fundraising 

In order to offset the School’s dependence on enrollment, BGSP has been gradually trying to 
focus on increasing fundraising, with recent success.  Thanks to a major matching gift by a 
Trustee, cultivated by President Snyder, the Annual Fund hit an all-time high of $75,488, 
compared to $51,266 in the previous year.  In 2015-16, while gifts did not match the prior year, 
they did increase 7.4% over 2013-14 thanks to an alumni bequest.   

Recent changes at the Board level support continued emphasis on philanthropic development.  
Up until now, the Trustees and administration, faced with such an enrollment-driven budget, 
have devoted as many resources as possible to student recruitment.  While this does pay off 
(since only a small number of students make a big impact on the budget), it has resulted in a lack 
of focus on fundraising.  However, the new Interim Chair of the Board, Mr. Robert Stolzberg (an 
attorney), has been working closely with President Snyder to recruit more philanthropically 
oriented Board members and donors.   

One challenge has been that the level of specificity of the School’s mission results in a narrow 
pool of potentially interested, but independent, Trustees and donors.  Evolving out of the 2015-
16 strategic planning process, two initiatives will work to address this issue.  First, the mission 
review process, described in Standard One, helped the School community – with input from 
outsiders – identify the purpose of BGSP, without relying on jargon.  Second, the planning 
process yielded a proposal for a new program in Social Justice, which should help prospective 
Trustees and donors understand the value of a BGSP education more broadly.  One recent Board 
recruit, Mrs. Chris Bierbrier, worked extensively with the Strategic Planning Committee on these 
priorities.  She and a recent graduate will be leading a specific fundraising campaign for the 
Social Justice program, with a goal of raising $50-75,000 over three years.  This accounts for the 
School’s forecast to increase gifts by $18,000 to $83,000 during FY 2017-18.  

Along with Mrs. Bierbrier, the Board has recruited four additional independent Trustees within 
the past year.  Board recruitment will continue be a top priority for this year and this entire 
strategic planning cycle. 

Programmatic Changes in Boston 

While fundraising continues to build momentum, some changes have been made to programming 
at the main campus to attract more people into psychoanalytic education.  Since the 2011 
comprehensive evaluation, a number of programs have been added: 

• In 2013, the School opened an accelerated track in the Psya.D. program.  The accelerated 
doctorate is available to candidates who have already graduated from a psychoanalytic 
training institute (i.e., certified psychoanalysts), who would like to earn a doctorate in the 
field.  There are currently five students enrolled in the accelerated track, and one student 
has already graduated.  While likely to remain small, the program establishes a precedent 
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for offering a similar program in New York, where the market is much, much larger. In 
addition, it paves the way for BGSP to initiate online learning.  Plans for both an in-
person program in New York and a hybrid online/intensive program in Boston are 
underway. 

• Also in 2013, the School added two Certificates of Advanced Graduate Study, one in 
Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy and one in Child and Adolescent Intervention. So far, the 
programs have enrolled seven students.  The expectation is that as the programs grow, 
they could yield one new doctoral student per year from the stream of program graduates.   

• In 2015, BGSP was approved by the Massachusetts Bureau of Substance Abuse Services 
as an educational provider for the License in Alcohol and Drug Counseling (LADC).  
This allows the School to provide a specialization in Addictions within the Master’s 
program in Mental Health Counseling, so graduates are eligible for both the License in 
Mental Health Counseling (LMHC) and the LADC-I (the highest level License in 
Alcohol and Drug Counseling).  The approval also allows BGSP to offer a post-
bachelor’s Certificate in Addictions Counseling, which provides graduates with eligibility 
for the LADC-II.   

• In Fall, 2012, BGSP launched a major continuing education department with hefty 
programming each semester, including workshops, conferences, full-semester courses 
open to the public, and the existing One Year Program.  The One Year Program has 
proven to be a good feeder into the School’s degree programs, yielding from one to four 
degree applicants per year.  

Major additional changes at the Boston campus are underway, including the development of a 
hybrid accelerated doctoral program and a Master’s degree in Social Justice and Human Rights, 
discussed in the section on Institutional Plans.  One potential project that will likely not occur is 
for the School to open a licensed mental health clinic.  The resources required and liability 
involved would be too taxing to the institution.  However, the School does plan to partner closely 
with whatever clinic ends up absorbing the School Based Counseling program, which was 
previously operated in conjunction with the Boston Institute for Psychotherapy. 

In addition to the programmatic changes in Boston, in January 2015, BGSP launched its 
Livingston, New Jersey campus, described below.   

New Jersey Location  

BGSP was authorized by the State of New Jersey to offer the Master of Arts in Psychoanalysis 
and the Master of Arts in Psychoanalytic Counseling in October, 2014 and began offering classes 
in January, 2015.  The additional instructional location is operated in partnership with the 
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Academy of Clinical and Applied Psychoanalysis (ACAP), which provides the space and staff 
support, and a pool of qualified faculty from which to hire.  

Almost immediately after launching, the leadership at the New Jersey campus recognized that 
the degree in “Psychoanalytic Counseling,” as in Boston, would be better marketed with the title 
of “Mental Health Counseling.”  While both are accurate and appropriate, “Mental Health 
Counseling” is more familiar to degree-seekers and reflects the degree’s eligibility to satisfy 
educational requirements for licensure in mental health counseling.  In February, 2015 the NJ 
Professional Counselor Examiners Committee approved the program as meeting its educational 
requirements.  The State of New Jersey approved the title change to “Mental Health Counseling” 
in September, 2015.   

After a November, 2015 NEASC site visit, the inclusion of the additional instructional location 
in BGSP’s accreditation was confirmed in April, 2016.   

Between Spring 2015 and Spring 2016, 18 new students have enrolled, almost all of them part-
time.  This headcount is close to projected enrollment, but the percentage of students attending 
part-time is nearly double that in New York and Boston and was therefore unexpected.  While 
this might be an artifact of the program’s initial draw of several working professionals already 
affiliated with BGSP’s partner institution, ACAP, it is possible that such a trend will continue.  
Even the brand new students appear to be studying part-time while pursing existing careers. 

The campus is hard at work at recruiting.  Aside from its regular marketing communications 
(email blasts and poster campaigns), the staff is also visiting undergraduate departments and 
career offices to make faculty advisors aware of this opportunity for graduate education.  Some 
faculty members have spoken in undergraduate classrooms about psychoanalysis, and are using 
continuing education offerings as an opportunity to introduce certain markets to the field.  For 
instance, a workshop on immigration yielded one applicant.  The School has also made inroads 
with a large hospital system that reimburses its staff for tuition.  At the same time, one faculty 
member, who is pursuing her Ph.D. in Counselor Education, is writing her dissertation on how to 
align a psychodynamically oriented counseling program with CACREP standards (the Council 
for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs).  This will help align the 
program more closely to the expectations of students in the mid-Atlantic. 

Because so many of the students are part-time, revenue is lower than projected.  However, the 
programs remain profitable by virtue of the program’s relationship with ACAP.  Existing staff in 
both Boston and New Jersey are able to manage the programs, and since BGSP has only had to 
make one new hire (the librarian) to accommodate the degree programs, there has been very little 
increase in overhead expenses related to the new programs.  The main campus is easily able to 
absorb the increase in electronic library services and staff time.  The faculty is paid per course at 
a low rate, which is possible because it is a big change from their previous volunteer status.  
(Even with their strong credentials, faculty members at most if not all psychoanalytic institutes 
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tend to teach psychoanalysis for the love of the subject, as a way of passing on their knowledge 
and developing their scholarly interests in addition to their clinical work.)  Therefore, the 
program is able to generate income for both BGSP and ACAP. 

The program generated $10,737 in net revenue for BGSP in FY 2015 and slightly over $15,000 
in net revenue in FY 2016.  Budget projections have kept the revenue conservatively level, 
between $15,000 and $16,000, until the School sees evidence that enrollment patterns will 
change. 

Summary of Enrollment and Finances 

BGSP continues to have a strong balance sheet to carry it through to profitability, with very little 
debt on its $4.2 million property and a $1.8 million investment portfolio.  While the past three 
fiscal years have shown deficits, those losses have shrunk very significantly year after year as 
enrollment has stabilized, costs have been cut, and fundraising has increased.  BGSP has been 
strategically developing new programs to launch in 2017-18, which are projected to more than 
balance the budget that year, and to return the School to a positive cash position the following 
year (2018-19).  Critical to this effort has been the recent strategic planning process, which 
continues with the ongoing development of a three-year financial plan, described below.  

INTEGRATING STRATEGIC PLANNING WITH FINANCIAL PLANNING 

After the comprehensive evaluation, the Commission asked “that the Fall 2016 report give 
emphasis to the School’s success in integrating strategic planning with its financial planning and 
budgeting as informed by our standards on Planning and Evaluation and Financial Resources.”  
While the Commission did not see a breakdown in this area, it looked forward to hearing more 
about the School’s developing competency and Board engagement in more formally integrating 
financial analysis into planning. 

The School has continued to produce three-year financial plans based on the strategic plan and to 
conduct feasibility analysis for proposed programs.  The proposed 2016-19 financial plan is 
currently under development for review by the Board at its Fall meeting.  The proposed overall 
three-year budget to be included in that plan is provided in the Standard Nine Data Forms, to 
which we have added a third year (2018-19).   

In general, financial analysis and planning have become more robust and are incorporated more 
into strategic planning.  In particular, the Board and administration are integrating financial 
analysis more into contingency planning. 

STRATEGIC AND FINANCIAL PLANNING 

In keeping with the section above on “Using Assessment to Inform Planning,” BGSP has 
integrated financial considerations and enrollment analysis more into its strategic planning 
process as well as its regular Board governance.   
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As mentioned above, the School has adopted a detailed version of the Data First Forms on 
Enrollment for regular use at Board and administrative meetings, to be sure trends are more 
clearly recognized.  This has been useful in budgeting.  A decade ago, revenue budgets were 
prepared student by student:  who would be graduating, who would be discontinuing coursework 
to finish a thesis, who would be part-time, who would be full-time?  This had its strengths and its 
weaknesses; it identified any anomalies that needed to be tended to, such as exceptional attrition, 
but it meant the School was less attuned to overall trends that would influence the institution’s 
financial condition.  While the budgeting process had since become more complex, integrating 
the information from the Data First Forms very regularly now ensures that internal trends are 
broadly incorporated into financial planning.   

In addition, the Board and administration now look regularly at credits purchased, as opposed to 
just FTE.  This helped the administration discern that Spring enrollment is typically fewer credits 
than Fall enrollment, which is important both for budgeting and for understanding student 
workload.  The School has considered going back to using tuition models that incentivize 
students to take more courses, for example, a “part-time tuition” rate that covers 1-2 courses and 
a “full-time tuition” rate that covers 3-5 courses.  This does tend to bump up the credits 
purchased and the tuition per student, but at a significant cost to learning.  Students rush through 
too fast.  BGSP values the slower, customized pace at which students integrate the complex 
coursework involved in psychoanalytic training.  Furthermore, having a predominantly part-time 
population provides a more stable revenue base because it decreases the reliance on the tuition 
from any one full-time cohort.   

The School has also incorporated external data more into financial and strategic planning, in 
order to integrate and understanding of the opportunities and constraints that will influence its 
financial condition.  In 2013, the School started a formal program of annual tuition 
benchmarking to ensure that when BGSP budgets tuition rate increases, it takes care not to 
outpace the tuition at certain benchmark institutions.  The goal is to remain high compared to 
public institutions, lower than the priciest private institutions, and comparable to moderately 
priced private institutions. 

Specific to the strategic plan, the SWOT analysis undertaken cited the strength of the balance 
sheet, but also the overreliance on tuition revenue, making the School susceptible to fluctuations 
in enrollment.  It also examined declines in psychoanalytic training nationwide and in the region, 
as well as trends in graduate school enrollment overall and in the behavioral sciences.  BGSP’s 
enrollment has essentially mirrored graduate enrollment in the behavioral sciences, which saw a 
sharp decline from 2010 through 2014 (although BGSP’s drop curve began slightly later, with 
lowest new admissions in Fall 2012).  The School also examined the Davis Educational 
Foundation’s work on Cost in Higher Education.   

This cycle’s strategic plan also is an improvement over the last in its concrete attention to 
increasing fundraising.  Previous plans have been rather vague, citing increased development as 
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a goal but not implementing any action steps.  This time, there is a specific plan in place for 
Board development and a specific campaign in place with an identified leadership team.   

As far as program development, once an opportunity is identified through the strategic planning 
process, the School has always focused on programs that make good use of existing human and 
physical resources while increasing revenue.  This planning cycle is no exception.  The hybrid 
accelerated doctoral program will not entail any faculty hires.  The technology will include 
videoconferencing software that is already covered by the Admissions Department budget, and 
several of the School’s work stations are already prepared to handle the videoconferencing 
platform.   The plan also proposed an M.A. in Psychoanalytic Studies, which is simply a 
reconfiguration of existing coursework to allow prospective students flexibility in creating a 
custom program. 

The proposed M.A. in Social Justice and Human Rights will require additional resources.  While 
still under development, it will be designed to rely about 50% on existing coursework and faculty 
(including the Director, Stephen Soldz).  Funding for new faculty will assume the hiring of up to 
three adjunct faculty members to teach three courses in the first year of the program and an 
additional two courses in the second year of the program at $6,000 per course, for an additional 
faculty salary budget of $18,000 in 2017-18 and $30,000 in 2018-19.  In the first years of the 
program, this budget will be covered through a campaign specifically for that purpose (see 
“Fundraising,” above).  In latter years, growth projections indicate that these additional hires 
should be covered by tuition revenue.  However, fundraising will continue to be a priority.  A 
complete budget for this program will be included in the Board’s Fall financial plan review. 

CONTINGENCY PLANNING 

Probably the biggest advance in the Board’s engagement in strategic financial planning has been 
its recent attention to contingency planning.  The Board has evaluated a number of possibilities 
to respond to the School’s deficits.  The first and most obvious, cuts to expenses, has been 
implemented as far as deemed reasonable.  The Board and administrative leadership have felt 
that additional staff cuts, at this time, would be counterproductive, because the School relies 
more and more on the staff for implementing new initiatives (not to mention how devastating it 
would be to morale).  The second possibility, spending the quasi-endowment, has been 
implemented when necessary.  Because the investments are Board-designated rather than 
restricted, the Board has discretion of when to withdraw and when to leave funds in for future 
growth.  The third possibility, borrowing, is also on the table.  As described above, the School 
has responded rapidly to changes in its credit and has been thoughtful about the effects of 
investment withdrawals versus borrowing.   

The Board also investigated the possibility of selling BGSP’s real estate, investing the proceeds, 
and using the earnings to fund deficits.  It turns out that the net earnings would be very limited 
and would not warrant the disruption and costs of a change in location.  Currently, the School 
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earns no income on its real estate, and spends approximately $160,000 to maintain the property, 
which was appraised between $3.5 and $4.2 million.  If the School were to sell the property 
(conservatively netting $3 million after closing costs), it could earn $120,000 on the proceeds 
(invested at 4%).  The cost of renting 10,000 square feet locally (in a less stellar location) would 
be $270,000 a year, so the net cost in a rental situation would be $150,000/year.  Considering 
that the move would also entail expenses related to relocation and reconfiguration of rented 
space, the savings were not warranted – particularly given the cost of losing BGSP’s prime 
location on a major thoroughfare on the train line.  

Finally, the Board has also discussed contingencies in the event that the School, like many small 
colleges under financial pressure, becomes no longer viable.  While a remote possibility, the 
Board has kept communications open with a larger institution proposing to acquire it.  It has also 
included a section on governance, specifically related to investigating possibilities for 
collaboration for economies of scale, in the new strategic plan. 

IN CONCLUSION 

BGSP is fortunate to have strong net assets, both in real estate and its quasi-endowment.  
Because the School’s investment funds are Board-designated, rather than restricted, the School 
has the flexibility to manage losses prudently while planning for the future.  In addition, the 
School is small and agile enough to respond quickly to changes in enrollment patterns.  For 
example, without a full-time tenured faculty, the School can modulate its instructional costs to 
match student enrollment.   

By curbing these costs and others, in conjunction with stabilizing enrollment, BGSP has 
tremendously reduced its losses and projects a balanced budget for 2017-18.  In the meantime, 
the School is implementing a vigorous Strategic Plan that facilitates creative strategies for 
reintroducing psychoanalytic values into today’s world. 
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STANDARDS NARRATIVE 

STANDARD ONE:  MISSION AND PURPOSES  

BGSP was founded as a post-graduate psychoanalytic training institute in 1973, offering full 
psychoanalytic clinical training, culminating in a Certificate, to post-master’s students.  
However, the philosophy of the founders of the School was based on the conviction that 
psychoanalysis could and should be learned independently from other disciplines.  That is, while 
psychoanalysis is closely related to other disciplines, the profession is best learned on its own 
terms, following its own history of ideas and practice.  This contradicted the conventional 
wisdom in this country that psychoanalysis could only be learned after learning psychiatry, 
psychology, or social work (three closely related but independent disciplines).  For this reason, 
BGSP sought and achieved degree-granting status for its psychoanalytic programs, first, with the 
Master of Arts in Psychoanalysis degree (authorized by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in 
1994), and later, with the Doctor of Psychoanalysis (Psya.D.) degree (authorized by the State of 
Vermont in 1999 and then by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in 2005). 

As an extension of the concept that psychoanalysis is an independent discipline, BGSP’s 
founders believed that psychoanalytic theories and methods prove beneficial in settings other 
than the clinical office.  That is, psychoanalysis has a defined body of knowledge, theories and 
methods that inform fields of inquiry beyond its own.  Thus, BGSP seeks to educate students 
who will use psychoanalysis to understand emotional functioning and promote clinical change, 
as well as those who use psychoanalytic thought in concert with other disciplines to understand 
social and cultural phenomena and/or promote social change. Historically, BGSP has referred to 
this as “applied psychoanalysis.”  The concept of applied psychoanalysis is the driving force 
behind BGSP’s additional degree programs, including the Master of Arts in Mental Health 
Counseling and the Master of Arts and Doctor of Psychoanalysis degrees in Psychoanalysis, 
Society and Culture. 

The development of degrees in clinical and applied psychoanalysis was (and is) a unique feature 
in psychoanalytic education that reflected the School’s passion for increasing access to 
psychoanalytic training, treatment, and applications.  Whereas previously, psychoanalytic 
training was a highly elitist endeavor, limited to those with previous clinical graduate degrees, 
the School opened the field to people from a wide range of backgrounds.  BGSP’s programs 
allow more people to become psychoanalysts who never could have before, and helps more 
people introduce a psychoanalytic orientation to their work in related fields.   

The emphasis on access to psychoanalysis pervaded the School’s early mission statements and 
continues to be a driving force behind BGSP’s degree programs and other offerings.  However, 
over the past five to ten years, public interest in psychoanalysis has decreased significantly.  (For 
more information, please see the environmental analysis in the Strategic Plan, appended.)  The 
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question for the School’s mission statement then became, “Who cares if we are increasing access 
to something, if people are not interested in accessing it?” 

As a result, when the School undertook its mission review as part of the 2015-16 strategic 
planning process, the first step was to help all of the School’s constituents articulate why they in 
fact do pursue a psychoanalytic education.  What do they gain from it?  If psychoanalysis is at 
the heart of the mission, what does that really mean to the School community?  Because of the 
current environment, it became imperative to restate the mission in such a way that expresses not 
only the interest in accessing psychoanalysis, but the value of doing so, in jargon-free language 
that most people can understand. 

The Strategic Planning Committee led the mission review by running four mission-oriented 
focus groups between October 2015 and January 2016, inviting the faculty, students, staff, and – 
for the first time – strangers to meet independently with the Committee to talk about 
psychoanalysis, the School’s mission, and the world we live in. 

The first focus group asked the faculty to describe, in plain language, their interest and passion 
for psychoanalysis (no jargon allowed).  This group talked extensively about the function of 
psychoanalysis in promoting self-realization and constructive action.  Faculty members 
articulated how talking in order to understand oneself, recognizing one’s inner “horrible thoughts 
and feelings” and accepting all parts of oneself leads to the freedom to make constructive choices 
in the world.   

The second focus group asked the students similar questions:  What is their mission in pursuing 
psychoanalytic education?  What are they learning and accomplishing by being here?  The 
students emphasized the role of psychoanalysis in helping people learn to tolerate unacceptable 
feelings and ideas and gain control over their destructive impulses.  Like the faculty, they valued 
self-understanding as a path towards emotional growth and the development of a self-motivated 
identity. 

The third focus group invited members of the public who, for the most part, had never heard of 
BGSP to a conversation at the School.  The goal of the focus group was to understand the major 
concerns of the community and how BGSP might serve the community’s needs through its 
mission.  The Committee also wanted to gain a first-hand understanding of people’s perceptions 
of “psychoanalysis,” in order to help with communications efforts, including the wording of the 
mission statement.  

The community focus group – the first of its kind at BGSP – yielded some unexpected feedback, 
not about the mission per se, but about the messaging of the School.  From the School’s website 
and descriptions of our programs, they gained the impression that the School is “not just 
psychoanalysis.”  They felt that the School’s name encourages people to “pass by” because it 
does not reflect the School’s wider contributions to the community, such as educating counselors 
as well as psychoanalysts, and sending counselors into public schools and health centers.  These 
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comments were useful in understanding how better to describe the School and reinforced the 
Committee’s interest in a jargon-free mission statement.  

The final focus group was held for the non-faculty employees of the School, and served mainly 
as education about the School’s mission.  The staff was eager to hear more about psychoanalysis 
and how we teach it.   

At the end of January, the Committee, with extensive input from its non-psychoanalyst members, 
produced consecutive drafts of a revised mission statement for review by the Administrative 
Directors and Faculty Council.  The next-to-final draft received rave reviews at an “All-
Community Meeting.”  The final mission statement was approved by the Board of Trustees on 
March 19, 2016 and widely published:   

At BGSP, we use our understanding of unconscious dynamics to help 
solve problems of emotional suffering and destructive action.  In this 
way, we help individuals, groups, and communities free their creative 
energy to live satisfying lives in cooperation with others.   

As a graduate school, we teach students to actualize this personally and 
professionally by bringing psychoanalysis to bear on individual, social 
and cultural problems.  BGSP’s educational programs train 
psychoanalysts, counselors, interdisciplinary scholars, and social justice 
advocates.  Through our Therapy Center, School Based Counseling 
internships, and work in the community, students and graduates work to 
help people directly improve their lives. 

While not changing the mission of the School, the new mission statement better articulates what 
the School hopes to accomplish and provides a sound basis for institutional planning, evaluation, 
and improvement.  As the administration reviews existing programs and develops new 
initiatives, each program is developing its own mission and objectives in light of the mission 
statement.   

STANDARD TWO:  PLANNING AND EVALUATION  

As a psychoanalytic institution, BGSP’s culture emphasizes reflecting on and talking through 
everything.  Historically, evaluation and planning have been ongoing within each committee and 
council, and often have been verbal, iterative, and formative in nature, making improvements as 
information becomes available.  Group discussions are often used as a basis for changes in 
procedures, policies, scheduling, and programming.   

Over the past decade, the School has come to rely more on summative assessments, particularly 
in enrollment, financial planning, and student outcomes assessments.  More recently, BGSP has 
incorporated many more external perspectives in its planning, and, as discussed above under 
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“Using Assessment to Inform Planning,” has increased its use of quantitative data to enlighten its 
planning efforts.   

PLANNING 

Strategic Planning 

The School’s 2016-19 Strategic Plan, approved by the Board in June 2016, reflects both the 
School’s emphasis on community discussion and a greater use of external perspectives and 
quantitative data.  Development of the plan was overseen by the Strategic Planning Committee, 
which included a Trustee, the President, the Vice President, the Dean of Graduate Studies, three 
faculty members, and a student.   

The Committee made extensive use of the community’s group feedback through its four focus 
groups on the mission, described in Standard One.  At the same time, the Committee conducted a 
thorough investigation of the internal and environmental realities that must guide BGSP’s 
planning.  Internally, the School collected student outcomes, student achievement, admissions, 
enrollment, and financial data as part of its regular institutional reporting.  It also engaged in 
curriculum review related to its Master of Arts in Mental Health Counseling and Doctor of 
Psychoanalysis programs and reviewed the results of the 2012 student survey, a 2013 assessment 
conducted by a branding consultant, a 2013-14 focus group series targeted at the Master’s in 
Mental Health Counseling, a 2014 student focus group regarding the doctoral program, a 2015 
student focus group conducted for marketing, and the 2015 alumni survey.   

The Committee discussed the national trends brought to light by involvement in a number of 
professional associations in psychoanalysis and counseling.  The faculty expanded its attendance 
at professional conferences such as the International Psychoanalytical Association (IPA) and 
meetings of educators within Division 39 (Psychoanalysis) of the American Psychological 
Association (APA).   

The Committee also learned from the School’s networking within the Consortium for 
Psychoanalysis in Higher Education.  As an outgrowth of the last planning cycle, BGSP founded 
the Consortium in 2014-15 as a way of bringing together diverse higher education professionals 
who are interested in the future of psychoanalysis.  Since psychoanalysis is no longer well 
represented within psychology departments, the School sought to connect with local faculty 
members from any department to share ideas, concerns, and thoughts about the future of the 
field.  The outpouring of interest in such a group was surprising, reflecting the sense of isolation 
that many faculty members feel at their various universities, while trying to convey the 
importance of psychoanalytic theory and its impact on thought in various disciplines.  The group 
has met twice per year in 2014-15, twice per year in 2015-16, and will meet again in the Fall.  
While founded by BGSP, the Consortium has taken turns at host institutions, including BGSP, 
Mount Holyoke, Brown, and Hampshire College.  The group is working on a few initiatives, 
including a book on pedagogy in psychoanalysis, a series of podcasts aimed at engaging 
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students, and a college tour of “career panels,” to highlight the ways undergraduates can translate 
their interest in psychoanalysis into life after graduation.  Hearing from the members of the 
Consortium, both about their sense of frustration about the challenges of teaching psychoanalysis 
in today’s environment, but also about the excitement that their students have about 
psychoanalytic concepts, has helped the School better understand the opportunities and 
challenges it faces.  (In particular, feedback from these colleagues has influenced the School’s 
plan to provide an M.A. in Psychoanalytic Studies that would provide a flexible way for students 
to engage their interest in the field while figuring out future career choices.) 

Apart from networking, in order to gauge the external environment, the Committee reviewed 
quantitative data on graduate school enrollment in general and in the behavioral sciences (from 
the Council of Graduate Schools), the Davis Educational Foundation’s work on Cost in Higher 
Education, and a number of other factors reported in the plan.   

Using data from all these sources, the Committee compiled an assessment of the School’s 
Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (a SWOT evaluation).  The SWOT 
evaluation is too long to be included here, but it paints a vivid picture of BGSP’s complicated 
place in world at this given point in time.  In short:  the School faces an uphill battle in a time 
when there is an extreme need for understanding underlying motives, talking, and listening.  The 
SWOT analysis, both the process of developing it and its findings, was important to help BGSP 
take stock of existing and needed resources and evaluate potential directions for the institution.  
(Please take the time to read the SWOT analysis in the appended Strategic Plan.)   

Once the SWOT evaluation was complete, the Strategic Planning Committee outlined a strategic 
direction for the School, stating: 

In the current environment, the School needs to pursue its mission very skillfully in order 
to ensure its survival.  Most critical is the need to nourish our roots while strengthening 
our branches.  Ensuring that BGSP’s core psychoanalytic training program continues to 
reflect the depth, openness, and inventiveness of its founders – their rich history, their 
commitment to student development, their passion for innovation, and their abiding 
respect for the unconscious – is imperative in order to sustain the radical intellectual 
fervor and emotional insights that constitute psychoanalysis.   

Thus rooted, in order to endure, BGSP needs to vigorously reintroduce analytic listening 
to those areas that are suffering from its loss and help psychoanalytic understanding 
flourish where it is struggling.  The School already has platforms from which to do this, 
including the “counseling” program and the “culture” program.  Additional programs 
related to social justice and the humanities could significantly boost this effort.  Equally 
importantly, BGSP needs to promote these programs in a way that (1) people will see 
them and consider them, and (2) people can understand the benefits that psychoanalysis 
provides to these related fields. 
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Looking forward, the Committee sought to establish objectives that respect these needs.  The 
Committee recognized that each goal BGSP pursues needs to accomplish one or more of four 
objectives: 

• Improve the School, in order to support quality, retention and new programming. 

• Increase enrollment, in order to drive tuition. 

• Increase donations, in order to supplement tuition. 

• Promote psychoanalysis in the world.  While the effects of such promotion may be 
indirect, there is a clear need to shift attitudes towards psychoanalysis in order to increase 
both enrollment and donations. 

The Strategic Plan identifies a number of goals towards these ends.  Under “Improving the 
School,” the plan identifies faculty development, internship development, and considerations of 
governance as primary objectives.  The latter objective is a nod to contingency planning 
(described above). 

Under “Increasing Enrollment,” the plan outlines a number of new initiatives, including a 
Master’s program in Social Justice and Human Rights, a blended intensive/online accelerated 
doctoral program, an M.A. in Psychoanalytic Studies, and continuing pursuit of doctoral degree 
status in New York.  In addition, the plan identifies the need to evaluate the structure, 
requirements, and timing of its doctoral program to see if changes can be made to interest the 
post-master’s market.  Finally it emphasizes the need for BGSP to formally evaluate its 
communications strategies to attract the best balance of (a) people who know they are interested 
in psychoanalysis, (b) people who are interested in related disciplines, and (c) members of the 
public who are interested in supporting BGSP’s work.   

Under “Increasing Donations,” the plan outlines a number of steps to take to improve 
fundraising, including Board development, Board leadership in fundraising (including leadership 
of a new Social Justice campaign), and increasing student and alumni engagement.  This latter 
objective is well underway with the planning of a September reunion-type event for both 
students and alumni. 

Finally, the plan identifies a number of steps the School can take to promote psychoanalysis in 
the world, even if such promotion cannot be tied directly to a single new admission or donation.   

This fall, the School will develop its plans for implementing each of these goals, including 
budgets for new programs and initiatives.  For additional information, please refer to the section 
on “Institutional Plans.” 
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Contingency Planning 

Please refer to p. 18 for a description of recent contingency planning. 

EVALUATION  

As should be evident from the above discussion on planning, evaluation is a critical component 
of designing the School’s future.  From the mission review described in Standard One, to the 
SWOT analysis described above, to the School’s continuing improvements to quantitative 
assessment, described in the section on “Using Assessment to Inform Planning,” BGSP is 
engaged in a continual process of assessment in order to help guide the future allocation of 
resources. 

Looking more inwardly, the School also uses formal student outcomes assessment and a regular 
evaluation of students’ achievements to help understand program strengths and weaknesses and 
make changes to improve its educational offerings.  This type of evaluation is discussed 
extensively in the Reflective Essay on Educational Effectiveness. 

STANDARD THREE:  ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE  

BGSP was founded in 1973 as a highly mission-driven, single-purpose institution, governed 
entirely by faculty members (with the exception of some Trustees) and staffed solely by faculty 
and student volunteers.  While the organization has grown decidedly more complex, with a 
significantly more independent Board of Trustees and professional staff, it continues to be 
characterized by a high amount of faculty and student involvement in administration at its main 
campus in Brookline, Massachusetts and at its additional campuses in New York, New York and 
Livingston, New Jersey.  Within this context, BGSP is governed by its Board of Trustees and, 
under the Board, its President and the administration over which she presides.   

Because of the requirements of New York State education law, BGSP’s New York campus, 
known as the New York Graduate School of Psychoanalysis (NYGSP), is technically a separate 
corporate entity chartered by the New York State Board of Regents.   NYGSP is governed as a 
branch of BGSP by virtue of its Bylaws, which stipulate that the NYGSP Board of Trustees is 
commonly controlled by the BGSP Board of Trustees.  Likewise, the President and Officers of 
BGSP serve as President and Officers of NYGSP.  An inter-corporate agreement defines the 
terms of the relationship between BGSP and NYGSP, establishing administrative control over 
NYGSP’s Program Director and faculty, and establishing quality control mechanisms related to 
student services, library resources, accounting, insurance coverage, public disclosure, and 
accreditation.  NYGSP is operated through a contractual arrangement with a closely affiliated, 
independent “sister” institution in New York, the Center for Modern Psychoanalytic Studies 
(CMPS).   
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BGSP’s campus in New Jersey does not have the same legal complications, and operates simply 
as an additional instructional location.   

GOVERNING BOARD 

Over the past decade, the Board of Trustees has gradually increased its engagement in the overall 
direction of the School, as evidenced recently by increased Board philanthropy (including a 
$25,000 gift from a Trustee last year) and very active participation on the Strategic Planning and 
Development Committees.  The Board plays an active part in the BGSP’s strategic planning, 
asking substantial questions about the School, its place in the community, and its future.  Five 
years ago, the Trustees requested the election of a student representative to provide greater input 
into their decision making.  As a way of furthering Board engagement, the administration has 
also started inviting members of the School community to make short presentations about their 
work at the School – for instance, in the Therapy Center or Continuing Education.  In general, 
the Board appears to take its fiduciary responsibility more seriously, exercising greater influence 
on financial planning, endowment management, and decisions about the capital plant.   

At this time, the Board has eleven members, with a maximum capacity of eighteen.  Four of the 
Trustees are part of the administration, including the President, the two additional campus 
directors, and a faculty member.  A fifth member, Attorney Robert Stolzberg is also not 
independent, as he is the husband of a faculty member.  Mr. Stolzberg is now serving as Interim 
Chair of the Board, despite his lack of independence, because the rest of the independent 
Trustees (numbering six) are quite new (with the exception of one who will not be renewing her 
term).  Hence, the School relies on him for continuity in leadership, not to mention his ample 
skills in governance.  The remaining six Trustees are independent members of the community 
who have a lot of expertise in business, including an alumna who is an executive coach, an 
alumnus who manages medical businesses, a financial advisor, a banker, a retired business 
executive, and a nursing professional with a business background, who is now very involved in 
fundraising for multiple organizations, including BGSP.  

Since six out of eleven Trustees are independent, not including the Chair, the School is currently 
not meeting the standard that two-thirds of the membership be independent, including the Chair.  
The Board has been working very diligently at recruitment, having engaged four out of six of the 
independent Trustees in the past year.  As mentioned above under “Fundraising,” it has been a 
challenge to find independent Trustees who are interested in psychoanalytic education.  The 
School is working on presenting itself to outsiders in a more appealing, relevant way, by 
showing how psychoanalysis and its applications can influence not only individuals, but also 
groups and communities.  Mrs. Chris Bierbrier, who is running the Social Justice campaign with 
Dr. Paula Berman, is providing a leading example of how to engage such members of the public.  
Once more members have been recruited, the Board is considering changing the role of the 
administrative members (with the exception of the President) to be advisory only, with no vote.  
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In addition, once some of the new Trustees gain more experience with the School, an 
independent member can take on the role of Chair.   

INTERNAL GOVERNANCE 

Under the Board of Trustees, the President is the chief executive officer of BGSP.  She oversees 
the School’s academic leadership (the Dean of Graduate Studies in Boston and the Program 
Director at each campus) and supervises the Vice President of Finance and Institutional 
Relations.  This group serves as the President’s Council, the principle administrative governing 
body across campuses.  As a team, the President’s Council works to evaluate the internal 
functioning of each campus, both academic and financial, as well as the environment in which 
the School is operating, which varies from campus to campus.  The Council uses this data to 
inform program improvement, program development and, increasingly, marketing strategies, 
bringing its thoughts to the administrators and faculty at each campus, and in turn, gaining their 
input.   

The three campuses are each locally governed by their respective Administrative Directors 
Councils, which meet biweekly.  Each of those councils is comprised of the campus Dean or 
Program Director, committee chairs, and faculty leaders.  At the main (and largest) campus, 
members of the central administration participate on the Administrative Directors Council, and 
there is also a separate Faculty Council.  With the exception of the Vice President, every one of 
the aforementioned administrators is on the faculty, giving the faculty an unusually strong voice 
in both academic and administrative matters.  As described in the section on “Academic 
Leadership and Oversight,” the President is also a faculty member and serves as Chief Academic 
Officer. 

In addition to faculty input, student voices are very common within the administration.  There is 
a very active Student Association, as well as a student representative to the Board.  Students also 
participate on a number of administrative committees, such as Admissions and Social Media. 

STANDARD FOUR:  THE ACADEMIC PROGRAM  

Consistent with its mission, BGSP offers graduate degree and certificate programs in 
psychoanalysis and related fields.  The School offers three Master’s degrees at three campuses:  
the Master of Arts in Psychoanalysis (at all three campuses), the Master of Arts in Mental Health 
Counseling (in Boston and New Jersey), and the Master of Arts in Psychoanalysis, Society and 
Culture (in Boston).  At the main campus, the School also offers two doctoral degrees:  the 
Doctor of Psychoanalysis (Psya.D.) in clinical psychoanalysis and the Psya.D. in Psychoanalysis, 
Society and Culture.  In addition, the School offers the post-master’s Certificate in 
Psychoanalysis, which has traditionally been the highest credential in psychoanalytic practice; 
two CAGS programs, described below; and a post-bachelor’s Certificate in Addictions 
Counseling, described below.  BGSP also offers a not-for-credit One Year Program as an 
introduction to psychoanalytic thought.  The learning goals for each program are published in 
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their respective programs and evaluated as documented on the E1 Forms, appended, and 
described in the Reflective Essay on Educational Effectiveness. 

CHANGES SINCE THE COMPREHENSIVE EVALUATION 

Since the comprehensive evaluation, a number of changes and additions have been made at the 
main campus, all of which were approved by the Massachusetts Department of Higher 
Education: 

• The name of the programs in “Psychoanalysis and Culture” were changed to programs in 
“Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture” to accurately reflect the program’s emphasis. 

• The School added two Certificates of Advanced Graduate Study: 

o The CAGS in Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy provides a slightly accelerated 
introduction to psychoanalysis for students who already have a master’s degree, 
and provides them with a credential for completing the first level of the doctoral 
program.  This was designed to increase the appeal of enrolling for practicing 
master’s level clinicians. 
 

o The CAGS in Child and Adolescent Intervention provides a credential for 
students who complete a short course in child and adolescent work.  

• The School developed an accelerated track in the Psya.D. program.  The accelerated 
doctorate is available to candidates who have already graduated from a psychoanalytic 
training institute (i.e., certified psychoanalysts), who would like to earn a doctorate in the 
field.  BGSP evaluates their psychoanalytic training in order to ensure comparable 
academic course coverage and establishes credit hour equivalencies using the federal 
definition of credit hour.  The admissions office then establishes an accelerated program 
of study, which usually focuses on research methods, comparative clinical study, and 
development of the dissertation.  The School has an articulation agreement with the 
Center for Modern Psychoanalytic Studies that outlines the criteria for transfer of credit 
from that institution.  For graduates of other institutions, the Admissions Committee 
faculty evaluates the applicants’ prior syllabi for course content, scholarship, and seat 
time. 

• In 2015, BGSP was approved by the Massachusetts Bureau of Substance Abuse Services 
as an educational provider for the License in Alcohol and Drug Counseling (LADC).  
This allows the School to provide a specialization in Addictions within the Master’s 
program in Mental Health Counseling, so graduates are eligible for both the License in 
Mental Health Counseling (LMHC) and the LADC-I (the highest level License in 
Alcohol and Drug Counseling).  The approval also allows BGSP to offer a post-
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bachelor’s Certificate in Addictions Counseling, which provides graduates with eligibility 
for the LADC-II.   

In addition, the School opened its “BGSP-New Jersey” campus in Livingston, New Jersey, 
which was visited by NEASC in November, 2015 and confirmed in BGSP’s accreditation in 
May, 2016.  The campus offers two Master’s degrees in partnership with the Academy of 
Clinical and Applied Psychoanalysis, with whom it has a written agreement to ensure the 
continued availability of a number of resources.  Specifically, BGSP’s contract with ACAP is 
designed to ensure quality control by BGSP, the provision of administrative and library resources 
by BGSP, and the provision of facilities, faculty, and administrative resources by ACAP.   

In terms of quality control, the contract stipulates that BGSP-NJ’s Program Director serves on 
the BGSP President’s Council, which oversees strategic planning, program and curriculum 
development, and assurance of quality for both BGSP and BGSP-NJ.  BGSP hires the faculty.   

The contract outlines the services that BGSP provides to the New Jersey campus in support of its 
programs.  BGSP is obligated to oversee student registration, the provision of financial aid, 
library services, bookkeeping and accounting services, and governmental and accreditation 
issues for the campus.  BGSP’s library resources are made fully accessible to New Jersey 
students, faculty, and staff.   

The agreement further identifies the services that ACAP provides for BGSP, including the use of 
ACAP’s physical facilities, library resources, administrative staffing, and a pool of faculty 
members from which to hire.  The contract specifically secures the direction and control by 
BGSP of all staff in the fulfillment of their duties to the Master’s program.   

EVALUATION AND PLANNING AND FOR PROGRAMS 

For existing programs, student outcomes assessment, described on the E1 Forms and in the 
Reflective Essay on Educational Effectiveness, helps the institution determine whether learning 
goals are met, and helps the faculty improve instruction so students can better meet learning 
goals.   

One issue that is surfacing with the clinical Psya.D. program has to do not with learning 
outcomes, but with the appeal of the program for people who already have a master’s degree in a 
clinical field.  The way the doctorate is currently structured, candidates are required to take the 
all of the coursework for the M.A. in Psychoanalysis prior to proceeding to doctoral candidacy, 
even if they already have a master’s degree.  While this makes sense from a curricular standpoint 
because much of the curriculum will be new even to those with clinical experience, it tends to 
turn away post-master’s applicants.  They don’t want to sit through a second master’s degree. 

The CAGS in Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy was one way to address this problem, because it 
covers much of the same material and grants a post-master’s credential.  Even so, the School will 
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spend 2016-17 evaluating how the doctoral program might be better configured as a stand-alone 
program, while still ensuring appropriate learning outcomes at both the master’s and doctoral 
levels.   

The strategic planning process, described in Standard Two, has been instrumental in guiding the 
School’s development of new programs.  Please see “Institutional Plans” for more information. 

STANDARD FIVE:  STUDENTS  

ADMISSIONS  

In 2015-16, the School explicitly laid out a description of both the students it seeks to serve and 
its target audiences, in order to be sure that recruitment and admissions activities, as well as 
student services, are specifically designed for those students. 

It identified BGSP’s primary market as potential students who (a) want to become 
psychotherapists, (b) are interested in a Master’s or doctoral degree, and (c) are interested in 
deeper, dynamic, more long-term clinical work.  Prospective students may be international or 
domestic.  The School seeks to serve international students who are English-speaking and self-
funding, whereas domestic students are eligible for federal financial aid. 

BGSP’s additional target students are identified as follows:   

(1) The target market for BGSP’s accelerated Psya.D. program is certified psychoanalysts who 
do not yet have a doctorate. 
 

(2) The target market for the programs in Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture is people who (a) 
have an intellectual interest in psychoanalysis already, (b) are seeking graduate education, 
and (c) are not seeking clinical training at this time.   

 
BGSP does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, ethnic origin, gender or 
gender identity, sexual orientation, disability, age, creed, or employment status in administration 
of its educational policies, admission policies, scholarship and loan programs, and other School-
administered programs.  In fact, the School has been on the leading edge of increasing access to 
groups previously marginalized by the field.  Most recently, it worked with students to make the 
campus as friendly as possible to trans-gendered people.   

The School’s admissions procedures are similar at all three campuses, including requirements for 
official transcripts, letters of recommendation, writing samples, and in-person interviews.  
International students take the TOEFL and submit transcripts to a credential equivalency service 
that evaluates their U.S. credential status.  In recent years, the admissions department has 
required all students to prepare a written response to a brief reading passage at the time of the 
interview.  This provides the team with a cross-section of the applicant’s reading comprehension 
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skills, ability to think critically, and writing skills.  For non-native speakers, it also tests their 
ability to read and write in English. 

This has proven important because in some years, there has been a large proportion of 
international applicants.  In Fall 2016, in fact, over 40% of applicants were international.  The 
proportion in the student body overall tends to range from 15-20%, because some applicants are 
not able to obtain visas, some years have fewer international applicants, and not all applicants are 
admitted.   

STUDENT SERVICES AND CO-CURRICULAR EXPERIENCES  

The School’s small community atmosphere and its philosophy encourage communication 
between students and faculty both in and out of the classroom.  A therapeutic model permeates 
inter-constituency relations at the School, creating an environment in which everything can be 
openly discussed, as evidenced by frequent use of the “all-community meeting.”  

Because the School’s students are a non-residential, adult population, mostly studying part-time 
and employed, the School does not offer residence halls or athletic programs.  All students are 
required to be in a personal analysis, however, so mental health services are built into the 
programs.   

All students have academic advisors to guide them through their studies.  Advisors meet once or 
twice per semester with students, unless more time is needed.  For clinical students in doctoral 
candidacy, the advisor and student meet biweekly, since the advisor also oversees the students’ 
clinical training.  For students in the counseling program, there is a separate advisor with whom 
students can meet to review their educational eligibility for the Massachusetts License in Mental 
Health Counseling.  Additionally, every student meets with the Fieldwork Coordinator when 
undertaking a field placement or internship.   

Students are helped to manage their financial aid by the Director of Financial Aid, who also 
serves as the International Student Coordinator.  The Coordinator makes sure each student 
understands his or her responsibilities when borrowing funds or, for international students, when 
obtaining a visa, leaving the country or seeking employment.  The School also offers remedial 
help with English language and writing skills to those who need it. 

Students have always played an important role in life at BGSP.  Their leadership is encouraged 
by the School, as demonstrated by their active presence in the Therapy Center, the library, 
continuing education programs and committee work. The formal mechanism for student 
participation is the Student Association.  In consultation with a faculty advisor, the Association 
facilitates the welcoming, adjustment and extra-curricular needs of fellow students (in addition to 
the School’s formal orientation and advisement programs).  The Association holds regular 
meetings to figure out how to meet student needs.  Out of these meetings come initiatives such as 
organizing transportation and housing for conferences that students may want to attend.   
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Policies on student rights and responsibilities, including student conduct and grievance 
procedures, are clearly stated in the Student Handbook.  There, the Code of Conduct outlines 
standards for ethical behavior among all the School’s constituents. 

STANDARD SIX:  TEACHING, LEARNING, AND SCHOLARSHIP  

BGSP’s human resources – its faculty and staff – are the School’s most valuable asset for 
fulfilling the mission of the School. All the School’s faculty members are both committed 
teachers and people who are deeply engaged in the practice and/or research of what they teach.  
The clinical faculty is made up of practicing psychoanalysts who have a passion for teaching and 
learning.  Likewise, members of the research faculty conduct research, including a well-known 
psychoanalytic psychotherapy researcher.  Many faculty members for the counseling program 
have also worked in leadership positions in community mental health settings.  The faculty for 
the programs in Psychoanalysis, Society and Culture benefits from scholars who support the 
inter-disciplinary mission of the programs, including sociologists, historians, and other 
academics. 

Faculty members in all departments contribute to the field through scholarship.  Most recently, 
Dr. John Madonna, a member of the psychoanalytic faculty, has edited a book, Emotional 
Presence in Psychoanalysis: Theory and Clinical Applications.  Multiple other members of the 
BGSP community, including two alumni and three faculty members, contributed chapters to the 
volume, which will be published by Routledge in 2017.  A member of the counseling faculty, Dr. 
William Sharp, also published a textbook on psychoanalytic counseling, geared to upper level 
undergraduate and introductory graduate classes.  The book highlights the evidence base for talk 
therapy and the skills required to introduce psychodynamic listening into today’s models of 
psychotherapy.  Dr. Sharp has been actively publishing in the group therapy literature, including 
his latest article in the International Journal of Group Psychotherapy.   

Dr. Siamak Movahedi, Director of the Programs in Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture was 
recently named the North America Editor for the new international online journal, 
Psychoanalytic Discourse.  His multiple recent publications include work in the Journal of the 
American Psychoanalytic Association, The International Journal of Psychoanalysis, and Modern 
Psychoanalysis.  Other recent contributions from the faculty include Dr. Helen Michael’s article 
in Psychoanalytic Psychology, “How Writers Write: Exploring the Unconscious Fantasies of 
Writers,” as well as multiple contributions from Dr. Mary Shepherd, Dr. Brad Verter, Dr. Jorge 
Capetillo-Ponce, Dr. Eugene Goldwater, and others.  

In addition to scholarly contributions, several members of the faculty engage in social activism.  
Dr. Stephen Soldz is one of the people most responsible for the change in the policy of the 
American Psychological Association to remove psychologists from abusive national security 
interrogations and from sites in violation of international law.  Dr. Frances Bigda-Peyton is one 
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of the few people to connect psychoanalytic principles with climate issues, working to figure out 
the best communications strategies for social change. 

Because of the School’s history of engaging working professionals to teach, and because there is 
not an endowed faculty, BGSP’s faculty do not typically earn all of their income from BGSP.  In 
fact, originally, the faculty was made up 100% of volunteers whose passion to teach 
psychoanalysis drove their commitment to the School.  Nevertheless, BGSP’s faculty members 
are devoted to students learning psychoanalysis in all its forms and applications.  A full-time 
faculty member is defined as one who teaches one or two courses each semester, conducts three 
or more clinical or research supervisions and/or training analyses, may serve as a student advisor, 
and assumes a role in administration or committee work.  For example, these individuals direct 
the Admissions Department, head the Therapy Center, run the Continuing Education 
Department, chair major committees, and serve on the Administrative Directors Council.  Part-
time faculty members teach one course regularly, conduct one or more clinical or research 
supervisions and/or training analyses, and may serve as student advisors.  Adjunct faculty 
members are selected to provide clinical supervision, to oversee student research, or to teach 
single courses in which they have particular expertise.     

All full-time and part-time members of the faculty have three-year contracts and participate on 
the Faculty Council, which convenes biweekly to discuss issues of learning and instruction that 
inform teaching, student development, and policy.  Members of the adjunct faculty often have 
three-year contracts as well.  If a faculty member serves on a student’s research committee, 
he/she is required to have a three-year appointment and to continue to completion of the project 
as long as the student is working in a timely way. Others, such as specialists in particular areas of 
the curriculum, have one-semester or one-year contracts.  All are invited to participate on the 
Faculty Council, and many do so.   

The School currently has 20 full-time faculty members (10 in Boston, 5 in New York, and 5 in 
New Jersey), 29 part-time faculty members (13 in Boston, 13 in New York, and 3 in New 
Jersey), and 27 adjunct faculty members (17 in Boston and 10 in New York).  The consistently 
high faculty-to-student ratio in all programs (nearly 1:3, not counting adjuncts) ensures adequate 
availability of instructional personnel.   The proposed Social Justice and Human Rights program 
will require the hiring of additional faculty, as outlined in the section on “Institutional Plans.” 

A few faculty members have appointments at more than one BGSP campus.  Although the New 
York and New Jersey campuses are supported by their respective contractual relationships with 
non-degree-granting psychoanalytic institutes, BGSP hires the faculty for all off-campus 
programs.  Hiring standards and procedures for appointment, review, and termination are 
outlined in the Faculty Handbook. In addition to student evaluations of courses, faculty members 
conduct self-evaluations as part of the review process. 
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Faculty members are critical to the process of learning outcomes assessment.  As described in the 
Reflective Essay on Educational Effectiveness, the faculty evaluates students at each milestone 
of each program.  For instance, in the clinical programs, students make a number of case 
presentations that are evaluated not just by one faculty member, but by a committee or, in the 
case of graduation, the faculty as a whole.  The faculty discusses each student individually and 
makes recommendations for the student’s ongoing development.  At the same time, the 
performance of each student is aggregated with others in order to evaluate how the School is 
helping the students meet learning goals.  The Administrative Directors and Faculty Council 
meetings both discuss the results of these assessments in order to inform changes to curriculum 
or policy that would improve student learning.   

In terms of each individual’s progress towards his or her learning goals, the academic advisor is 
the student’s main resource.  Advisors are usually members of the faculty, although some are 
advanced psychoanalytic candidates under the supervision of the Dean of Students.  Because 
advisors are trained psychoanalytically, they are particularly interested in understanding and 
resolving resistances that may impede a student’s progress.  This is in keeping with the faculty’s 
emphasis, in the clinical courses, on using class process as a method of learning the 
psychoanalytic material under study. 

In addition to the instructional staff, the School has a professional librarian and internship 
coordinator at each campus.  The main campus librarian serves as Director of Library Services 
and is highly depended on for her individual attention to students and faculty members seeking 
information resources.  While not technically academic professionals, the registrars at each 
campus – all three of them – also serve as crucial lynchpins for student success.  Much more so 
than at larger institutions, each registrar is the student’s front-line administrative contact, and 
each is very talented at guiding students to the help they need.  They direct overly independent 
students to their advisors; they guide students to other important staff such as the internship 
coordinator or counseling license advisor; they stay in touch with faculty and students regarding 
“incompletes” or lingering graduation requirements; and they raise red flags with the Dean or 
Program Director when a student seems to be struggling.  Their constant presence allows the 
faculty to better conduct their work. 

STANDARD SEVEN:  INSTITUTIONAL RESOURCES  

As a small, independent, non-profit graduate school, BGSP operates with very lean but efficient 
human, financial, informational, physical, and technological resources that are continually 
evaluated for their capacity to support the institution’s mission. 

HUMAN RESOURCES  

BGSP employs a fairly large faculty for its size, as described in Standard Six, as well as a 
number of full and part-time staff at its Boston campus.  There, the President and other faculty-
administrators, including the Dean of Graduate Studies, Dean of Students, Director of 



37 
 

Admissions, Program Directors, other Administrative Directors, advisors, and internship 
coordinators are guided by the Faculty Handbook, which outlines employment policies, 
including the fair redress of grievances.   

The non-faculty administration and staff are guided by the Staff Handbook, which likewise 
provides employment policies.  The administration is lean, and includes the Vice President of 
Finance and Institutional Relations, who serves as chief financial officer and accreditation liaison 
officer.  Under her, the Controller manages day to day financial operations, and the Director of 
Financial Aid handles all aspects of financial aid management.  The Director of Financial Aid 
also serves as the International Students Coordinator and staffs the admissions office.  The 
library is managed by the Director of Library Services, who reports to the President and is an 
essential asset to students and faculty alike.  She, in turn, supervises the librarians at the 
additional campuses as well as a library assistant.  Academic support is also provided by the 
Registrar, who reports to the Dean of Graduate Studies and works very closely with the 
Registrars at the additional campuses.  Finally, the School employs a Marketing Assistant and an 
Administrative Coordinator to implement the marketing and other functions of the main office. 

As a small, non-profit organization, BGSP manages its compensation and benefits very 
prudently.  Faculty salaries are low, taking into account other faculty retention benefits, such as 
the ability to build an analytic or supervisory practice.  Per course salaries are most competitive 
when the School needs to search for an expert in a particular topic area outside the field of 
clinical psychoanalysis. 

Staff salaries are modest but competitive, with a good health insurance and vacation benefits 
package.  Retention of the dedicated staff is helped by the School’s open, “non-corporate” 
environment, where tensions are readily discussed and addressed, and employees’ personal needs 
(such as a flexible schedule for attending graduate school) are taken into account.  The staff also 
benefits from professional development such as webinars or outside training. 

FINANCIAL RESOURCES  

Financial Stability 

BGSP is fortunate to have strong assets relative to its liabilities, both in investments and real 
estate.  The School’s long-term investments were valued at slightly under $1.8 million as of July 
31, 2016.  As a quasi-endowment, the investment accounts are Board-designated, rather than 
restricted, meaning the School maintains liquidity, at the discretion of the Board, which helps 
with contingency management.  The investment portfolio is very prudently managed by Boston 
Financial Management, with the objective of balancing safe investment with long-term growth 
and income.   
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In addition, BGSP’s assets include its Brookline real estate, which was appraised to have a fair 
market value of $4.2 million in November, 2014.  BGSP maintains a $698,000 mortgage on this 
property, which is currently its only debt.  

Overall, the ratio of available working capital assets to general liabilities (including long-term 
debt) is greater than 2/1, reflecting a solid financial position.  Likewise, BGSP has enough 
available working capital to cover more than ten weeks of operating expenses.  The total debt/net 
assets ratio remains below .50/1.00, another indicator of the strength of the balance sheet.   
 

Financial Planning 

The School’s approximately $1.5 million budget is allocated expressly toward the provision of 
BGSP’s educational programs.  The Board of Trustees approves the budget annually, approves a 
three-year financial plan, and reviews budget to actual results quarterly.  The proposed 2016-
2019 financial plan will be reviewed at the Fall 2016 meeting and is reflected in the Data Forms, 
which have been expanded to include 2018-19.  The plan is based on forecast assumptions 
derived from the strategic plan, and will be an evolving document as those assumptions change 
with implementation and re-evaluation.  Please refer to the “Response to Areas Identified for 
Special Emphasis” for more information. 

Financial Management 

As fiduciaries of this 501(c)(3) non-profit organization, the Trustees hold final fiscal 
responsibility for the School.  They are supported in this function by the Treasurer (a Board 
office held by a banking professional), President, Vice President of Finance, and Controller, 
whose collective job is to provide timely and accurate information, to maintain control and 
accountability over assets, and to direct financial resources toward the achievement of the 
mission of the School.  The chief fiscal team consists of the V.P. of Finance and the Controller.  
The Controller is accountable for the accounting and human resource operations of the School.  
This encompasses the production of quarterly financial statements, maintenance of all realms of 
the accounting system (accounts receivable, accounts payable, general ledger, and payroll) and a 
comprehensive set of controls, coordination of the preparation for the outside audit, annual 
report, and tax filings.  The Controller also drafts the budget in conjunction with department 
leaders and the V.P. of Finance.  The V.P. of Finance provides the financial leadership of the 
School, advising leadership about actions necessary to ensure the financial stability of the 
institution and integrating strategic plans into financial planning.  The President reviews and 
approves all financial plans before presenting them to the Board. 

Each year, the financial statements are audited by an external auditor in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.  The Board reviews the audit and 
management letter and, in conjunction with administration, uses the results to inform planning.   
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INFORMATION, PHYSICAL, AND TECHNOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

BGSP’s information, physical, and technological resources are geared entirely towards meeting 
the instructional needs of students and faculty. 

BGSP’s Director of Library Services holds a Master of Library Science degree with substantial 
professional experience before joining BGSP 19 years ago.  She is an essential contributor to the 
BGSP education, guiding students in their library research and providing resources to the faculty.  
She oversees the Boston library, which is open full-time and has holdings of over 6,000 volumes.  
She also provides library orientation and attends research classes to guide students in their search 
for physical and digital resources.  She also oversees the professional librarians at the New York 
and New Jersey campuses.  These librarians similarly hold M.L.S. degrees and teach students 
how to search for relevant research. 

BGSP’s facilities were enhanced significantly prior to the 2011 comprehensive evaluation with a 
new fire alarm system.  Safety and accessibility have been enhanced since then with a change to 
the floor plan and exits to provide greater emergency egress, as well as the installation of a 
wheelchair-friendly lift that provides access to all three floors.  While costly, the latter was 
considered essential to permit a wider range of people to attend events at the School. 

At the time of the comprehensive evaluation, the School was in the midst of a revamp of its 
technology network, which has since been completed with the help of a new IT firm that handles 
all technology for the School.  The network servers were replaced, the email was upgraded to 
Microsoft Exchange, SPAM filtering was improved, the routers, firewall and switching hardware 
were upgraded, internet access was increased to business-class cable modem access, and twenty 
workstations were replaced.  Both the capital outlay and ongoing maintenance costs were big 
increases to absorb, but the School had reached a level of complexity that no longer allowed it to 
function piecemeal.  In addition, as described on page 7, the School implemented a new student 
information system in order to increase its ability to plan, administer, and evaluate its admission 
and enrollment. 

STANDARD NINE:  INTEGRITY, TRANSPARENCY, AND PUBLIC DISCLOSURE  

INTEGRITY  

Honesty and integrity are essential to the nature of the education in this specialized area of study.  
Because the clinical practice of psychoanalysis requires the utmost level of professional ethics, 
the School is committed to the highest principles of honesty, fairness and mutual respect.  
Through this commitment, the School’s leadership creates an open and responsible environment 
for students, faculty, staff, Board members, prospective students and patients.   

The School requires the ethical compliance of faculty, staff, and students in all professional, 
academic, and scientific conduct.  Policies for such behavior are outlined in the School’s Code of 
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Conduct, which is published in the Student Handbook and Faculty Handbook, which are 
available online under Student Resources and Faculty Resources.  Policies and procedures 
support academic honesty, intellectual property rights, avoidance of conflict of interest, privacy 
rights and fairness among all members of the BGSP community.  The Handbooks outline 
grievance procedures for all School constituents.  In addition to the Handbooks, the Board of 
Trustees is guided by its Conflict of Interest policy.   

The wide diversity of the student body reflects the deeply-rooted values of inclusion and non-
discrimination.  BGSP’s non-discrimination policy, published in the Handbooks, plus the Staff 
Handbook, General Bulletin, and admissions materials, pertains to all aspects of the institution 
(including admissions and employment).   

BGSP takes responsibility for all activities sponsored under its name.  It obtains its operating 
authority from the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education, the New York State Board of 
Regents and the New Jersey Secretary of Education.   

TRANSPARENCY AND PUBLIC DISCLOSURE 

BGSP’s website provides access to almost any information required by the public, prospective 
students, current students, faculty, Board, and administration.  BGSP launched its new website in 
February, 2015, highlighting the unique nature of both the BGSP educational experience and the 
BGSP student.  Since then, the marketing department has devoted significant time to optimizing 
the site to make sure it comes up readily on internet searches.  In addition, the home page is 
changed every few weeks to highlight the latest developments at the School. 

The website includes detailed information about the student’s entire relationship with the 
institution at all three campuses. Potential and current students and employees can access a wide 
range of materials designed to promote informed decisions about the School’s educational 
experiences, including program expectations, degree goals and requirements, admissions 
requirements, cost of attendance, and policies and procedures.   

To ease access to information, each program or set of programs has its own catalog with updated 
course listings.  Current faculty members appear on the website with credential information and 
personal statements.  The Director of Marketing works with each campus to ensure that all 
publications contain accurate and explicit statements about BGSP’s accreditation status.  
Archival print and digital catalogues and handbooks are available from the Registrar. 

Some information is slightly buried but still accessible.  For example, details on how to request 
the most recent audited financial statement are published in the General Bulletin, which is 
readily available online, but the web site in general does not devote “real estate” to this topic.  
The audits are regularly offered to prospective Board members, donors, and grantmakers. 
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BGSP is continually evaluating and improving the information provided.  This academic year, 
the School plans to increase the amount of data on the “Fast Facts” page to reflect the retention 
and graduation data, information on student achievements, and increased information on student 
debt.  This will better inform the public about how well the institution meets its educational goals 
and what students can expect to owe.  The Staff Handbook will also be published online for the 
first time.  In addition, the Registrar, with permission, will be publishing a list of all graduates 
from each program with a description of the learning outcomes of the program.  This is to ensure 
integrity not only of how the School represents itself, but also how graduates might describe their 
own credentials.   
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REFLECTIVE ESSAY ON EDUCATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS  

DESCRIPTION 

As described in the “Response to Areas Identified for Special Emphasis,” BGSP has been 
incorporating assessment much more into its institutional planning processes in many different 
areas of the institution.  However, its primary assessment goal is to evaluate its educational 
effectiveness.  The School uses a number of qualitative and quantitative assessments to that end, 
including measures of student achievement and learning outcomes assessments.  Formal, direct 
student outcomes assessments, indirect assessments of student and alumni achievement, and 
academic oversight processes all contribute to the faculty’s ability to evaluate educational 
effectiveness and enhance student learning at BGSP. 
 

WHAT STUDENTS GAIN 

The School has conducted alumni surveys four times since 2001 to provide data on contributions 
of alumni to the field as well as program effectiveness.  The survey provides information on 
what students gain from their education, whether their careers or salaries change as a result of 
their education, and what aspects of their education they found most valuable.  The latest survey 
of all graduates was completed in 2015-2016; see the Findings section for results. 
 

ASSESSMENT OF STUDENT LEARNING 

Assessment of student learning occurs at the course level and at capstone evaluation points 
within each program, including at program completion. The School evaluates both individuals, to 
monitor and facilitate their progress, and cohorts, to determine in aggregate whether the 
programs are satisfying learning objectives and how to improve learning. 
 

Course Level Evaluation 

At the course level, the faculty member evaluates students based on their performance on 
assignments designed to evaluate the attainment of learning objectives as described on the course 
syllabus. Additional assessment at the course level takes place at the end of each semester, when 
the Dean of Graduate Studies solicits feedback from instructors about their courses. The 
Curriculum Committee reviews the results and makes recommendations to the Faculty Council 
and the Administrative Directors.  For example, in 2013 the Curriculum Committee identified 
that some students had difficulty completing the required Master’s paper in a timely manner. As 
a result, they took on the task of revising the requirement and, working with the Research 
Committee, undertook a revision of the research course sequence and suggested paper focus to 
facilitate timely completion of this requirement. 
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Student learning in the Master’s programs is also assessed in the field through supervisory 
evaluations from onsite supervisors and BGSP supervisors once per semester. The Fieldwork 
Coordinator reviews these evaluations and meets with the student to discuss any difficulties. She 
brings cohort difficulties to the attention of the Clinical Studies Committee and the President, 
with whom she meets regularly. For example, as students engaged in counseling internships in 
new outpatient settings, it became clear that BGSP needed to strengthen its curriculum related to 
outpatient assessment at the Master’s level. As a result, the Curriculum Committee modified the 
Assessment and Appraisal course to include a significant module on clinical interviewing for 
diagnosis and assessment. The school also added a course in child assessment for students 
interning in the School Based Internship program.  
 

Capstone Evaluations: Points of Assessment 

In each program, certain capstone points of assessment require the student to synthesize course 
material and practical or research experience in order to provide evidence of learning appropriate 
to the student’s level. These capstones provide important points of assessment of student learning 
for the individual, the cohort, and the program.  
 
Fieldwork Presentation: In the clinical programs at the Master’s level at all campuses, the student 
prepares a final case presentation and case write-up at the culmination of the fieldwork 
externship. The fieldwork presentation and paper require the student to integrate academic, 
clinical, and emotional learning to a degree appropriate to the master’s level. The Fieldwork 
Seminar instructor uses a rating scale, adopted by the faculty in 2010 for this purpose, to indicate 
how well the student performs on a number of criteria, for example, “The student demonstrates 
the ability to observe and describe symbolic content in the patient’s verbal communication.” 
 
Master’s Paper or Thesis: All Master’s programs at all campuses require the student to complete 
a Master’s paper or thesis. Design and execution of research projects at this level provide 
practice in independent study and use of information resources, critical reading and thinking, 
generating a research question, designing a methodology, and drawing valid inferences from 
data. The thesis is evaluated either by the Master’s Paper Course instructors or by an independent 
thesis advisor and second reader. Since 2014, students have been encouraged but not required to 
focus the paper on a single case from their fieldwork experience. 
 
Qualifying Exam: Students applying for doctoral study complete a qualifying exam before 
progressing to doctoral candidacy. The qualifying exam evaluates the student’s readiness to 
conduct doctoral study and research. In the clinical Psya.D. program, the exam is a spontaneous 
essay response to a short series of questions assessing the student’s mastery of important 
psychoanalytic concepts identified as critical in pre-candidacy learning. The exam is reviewed by 
three faculty members and has recently been modified to be closer to the student’s clinical and 
academic experience. In the Psya.D. program in Psychoanalysis, Society and Culture, the student 
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submits a qualifying paper that demonstrates the student’s ability to synthesize and critically 
analyze existing research and integrate psychoanalytic and sociocultural perspectives on a topic 
of choice. The paper is reviewed by two core faculty members, one of whom is the Program 
Director.  
 
Clinical Case Review: In the clinical Psya.D. and Certificate programs, once the student has 
completed 25 hours of intensive individual supervision on one case (referred to as Control 
Supervision), with the recommendation of the supervisors, the student makes a clinical case 
presentation before the clinical Fellows (advanced student advisor/mentors) and faculty. The 
Clinical Case Review provides the opportunity for the student to practice for the final 
presentation and to develop an understanding of what work still needs to be done. The Fellows 
and faculty members use a rating scale to evaluate the presentation and discuss the presentation 
to develop recommendations for the student’s training. Feedback is given by the student’s Fellow 
on areas where the student should focus his/her learning. 
 
Final Case Presentation: In the clinical Psya.D. and Certificate programs, the student’s final case 
presentation and case write up are the capstone clinical assessments. They require the student to 
integrate academic, clinical and emotional learning in order to intervene effectively with patients. 
The faculty uses a questionnaire with a rating scale to assess students’ final presentations, based 
on the program’s learning objectives, and engages in extensive discussion in order to evaluate as 
a whole whether the student has demonstrated clinical competence as a psychoanalyst. Feedback 
is then given to the presenter on areas for future development as a psychoanalytic professional. 
The final case presentation may be the dissertation defense if the dissertation is a single case 
study.  
 
Dissertation and Defense: Achievement at the doctoral level entails mastery of increasingly 
complex theory and sophisticated research methodology. In the clinical Psya.D. program, the 
student is expected to initiate and conduct a scholarly piece of research that applies 
psychoanalytic concepts to an area of interest to the candidate; often this is an intensive 
qualitative case study of some question regarding the dynamics of an individual Therapy Center 
case. This project should be a contribution to the integration, expansion, or application of the 
understanding of unconscious motivational processes. In the Certificate program, the dissertation 
is necessarily a single case study. In the Psya.D. program in Psychoanalysis and Culture, the 
doctoral dissertation is an original empirical project which makes a substantive contribution to 
the knowledge base in understanding culture or a social problem, such as racism, in such a way 
as to integrate sociocultural and psychodynamic perspectives. The dissertation requires 
independent scholarly work, a high level of integration of multi-disciplinary perspectives, and 
the mastery of complex theory in order to think critically and conduct research. 
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Assessment Instrument:  Evaluation Forms for Clinical Presentations 

Traditionally, different evaluation forms have been used for the fieldwork presentation than for 
the two later clinical presentations, which have been evaluated using the same form.  Based upon 
feedback from the faculty, three years ago the evaluation form for the last two clinical 
presentations was changed from all quantitative ratings to qualitative responses (comments) due 
to difficulty using some of the scales. In a recent discussion of the forms it was decided to use 
the quantitative Fieldwork evaluation forms for all three presentations as it uses scales which are 
easier to employ and address the same clinical and theoretical skills deemed important core 
competencies in prior discussions. These competencies are defined as specific clinical and 
theoretical skills which become refined and improve as a student progresses through the program 
through coursework, additional clinical experience and analysis and supervision. Examples of 
these competencies include: understanding symbolic communication; staying with the patient 
emotionally; or using one’s own emotional responses in understanding the patient.  The 
Administrative Directors and the Faculty will be engaging in further analysis of core 
competencies over the coming academic year as part of an initiative by the American Board of 
Accreditation in Psychoanalysis, our professional accrediting body, to define the core 
competencies important in psychoanalytic training. 
 

Studies of Cohort Outcomes 

Using the rating scales described above, in addition to extensive ongoing formative evaluation 
processes involving multiple committees, the faculty is able to draw conclusions about student 
learning in aggregate as they proceed through the programs, and to use this data to make changes 
to improve learning. For example, in 2004, the Administrative Directors reviewed students’ 
skills based on the ratings and discussions of final clinical presentations at the doctoral level. As 
a result of the study, the faculty introduced the Clinical Case Review to allow students the 
opportunity to practice and receive feedback and recommendations for further training.  A more 
recent review (2015-16) of students’ skills based on discussion of final clinical presentations 
indicated great unevenness in the quality of the presentations.  Discussion at the Administrative 
Directors meeting and in the Curriculum Committee led to identification of courses where 
opportunities for case formulation and presentation would be incorporated or strengthened. 
 

STUDENT SUCCESS 

Students’ success rates, including retention and graduation rates, are calculated by the Registrar 
from BGSP’s student database (see the Standard 8 Data Forms). The data are then examined by a 
committee of faculty and administrators in an attempt to understand factors that explain 
identified patterns. The small size of the school allows careful examination of individual 
graduates’ experiences in order to identify factors explaining individual student success. 
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STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT 

Student achievement of mission-appropriate outcomes, such as professional licensure and career 
advancement, is assessed via alumni surveys and through other collection of data from alumni 
and from faculty in touch with specific alumni.  This latter source is a surprisingly rich source of 
alumni achievement, since many alumni keep in touch with faculty after graduating. 
 
FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS 

WHAT STUDENTS GAIN 

A number of questions on the 2015-16 Alumni Survey assessed student gains from their BGSP 
education as well as their satisfaction with the experience. [Note: sample size for the New York 
Master’s program did not allow separate reporting for the New York campus.] Three “yes-no” 
questions examined overall attitudes toward respondents’ BGSP education. One question asked 
“Knowing all you know now, would you go through your BGSP program again?” Eighty-three 
percent of Masters graduates answered “yes.” Among doctoral and certificate graduates, 90% 
answered “yes.” 
 
Another question asked whether the graduate would recommend the program to others. Among 
Master’s graduates, 97% responded “yes.” Among doctoral and certificate graduates, 91% 
answered “yes.” 
 
A third question asked whether the graduate had, in fact, recommended the program. Among 
Master’s graduates, 94% reported making such a recommendation. Among doctoral and 
certificate graduates, 95% had made a recommendation. There was one graduate of both 
Master’s and the doctoral clinical program who reported that (s)he would not recommend the 
program, but had, in fact, recommended it. The only other respondent reporting that they would 
not recommend the program stated in response to one question: “I had a good experience but I'm 
not happy with what the school has become.” [This respondent did not clarify facet(s) of the 
current school they were dissatisfied with.] Interestingly, of the small percentage who said that 
with current knowledge they would not go through the program again, half (50%) had 
recommended the program to others. Thus, it appears that many of those who now would not go 
through the program felt that way because of a mismatch between the program and the needs of 
the student, rather than simple dissatisfaction with the program per se. 
 
A number of questions examined alumni’s satisfaction and self-reported gains from their overall 
experiences at BGSP. The positive experiences at the school most frequently named by 
respondents were, in approximate order of frequency: personal growth, greater tolerance for 
feelings; academics; personal analysis; clinical training; making friends and community; 
supervision; faculty; and research experience. In addition, throughout the survey were many 
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comments regarding how BGSP had helped students obtain and improve their clinical skills, 
resulting in successful practices and increased incomes.  
 
Sixty percent of survey respondents reported positive job changes while enrolled in BGSP. After 
graduation, 64% of Masters graduates and 38% of doctoral or certificate graduates reported 
positive job changes, including new jobs and changes in job titles, responsibilities and/or salary. 
Fifty-three percent of Master’s graduates and 56% of Doctoral or Certificate graduates reported 
that their BGSP education increased their job opportunities in other ways. Representative 
examples included: having a beneficial credential; being able to open a private practice; 
increased confidence, which aided their practice and job seeking opportunities; increased clinical 
skills and success with patients; more effective functioning in organizations to which alumni 
belong; increased “speaking gigs,” guest teaching, and writing opportunities; and a different 
perspective on the human experience. 
 
Forty-four percent of survey respondents reported receiving salary increases as a result of 
attending BGSP. Of those who voluntarily provided sufficient information so that the salary 
increase could be calculated, the mean salary increase attributable to attending BGSP was 
$44,954 (range: $8,300 to $125,000; median $44,375).  While the precise figures may not be 
representative of the entire population of graduates, these results indicate that many graduates 
experience substantial monetary benefits from attending BGSP, in addition to the non-monetary 
benefits. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING 

Master’s Students 

In the fieldwork program, Master’s level clinical students see three to four severely disturbed or 
psychotic individuals in an institution weekly for a year of close observation. The goals are for 
students to learn how to attend to inner emotional experiences of both themselves and of those 
they are observing while gaining an understanding of the psychodynamics of severely disturbed 
individuals.  
 
Review of the fieldwork presentation evaluation forms indicate that most students perform 
satisfactorily. The students with the most “unacceptable” or “minimally acceptable” responses, 
while few in number, continue to be international students (this was also found in an assessment 
of responses five years ago). In looking closely at individuals with more than one “unacceptable” 
or “minimally acceptable” rating, two groups were identified, one group of international students 
from very different cultures than in the US.  In the other group the difficulties appear to be 
connected with a certain cognitive style.  
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Some students from cultures with a greater emphasis on societal and familial expectations than 
on individual fulfillment and personal growth (sometimes referred to as “collectivist cultures”) 
have had difficulty with the emotional learning component of BGSP’s program. In these 
students’ work, they sometimes place a greater emphasis on the individual’s behavioral 
conformity than their internal life, as is required by psychoanalytic work.  
 
A second group who exhibited difficulties in their fieldwork presentations were apparently 
impaired by a concrete cognitive style which made paying attention to internal emotional 
material, both that of patients and their own, difficult. Like the first group, they tended to focus, 
rather, on overt behavior.  
 
It should be noted that the difficulties of these two very small groups of students have also been 
identified through BGSP faculties’ continual quality improvement processes. In response, the 
school has taken several initiatives to better understand cultural differences and their impact 
upon learning at BGSP. Efforts have been made to bring international students together with 
faculty and with student mentors to discuss cultural differences and how the experience of being 
in a foreign culture is affecting these students.  
 
At the same time, as a more global issue, the faculty has identified the need for the discipline as a 
whole to understand the intersection of cultural differences and psychoanalysis and has made this 
a focus of faculty development. These issues have increasingly been a topic for exploration at 
both the Administrative Directors and Faculty meetings, and several lectures by outside 
psychoanalysts with expertise in this area have been scheduled for the whole community in 
Spring 2016 and going forward. BGSP’s proposed program in Social Justice and Human Rights 
will also lead to an increased focus on issues of cultural difference throughout the school. 
Faculty involved in developing that program have emphasized that increased attention to issues 
of social justice and diversity need to permeate the entire school rather than be isolated in a 
specific program. 
 
In response to the identification of a small group of lower-level students whose concrete 
cognitive style was interfering with learning, several changes have occurred. At the admissions 
level, additional attention is being given to identifying these students. When identified, faculty 
members discuss potential remedial measures before admission, if the candidate is otherwise 
promising. Among these measures is suggesting a period of personal psychoanalysis prior to 
admission. When successful, that additional psychoanalysis can help the individual develop 
sensitivity to internal emotional experiences that can make success possible in Master’s level 
clinical education.  
 
Additionally, extra attention is being paid to these students when they graduate if they apply to 
continue on to doctoral level education. Increasingly, the faculty has worked with these students, 
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if admitted, to take steps that make success in the doctoral program more likely. These steps 
include additional personal psychoanalysis before admission to the doctoral program; or 
admission to doctoral coursework with an understanding that the student will delay 
commencement of psychoanalytic clinical work in the school’s Therapy Center until the 
development of certain skills can be demonstrated.  
 
While the above concerns relate to a very small percentage of underperforming students, 
examination by a faculty committee of the fieldwork presentation evaluation results overall 
revealed that certain areas of competency are generally well attained by students at this level.  
Students tend satisfactorily to “demonstrate an awareness of primitive feelings and impulses,” 
“be able to stay with the patient emotionally and describe the patient’s emotional states,” 
“demonstrate the ability to observe and describe symbolic content in the patient’s verbal 
communication,” and “demonstrate the ability to observe and describe symbolic non-verbal 
communications.” 

On the other hand, the analysis also revealed that certain areas of competency are more difficult 
for students at this level to attain than others. Among these areas are 1) demonstrating the ability 
to make inferences about the symbolic meaning of verbalizations, non-verbal messages and 
actions and 2) using one’s emotional reactions to the patient in interacting with the patient. These 
skills, which draw on higher order analysis, are advanced abilities and competence is found to be 
“minimally acceptable” slightly more often at this level.  In addition, one item – “understanding 
the patient’s level of self-object differentiation” (the psychological differentiation between one’s 
own internal psychological experiences and the experiences of those with whom one interacts) – 
consistently drew written comments from raters indicating the student was only beginning to 
develop the skill.  From faculty discussion, it is evident that this competency requires more than 
master’s level training to fully develop in many students.  

In the Psychoanalysis, Society and Culture program, students in MA level courses are less likely 
to approach the material with a concrete cognitive style, since the program draws a more 
intellectual applicant.  However, some students are encountering psychoanalytic or social theory 
constructs for the first time.  Based on class performance, the department decided to offer a 
tutorial course for junior students taught by an advanced graduate student, offering extra help in 
reviewing and explaining important concepts from both of these academic disciplines.  A number 
of students have successfully taken advantage of this option. 
 

Qualifying Exam 

Another tool for evaluating student learning is the qualifying exam, which is required for 
students progressing from the clinical Master’s programs or first level of doctoral training into 
the doctoral program or candidacy level (Therapy Center level) of training.  It consists of seven 
short essay questions. The questions are organized in two lists: the student chooses four from the 
first list of five questions and three questions are chosen from a second list.  Exams are read by 
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three faculty members, their assessments are pooled and discussed and students are either given a 
“pass” or are required to retake the exam. Most students pass the exam on the first try. 
 
In evaluating the exam evaluations from the last three years, it was noticed that students’ 
performance on the exam, when asked to describe theoretical concepts, has been somewhat rote.  
As a consequence, the faculty coordinator of the exam, in conjunction with the Administrative 
Directors, revised the exam to make it more directly related to the students’ clinical experience. 
For example, the revised exam might ask examinees to give examples of concepts or 
interventions from their own clinical case material and to write about a case illustrating particular 
concepts.  This new exam was introduced in Spring 2016. Preliminary experience suggests that it 
worked well with four students who have completed it so far.   
 
A review of exam evaluations from the last three years suggests that a rating scale would be 
useful for readers in order to aggregate the data along particular conceptual dimensions. The 
rating scale for readers has not yet been created. This task will be undertaken in the coming 
academic year following a faculty discussion of core competencies for this level of training. 
 

Clinical Doctoral and Certificate Students 

In the Doctoral and Psychoanalytic Certificate programs, students make a presentation, the 
Clinical Case Review, to the faculty after they have received 25 hours of intensive Control 
Supervision on one of the cases. They present their clinical work with the three of their cases 
seen in the Therapy Center that they have seen the longest. This presentation provides an 
opportunity for the faculty to assess the student’s learning of basic clinical case management 
skills, understanding of patient psychodynamics, ability to apply theoretical knowledge to 
conceptualize their cases, and the ability of students to use their own emotional experiences 
while conducting psychoanalysis as a tool in understanding their patients. 
 
Analysis of the clinical case review presentation assessment forms indicates that all students who 
presented over the last five years were assessed by the faculty as having successfully learned 
important clinical skills such as how to keep difficult patients in treatment, how to sit with 
difficult and intense feeling states, and using their emotional reactions to understand the patient. 
On these forms, faculty reported variability in students’ ability to describe patients’ inner worlds 
and in understanding symbolic communications (making inferences about unconscious meaning 
from overt patient speech and behavior).  While some very intellectually oriented students 
excelled at theorizing, some students, at least as demonstrated in these presentations, still needed 
to improve their ability to conceptualize their clinical work in a coherent theoretical framework.  
(It should be noted, however, that over-intellectualization can sometimes interfere with a 
student’s ability to “read” the patient’s emotions.) The faculty evaluators often noted the 
student’s considerable attainment of fundamental clinical skills, progress in accessing their 
emotional experience, and improvement in understanding patients’ psychodynamics.  
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At the end of their doctoral or certificate program students make a final clinical capstone 
presentation to the faculty on a single case upon which they received intensive supervision. In 
most cases this presentation also involves defending their dissertation as most students elect to 
conduct a single case study on the same case. Evaluation of this presentation, completed by all 
attending faculty, provides a final opportunity for faculty to assess the student’s learning.   
 
Analysis of the evaluations forms for this presentation indicate that most ratings fall in the 
acceptable and superior categories. Compared to the 25 hour Clinical Case Review presentations, 
the final capstone presentations exhibit considerable improvement in ratings in understanding of 
symbolic communication and ability to make inferences about unconscious motivation.  A 
number of students were still exhibiting weaknesses in two areas: 1) their ability to provide a 
clear, theoretically coherent, conceptual framework and to describe how the framework 
influences their work with cases; and 2) demonstration of a progressive resolution of patient 
resistances (ways in which patients’ repetitive patterns and behaviors interfere with therapeutic 
progress). Otherwise, at this capstone point, the evaluations do not reveal any consistent areas of 
student weakness, and in fact, reveal consistent areas of strength.  
 
As a result of identification of student difficulties with providing a clear conceptual model for 
their clinical work, the Curriculum Committee and the Administrative Directors have 
recommended strengthening the integration of this material more consistently into the clinical 
courses and requiring more student presentations in these courses. An additional comparative 
theory course has also been added to the curriculum beginning in 2016. These changes should 
help students make better links between their theoretical learning and their clinical work. 
Another result of the final presentation evaluations is a recognition that clearer instructions are 
needed for the clinical presentations, particularly to help students prepare to present a conceptual 
framework for their clinical work. As a consequence, the faculty agreed to provide the evaluation 
criteria to students in the clinical courses before presenting so they will have a clearer 
understanding of the areas of competency they need to demonstrate.  This process has been 
initiated just this past academic semester. 
 
In examining the clinical presentation evaluations with the current form, it was found that there 
is only moderate agreement between faculty raters, or inter-rater reliability. This form has been 
under nearly continuous development over the last three years as faculty have found themselves 
dissatisfied with every version developed. In 2013 there was an “undecided” item on the rating 
scale which was used by many raters and there was no room for comments to explain.  In 2014 a 
qualitative format was initiated for the evaluation which provided no quantitative ratings. This 
form proved to be very time consuming to complete, making it difficult to get faculty to 
consistently use it and a decision was made that it was too unwieldy. As a response, in 2016 it 
was decided to adopt the current fieldwork evaluation form, which people found especially 
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useful, for all three levels of presentation.  During this coming year, the faculty will tweak the 
content but not the structure of the form to make sure it conforms to the more advanced 
expectations for learning outcomes.  The form will be reevaluated in Spring 2017.  
 

STUDENT SUCCESS 

Student success is assessed by graduation and retention rates, which are contained in the 
Standard 8 Data Forms. In analyzing this data, it is essential to keep in mind that BGSP’s small 
student body size contributes to very substantial year-to-year variation, due to random variation. 
 
Main Campus. Master’s programs retention ranged from an anomalous 57% (FY2013) to 92% 
(FY2015). Graduation rates within three years (150% time) for full-time students ranged from 
0% (FY2015; with only three students) to 33% (FY2014); the graduation rate for part-time 
students ranged from 65% (FY2015) to 70% (FY2014). The rates for full- and part-time students 
combined ranged from 35% (FY2013) to 58% (FY2015). The average time to degree was a 
consistent four years. 
 
For the Clinical Doctoral Program, retention rates ranged from 89% (FY2014) to 100% 
(FY2013). Graduation rates in this program ranged from 43% (FY2015) to 100% (FY2013). The 
average time to degree once students were at the Candidacy level consistently was 10 years. 
 
For the doctoral program in Psychoanalysis, Culture, and Society, with even smaller numbers of 
students each year, retention rates ranged from 0% (FY2014) to 100% (FY2015). Graduation 
rates ranged from 0% (FY2014) to 50% (FY2013 and FY2015). The average time to graduation 
once a student attained Candidacy level was between 6.5 to 8 years.  
 
New York Campus. Retention rates for the New York branch Master’s program ranged from 
83% (FY2015) to 90% (FY2013). Graduation rates ranged from 33% (FY2013) to 60% 
(FY2014). 
 
After calculation of the retention and graduation data for the programs at BGSP’s main 
Brookline campus, a committee of faculty and administrators went over the list of students 
included in the FY2013-2015 cohorts. This detailed examination provided insights that helped 
understand the data, especially the apparently low graduation rates for the Master’s programs, in 
the context of the School’s student body and the nature of its programs.  
 
This examination revealed no single reason, but, rather, a variety of reasons why students left 
without graduating. Some students decide that the BGSP program is not right for them. In some 
cases, BGSP’s psychoanalytic orientation turned out not to be what the student expected. In other 
cases, students decided that mental health counseling was not the right profession for them, 
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finding it too demanding or unfulfilling, or in some cases anticipating a less financially 
rewarding future than desired.   
 
There are two special issues affecting retention by international students. A few international 
students have had trouble adapting to life in the US, become homesick, and decided to return 
home. A few others have found their English skills to be inadequate and have decided not to 
continue their BGSP program. 
 
In examining the graduation rates, the first thing revealed is that the full time rates for the largest 
program, the Master’s in Mental Health Counseling, are somewhat confusing. BGSP defines 
“full-time” as taking at least three courses per semester. However, in order to complete this 
program within two years, students must take five courses a semester and one in the summer, not 
counting clinical placements and supervision. Thus, students can easily be “full-time” and yet 
fail to complete the program within 150% of the two years minimum.  
 
Given the intensity of this program in terms of intellectual, clinical and personal growth 
demands, it is not surprising that many students who initially intend to complete the program in 
two years decide along the way to slow down. Thus, from the school’s perspective, students 
taking longer to graduate is not necessarily a problem and may lead to a better education. At the 
same time, steps are taken to make graduating within two years a reasonable possibility for 
students who are interested in doing so. 
 
Some students who complete course requirements take additional time to complete their required 
Master’s paper. While this is not always a problem, as noted below, steps have recently been 
taken to modify the requirement in such a manner that it is hoped will facilitate more timely 
paper completion and graduation. 
 
Analysis revealed that, in addition to the students who dropped out of the program before their 
second year, who are captured in retention statistics, there is an additional group who drop out 
later. These students leave for the same range of reasons discussed above in regard to the 
retention rates. Thus, graduation rates combine two groups: those who are taking longer to 
graduate and those who left the program. In some years, the rates of the latter are larger than 
anticipated. While no specific reasons other than those described above were identified, this 
issue warrants further attention. It should be noted, however, that an individual coming to BGSP 
and leaving before graduation is not necessarily a failure for either the student or the School. In 
some instances, the student attained considerable intellectual and emotional growth, leading 
them to have a better sense of their desired life direction. In the tables for Standard 8, we provide 
an additional statistic for graduation rates for non-dropouts. Consistent with the interpretation 
that the main problem exhibited in lower than expected graduation rates is dropping out after the 
first year, these rates are considerably higher than the raw graduation rates.  
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Among those failing to graduate are a few students who have gone on leave, intending to return, 
but who have so far not done so. Several students, especially in the clinical doctoral program, 
have transferred to our New York branch or to the psychoanalytic certificate program at our 
sister school in New York, the Center for Modern Psychoanalytic Studies. These transfers have 
occurred either because the student found a commute from the New York area to be more 
difficult than anticipated or because the student decided to move there. 
 
With regard to the clinical doctoral program, it is not surprising that many students take a long 
time to graduate. The school’s philosophy is that becoming a psychoanalyst takes a long time as 
it requires learning not only theoretical material, and basic and advanced clinical intervention 
skills, but also the substantial personal growth that is required to allow an analyst to use her or 
his personal reactions in the therapy situation as a tool in understanding patients and in 
developing appropriate and effective clinical interventions. This personal growth cannot be 
rushed. Thus, psychoanalytic students are frequently counseled to take their time, or choose to do 
so on their own. One recent graduate, for example, enjoyed taking one clinical class for many 
semesters while developing her clinical skills, and did not feel pressured to complete her 
dissertation until her peers started graduating.  This type of learning is actually incentivized by a 
hefty tuition discount for students who have completed all their course requirements.  (The need 
for substantial time to become a psychoanalyst was one reason the school undertook the 
development of the mental health counseling Master’s program, which allowed psychoanalytic 
students to develop a marketable credential substantially prior to their completing psychoanalytic 
education.) 
 
Another important aspect of BGSP’s philosophy is a commitment to giving applicants with 
potential vulnerabilities but high motivation a chance to succeed, if they so choose. Thus, in a 
number of instances students may be admitted who the admissions committee is aware might 
have difficulties. Often these students are counseled to engage in the program slowly while 
undertaking the personal analysis that may help them resolve issues potentially interfering with 
success.  
 
Even so, the analysis of BGSP’s retention and graduation rates suggests that the School would do 
well to focus on additional retention strategies.  Since Spring 2016, the faculty has undertaken a 
number of steps to increase retention and help students towards graduation.  Among these steps 
are:  
 
 Work on improving student advisement.  This goal coincides with a change of leadership 

in the advisement department in early 2016.  The new Dean of Students is taking a more 
proactive approach to advisement to help struggling students develop appropriate 
remediation plans.  This will help some students stay in school who otherwise might 
leave. 
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 Improved outreach by advisers to students who have left to facilitate student return, 

where appropriate. 
 
 Raised awareness by faculty conducting admissions interviews so that frank 

conversations can be had with students who might have specific difficulties successfully 
completing certain aspects of a program. Many interviewers also have incorporated 
discussions of potential obstacles, including financial issues, into admissions interviews 
in an attempt to clarify an applicant’s likely time to program completion. 

 
 Extra counseling courses have been scheduled in summers that would allow students 

taking less than five classes to make up courses and graduate in a more expeditious 
timeframe. So far, some of these extra courses have had to be cancelled due to inadequate 
enrollment. BGSP will continue dialog with students regarding desire for summer 
courses. 

 
 The Master’s paper requirement has been changed to better integrate it with the required 

clinical paper by recommending that the MA paper consist of a single case study from the 
fieldwork experience, thus leading to one final paper. Faculty from clinical and research 
courses are collaborating in working with students on these required papers. As this 
change was only recently instituted, no data is available yet regarding its success. 

 
 Steps have been taken to address the specific issues of international students. The School 

has instituted ESL tutoring and encourages advisors to recommend such tutoring when 
appropriate. Discussions among the faculty have led many to be more prepared to raise 
issues with English language competency before these issues become a barrier to success. 
Steps have also been taken to create an international student organization, to appoint 
student mentors, and to make the issues of these students a regular part of faculty 
discussions. 

 
 At the suggestion of students concerned about improving “student life” and support, a 

new student “hangout” space has been created (in addition to the existing student lounge) 
and a faculty person has committed to “hanging out” on a regular basis to stay appraised 
of student concerns and help with building a sense of community.  All community 
meetings continue to be scheduled at least once a semester and/or at the request of the 
Student Association to work towards the same goals. 

 
In addition, as a result of these analyses, the School will publish more accurate time to 
completion data, including, most likely, 200% of the minimum possible. This information will be 
accompanied by a discussion of the fact that students often undertake the program at their own 
speed. 
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Thus, the BGSP faculty and administration have taken a number of steps to address problems 
and issues that might lead students to leave prematurely enhance student retention. Continuous 
evaluation will be needed to determine the effectiveness of these steps. 
 

ACHIEVEMENT ON MISSION-APPROPRIATE OUTCOMES 

BGSP has identified a number of mission-appropriate student outcomes for its graduates. These 
include pursuit of post-Masters education; conducting psychotherapy or counseling in private 
practice; conducting psychotherapy or counseling in an agency, school, or other institutional 
setting; other direct human service employment; human service administration; teaching higher 
education in a related field; and being employed in fields for which they were not explicitly 
prepared. These data are contained in the Standard 8 Data Forms.   
 
Data show that between 44% (FY2013) and 75% (FY2014) of graduates of Master’s programs at 
BGSP’s main Brookline campus went on to pursue additional education post-Master’s. At the 
New York campus the figures ranged from 33% (FY2014) to 100% (FY2013).  
 
The main campus figures need to be interpreted realizing that the large majority of Master’s 
graduates are from the mental health counseling program, which is a terminal degree. Despite 
this, a large percentage, more than half, of graduates go on to post-Masters education for which 
their BGSP Master’s program prepared them. 
 
Of the other mission-appropriate outcomes, the largest percentages are for the two psychotherapy 
or counseling1

 

 outcomes. Between 23% (FY2013) and 54% (FY2014) of BGSP graduates 
conducted psychotherapy in an institutional setting while between 15% (FY2014) and 41% 
(FY2013) conducted therapy in a private practice setting. Adjusting for individuals who 
practiced in both settings (data not presented), between 59% (FY2013) and 65% (fY2014) of 
Master’s graduates were practicing psychotherapy. The other mission-appropriate outcome with 
greater than 10% involvement some years is teaching in higher education, with between 8% 
(FY2014) and 26% (FY2015) of graduates involved. In contrast, only 4% (FY2014 and 2015) to 
5% (FY2013) of graduates were working in fields for which they were not prepared by their 
BGSP education. 

Thus, the vast majority of employed graduates were working in fields connected to their BGSP 
education, especially psychotherapy.  Many of the apparently unemployed individuals are likely 
among those who are pursuing higher education.  
 

                                                 
1 The terms psychotherapy or therapy will be used to include counseling in what follows. 
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APPRAISAL AND PROJECTION 

The data suggest that, overall, BGSP is doing a good job in creating an effective educational 
experience for its students. The vast majority of alumni report satisfaction with their BGSP 
experience and a sense that they would make the same choice to attend BGSP again. (This 
finding has been consistent across all four alumni surveys BGSP has conducted). The 
overwhelming majority has recommended the school to other students. Available data also 
suggest that graduating from BGSP contributes to career success for most students, including job 
advancement, salary increases, and achievement of mission-appropriate outcomes. 
 
Notwithstanding a general pattern of success, our analyses have identified some areas for 
increased attention.  Understanding issues with retention and improving graduation rates will be 
a priority for the Dean of Students and the Administrative Directors as a whole.  The admissions 
department will continue to improve its screening and remedial plans for students who enter with 
specific challenges.  Continued assessment will also help the faculty undertake programmatic 
modifications to improve success when students have a difficult time learning psychoanalytic 
material.  Finally, the School will continue to improve services for and increase responsiveness 
to the needs of international students. Coming from another country and culture to study 
something as intellectually and emotionally taxing as psychoanalysis is very hard for most. It is 
incumbent upon the school to reduce the difficulty of this transition in whatever ways are 
feasible. 
 
BGSP will also continue improving its systems for obtaining data on the school’s educational 
effectiveness. The faculty will build on the Fieldwork evaluation form for more advanced 
milestone clinical presentation evaluations. These efforts will proceed in concert with school 
personnel’s involvement in the ABAP initiative to identify core competencies for psychoanalytic 
education. As understanding of core competencies progresses, it is vital that these competencies 
be more clearly communicated to students, allowing them to better prepare to meet faculty 
expectations. 
 
As noted, BGSP plans to develop a Qualifying Exam Rating Scale to better standardize 
evaluation of these exams. This effort will help faculty clarify their expectations for students 
taking these exams. As with presentation evaluations, careful consideration of ways of 
communicating these expectations to students will proceed in concert with scale development. 
 
Finally, BGSP plans to improve its systems for obtaining information from alumni. As the 
School grows, current systems tapping faculty knowledge of graduates may reduce in 
effectiveness at accumulating data. At the same time, the response rate for the latest alumni 
survey was lower than for past surveys. This reduction is consistent with societal trends toward 
reduced survey participation rates, but may also indicate that the same group of alumni have 
been surveyed with similar questions too often. Consideration will be given to innovative 
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mechanisms for alumni data collection.  Perhaps a detailed survey should only be distributed to 
recent alumni and more senior alumni should be sent a short questionnaire updating employment 
and professional activities. 
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INSTITUTIONAL PLANS  

As indicated on the preceding pages, over the next five years, BGSP is planning a number of 
developments ranging from programmatic additions to governance strategies and assessment 
initiatives.  The most prominent of those plans are described below. 

PROGRAMS 

ACCELERATED DOCTORATE  

In 2013, BGSP launched an accelerated track in the Psya.D. program, which was reviewed by 
the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education.  The accelerated doctorate is available to 
candidates who have already graduated from a psychoanalytic training institute (i.e., certified 
psychoanalysts), who would like to earn a doctorate in the field.  BGSP evaluates their 
psychoanalytic training in order to ensure comparable academic course coverage and establishes 
credit hour equivalencies using the federal definition of credit hour.  The admissions office then 
transfers in the work already completed in the analytic training program and establishes an 
accelerated program of study, which usually focuses on research methods, comparative clinical 
study, and development of the dissertation.  The School has an articulation agreement with the 
Center for Modern Psychoanalytic Studies that outlines the criteria for transfer of credit from that 
institution.  For graduates of other institutions, the Admissions Committee faculty evaluates the 
applicants’ prior syllabi and course papers for course content, scholarship, and seat time. 

In 2014, BGSP surveyed already-certified analysts nationally to assess their interest in the 
accelerated track for the Psya.D.  Many people had expressed interest in the degree, but few 
proved willing to travel to Boston at the required frequency.  Therefore, the survey asked people 
to rank their preferences in terms of location and mode of delivery for such a program.  Most, but 
not all, of the respondents live in New York.  Two-thirds of the respondents favored an in-person 
program located at the New York campus (which does not currently have doctoral degree-
granting status), and one-third of the respondents favored a hybrid program delivered through a 
combination of video-conferencing and intensive school-year weekends in Boston.   

In keeping with the results of the needs assessment, BGSP plans to pursue doctoral degree-
granting status in New York State in order to offer accelerated programming to the large New 
York market of certified psychoanalysts who do not yet have a doctorate.  The proposed program 
will mirror the existing program in Boston.  The application for the doctorate will focus on the 
need and rationale for the program, faculty qualifications and resources, library and information 
resources, and the School’s evaluation of incoming transfer credits for the doctoral degree.  
BGSP expects that earning New York State Board of Regents approval to offer this program will 
likely take 6-10 years, based on our history with the state.   

In addition, BGSP plans to launch a hybrid version of the program that blends intensive on-
campus experiences in Boston with online videoconferencing.  Specifically, the part-time 
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program (6 to 8 credits per semester) will require two 3-day weekends in Boston per semester 
(with an additional day first semester to accommodate orientation and acculturation) and eight 
videoconferencing sessions per course per semester.  Courses will be structured to meet federal 
standards for seat time when in-person and videoconferencing hours are combined.  Forty 
percent of each course will be held in person and sixty percent via videoconferencing.  
Additional requirements for Directed Research, while the student prepares the dissertation, may 
be fulfilled in whatever ratio of in-person and online communications works best for the student 
and research supervisor.   

The School has chosen a distance learning model that closely mimics the standard BGSP student 
experience, because the faculty and student body highly value face-to-face contact and the 
exploration of readings and concepts through talking, in order to ensure group reflection and 
analysis of the subject matter in this small-class format.  Students in the program are expected to 
meet the same standards as those in the on-campus doctoral program, and have equal access to 
faculty members and research advisors.  Because the program is face-to-face, the identity of the 
students is not a question.   

The hybrid program will provide a day long, in-person orientation each fall for incoming 
students.  Students can meet the Registrar, Director of Financial Aid, Controller, faculty, 
advisors, and other personnel and develop an understanding of who to contact for what. BGSP’s 
Director of Library Services will be on hand during orientation, in which she participates, and for 
one class day each weekend.  She also visits research classes to instruct in library search 
procedures.  She is accustomed to communicating over the phone and electronically with 
students and is well poised to assist this additional population. Further resources, such as faculty, 
student services, and on-campus technology, are already in place to support the program.   

The School’s understanding is that it will not need to seek NEASC approval for a substantive 
change for this program.  However, BGSP is currently evaluating the requirements for admitting 
students from various states to ensure that it applies for any additional operating authority that it 
may require.  The School will begin by ensuring appropriate authority in New England, New 
York, New Jersey, California, and Illinois, where demand appears to be greatest.  Once operating 
authority is obtained from a number of key states, BGSP will begin recruiting students.  The 
School anticipates the program will launch in Fall 2017. 

BGSP projects that 7 students will enroll part-time (two or three courses) in 2017-18 and another 
cohort of 5 students will enroll part-time in 2018-19.  These assumptions are incorporated into 
the budgets for FY2018 and FY2019 respectively, but will be revised as more data becomes 
available. 

M.A. IN SOCIAL JUSTICE AND HUMAN RIGHTS 

As part of the School’s strategic planning process, BGSP highlighted the fact that mental health 
training in general has become more focused on social justice, that is, on decreasing inequalities 



61 
 

in access to those resources, rights, and privileges that promote mental health and social well-
being.  (BGSP has, in fact, been a small part of decreasing those inequalities in access to 
psychoanalysis and psychoanalytic education through its degree programs and Therapy Center.)  
In addition, School noted the current social upheaval related to the use of force by police, which 
underscores recent publicity on the importance of “unconscious bias.”  Similarly, there is a 
heightened emphasis on social-emotional learning within public education.  (See, for instance, 
the Massachusetts Department of Early and Secondary Education’s Guidelines for the Approval 
of Educator Preparation Programs, 2012.)  In many respects, the lines between mental health, 
social welfare, and social justice are rightly becoming blurred.  Within psychoanalysis, this is 
reflected in the nascent conversations regarding race and culture within the field.  With award-
winning films such as Black Psychoanalysts Speak and Psychoanalysis in el Barrio prompting 
difficult but critical conversations on the intersections between race, ethnicity, and 
psychoanalysis, BGSP has not only an opportunity but an obligation to bring psychoanalysis to 
the table to contribute to the discussion of social injustices and human rights.   

The School’s programs in Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture successfully address many of 
these questions by stimulating intellectual discussion and research (for example, in a recent 
doctoral dissertation on masculinity), but the programs lack a practical emphasis, internships, 
and clear career opportunities and are under-enrolled.  In order to both maintain the academic 
and develop the practical aspects of addressing socio-cultural issues, the School recognized it can 
add programming specifically related to the interface between psychoanalysis and social justice, 
highlighting how the understanding of unconscious dynamics can contribute to advocacy efforts.  
Now is an especially opportune time to launch such a program, because faculty member Stephen 
Soldz has earned great respect and name recognition within social justice and human rights 
circles, and could lead a program in social justice and human rights. 

As a result, the School is developing a proposal to offer a Master of Arts degree in Social Justice 
and Human Rights.  This program will teach fundamental principles of social justice and human 
rights, along with a focus on change strategies. The program will have a psychoanalytic 
orientation, by which we mean that students will learn basic principles of individual and group 
psychodynamics, helping them understand unconscious influences on social behavior as well as 
ways in which social change organizations and movements can be undermined by 
unacknowledged conflicts.   

The purpose of the program is to increase the effectiveness of individuals engaged in social 
change efforts in organizations, including the nonprofits, government, and policy realms as well 
as in grass-roots organizations and movements. The School anticipates that students will include 
both recent college graduates seeking jobs furthering social change as well as individuals already 
working in this area seeking further education.  An important part of the program will be 
students’ participation in internships in the community as they develop a Master’s project. 
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The School plans to apply for an expedited review of this proposal from the Massachusetts 
Board of Higher Education in Fall 2016, with plans, pending state approval, to begin in the Fall 
2017 semester. 

Unlike the accelerated doctoral programs, the proposed Master’s program in Social Justice and 
Human Rights will require additional faculty resources.  The School estimates that one course 
each semester will be taught by the existing psychoanalytic faculty; one course each semester 
will be taught by the Program Director, Dr. Stephen Soldz, who is already on the faculty payroll; 
and one course per year will be taught by an existing member of the Psychoanalysis, Society and 
Culture faculty. The School will therefore need to hire faculty members for three courses for the 
first year of the program and five courses for the second year of the program.  These hires are 
included in the budget on the Standard 7 Data Forms, assuming $6,000 per course. 

The School is well underway with program development, with the help of an Advisory Board of 
academics, social justice professionals, and advocates (see appendix).  The group has been 
incredibly excited about the opportunity to introduce this unique perspective into social justice 
and human rights programs.  Some Advisory Board members have committed to being on the 
faculty, while others have referred us to qualified faculty members whom they think would make 
excellent contributions.  Some proposed faculty members have full-time commitments 
elsewhere, but are extremely interested in taking additional time to teach a course that integrates 
their interest in psychoanalysis into their professional lives; these people will be added to the 
adjunct faculty.  So far, the School has retained the following new faculty members: 

Danielle Egan, Ph.D. (Sociology, Boston College), Psya.D. (Boston Graduate School of 
Psychoanalysis).  Professor and Coordinator, Gender and Sexuality Studies, St. Lawrence 
University. 

Gordon Fellman, Ph.D. (Sociology, Harvard). Professor of Sociology, Brandeis 
University; Chair, Peace and Conflict, and Coexistence Studies Program. 

Lynne Layton, Ph.D. (Comparative Literature, Washington University; Clinical 
Psychology, Boston University); Certificate in Psychoanalysis (Massachusetts Institute 
for Psychoanalysis).   1997-2004, Visiting Faculty, Social Studies, Harvard University; 
Founder, Psychosocial Work Group (2013); Editor, Psychoanalysis, Culture & Society. 

Alice LoCicero, Ph.D, M.B.A. Visiting Faculty, Wright Institute; Core Faculty and Intern 
Supervisor, Center for Multicultural Training in Psychology, Boston Medical Center; 
Society for Terrorism Research (Co-Founder and First President); Formerly: Associate 
Professor and Chair of Social Science, Endicott College, Beverly, MA. 

Paul Reynolds, Psy.D. (Massachusetts School of Professional Psychology). Former 
Coordinator, Group Program, Boston Institute for Psychotherapy; Steering Committee of 
Reflective Spaces/Material Places, Boston; Co-Leader Social Justice Seminar, 
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Massachusetts College of Art and Design (2014-2016); Former Trainer, Haitian Mental 
Health Network, Boston MA/Port-Au-Prince, Haiti. 

Three other excellent candidates are also pending.  In addition, the program will require an 
enthusiastic part-time internship coordinator to help place students in appropriate community 
settings (also included in the budget). 

In order to provide startup funding for the program, a BGSP Trustee and a recent alumna are 
teaming up together to lead a specific fundraising campaign for the Social Justice program, with 
the goal of raising $50-75,000 over three years.  With the “quiet phase” of the campaign just 
begun, they have already garnered commitments for over $30,000. 

In the three-year financial plan, enrollment for this program has been forecast conservatively at 5 
FTE for the first cohort in 2017-18 and another 5 FTE for the second cohort in 2018-19.  
Because cross-registration is expected from other programs, the program can be sustained at this 
level. As the proposal is developed, a more comprehensive program budget will inform future 
forecasts. 

M.A. IN PSYCHOANALYTIC STUDIES 

BGSP’s existing Master’s programs are highly structured, with little room for electives.  The 
curricula in the two clinical Master’s programs are quite rigid in order to allow students to gain 
clinical skill and meet licensing requirements.  The Master’s program in Psychoanalysis, Society 
and Culture is likewise structured in order to ensure students have a strong enough background 
in psychoanalysis for them to integrate it into their interdisciplinary work at the doctoral level.  
Hence, there is no single Master’s program that appeals to the student who wants a flexible 
program of psychoanalytic study tailored to his or her interests.  This particularly seems an 
obstacle to those applicants from the humanities and social sciences who may want to explore 
psychoanalysis in a customized format in order to help them develop their own path to further 
study.  For this reason, the School is proposing to offer a new M.A. in Psychoanalytic Studies 
that will allow students to custom design a psychoanalytic program.  It will draw from 
coursework in all existing programs as well as the M.A. in Social Justice and Human Rights.  
The student will be assigned a faculty advisor to help the student identify his or her personal 
learning goals and develop a coherent program that meets those goals.   

This program will be proposed to the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education in Fall 2016 to 
start in Fall 2017.  Because the proposed degree program does not address prospective students’ 
immediate career needs, but would rather be more of a “resume builder,” the School recognizes 
that enrollment could be quite low.  It might even draw students from existing programs 
(although for some students who have shifted their career goals multiple times, it could support 
retention and graduation).  For this reason, no additional students have been forecast for this 
program in budget projections, so the School will not rely on an uncertain revenue stream. 
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ADDITIONAL PLANS 

BOARD DEVELOPMENT 

The Board of Trustees is actively working on Trustee recruitment, having engaged four out of six 
of the independent Trustees in the past year.  As mentioned above under “Fundraising,” it has 
been a challenge to find independent Trustees who are interested in psychoanalytic education.  
The School is working on presenting itself to outsiders in a more appealing, relevant way, by 
showing how psychoanalysis and its applications can influence not only individuals, but also 
groups and communities.  Mrs. Chris Bierbrier, who is running the Social Justice campaign with 
Dr. Paula Berman, is providing a leading example of how to engage such members of the public.  
Once more members have been recruited, the Board is considering changing the role of the 
administrative members (with the exception of the President) to be advisory only, with no vote.  
In addition, once some of the new Trustees gain more experience with the School, an 
independent member will take on the role of Chair.   

ASSESSMENT 

The School will focus on the following areas for improving its assessment of educational 
effectiveness: 

• Evaluating how the doctoral program might be better configured as a stand-alone 
program, while still ensuring appropriate learning outcomes at both the master’s and 
doctoral levels.   

• Increasing its understanding of the characteristics of people who are admitted, those who 
graduate, and those who drop out, and why; using this understanding to improve 
programs and services. 

• Evaluating planned changes to student advisement. 

• Adjusting the capstone evaluation forms to improve evaluation at each level of the 
clinical programs, in conjunction with ABAP’s project on psychoanalytic competencies. 

• Understanding the needs of international students and providing responsive services. 

• Improving its survey techniques for obtaining information from alumni. 

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE 

This academic year, the School plans to increase the amount of data on the “Fast Facts” page to 
reflect retention and graduation rates, information on student achievements, and increased 
information on student debt.  This will better inform the public about how well the institution 
meets its educational goals and what students can expect to owe.  The Staff Handbook will also 
be published online for the first time.  In addition, the Registrar, with permission, will be 
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publishing a list of all graduates from each program with a description of the learning outcomes 
of the program.  This is to ensure integrity not only of how the School represents itself, but also 
how graduates might describe their own credentials.   
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APPENDIX  

a. Affirmation of Compliance  
 

b. Most recent audited financial statement and management letter 
 
c. Interim Report Forms  
 
d. Making Assessment More Explicit (The E Series) Forms 
 
e. BGSP’s 2016-19 Strategic Plan 
 
f. Waiver of Debt Covenants for 2016 
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h. Social Justice and Human Rights Advisory Board 

 



 

A. Affirmation of Compliance 



COMMISSION ON INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER EDUCATION 
NEW ENGLAND ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOLS AND COLLEGES 

3 Burlington Woods, Suite 100, Burlington, MA 01803-4514 
Voice: (781) 4257785 Fax: (781) 4251001 Web: https://cihe.neasc.org 

AFFIRMATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL REGULA TlONS RELATING TO TITLE IV 

Periodically, member institutions are asked to affirm their compliance with federal requirements relaling to Title fV 
program participation, including relevant requiremenls of the Higher Education Opportunity Act. 

1. Credit Hour: Federal regulation defines a credit hour as an amount of work represented in intended learning outcomes and 
verified by evidence of student achievement that is an institutional establ ished equivalence that reasonably approxi mates nOI less 
than: (I) One hour of classroom or direct faculty instruction and a minimum of two hours of Qut of class student work each week for 
approximately fi ftcen weeks for one semester or trimester hour of credit , or len 10 twelve weeks for one quarter hour of credit , or the 
equiva lent amount of work over a different amount of time; or (2) At least an equi va lent amount of work as required in pamgraph ( I) 
of th is definition for other academic acti vi ti es as establi shed by the inst itution including laboratory work, internships, practica, studio 
work , and other academic work leading to the award of credit hours. (CIH E Policy II I. Sec also Srandardsfor Accredirarion 4.34.) 

URL 
Print Publications 

Self-study/Interim Repon Page Reference pp. 28, 58-59 

2. Credit Transfer Policies . The institution 's policy on transfer of credit is publicly di sclosed through its webs ite and other 
rcJevam publications. The institut ion includes a statement of its criteria for transfer of credit earned at another institution of higher 
education along with a li st of institutions with which it has aniculation agreements. (el HE Policy 95. See also Standards for 
Accredifatiol1 4.38, 4.39 and 9.19.) 

URL h tlp:1I www.bgsp.cdu/wp-contentluploads/20 14/03/Student-
Handbook-20 14.pdf 

Print Publications Student Hand book 
Self-studyllntcrim Repon Pa~e Reference pp.27, 58 

3. Student Complaints. "Policies on student rights and responsibilities, including grievance procedures, are clearly stated, well 
publicized and readily available, and fairly and consistentl y admini stered ." (Sral/dards for Accredilarioll 5,18, 9.8, and 9.19.) 

URL hup://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
contenUupioadsl20 14/03/Studenl-Handbook-20 14.pdf 

Print Publications Student Handbook 
Self-study/Interim Report Page Reference pp.33,29 

4_ Distance and Correspondence Education: Verification of Student Identity: If the institut ion offcrs distance 
education or correspondence education, it has processes in place to estab li sh that the student who registers in a di stance education or 
correspondence education course or program is the same student who participates in and completcs the program and receives the 
academic credit. ... TIle institution protects student privacy and notifies students at the time of regi stration or enrollment of any 
projected additional student charges associated with the verification of student identity. (CIH E Po licy 95. See al so Srandardsfor 
Accreditariol1 4.48. ) 

Method(s) used for verification Al1 students will be face- to-face 

Self-study/Interim Report Page Reference p.59 

5, FOR COMPREHENSIVE EVALUATIONS ONLY: Public Notification of an Evaluation Visit and 
Opportunity for Public Comment: The institution has made an appropriate and timely effort to notify the public of an 
upcoming comprehensive eva luation and to so licit comments. (CIH E Policy 77.) 

URL 
Print Publications 

Self-study Page Reference 

The undersigned affinns that Bod...,.", ~\..lC\.k £L~O' \ • f. rSJ(t,s~i~u~~~~~e) meets the above federa l 
requirements relating to Title [V program participation, including those enumerated above. 

Chief Executive Officer: ~<~AfJl:P 
March, 2016 

Date: 
I I 
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To the Board of Directors of 

DAN CLASBY & COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants 

-1-

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. 
Brookline, Massachusetts 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. (a 
nonprofit organization), which comprise the statements of financial position as of July 31, 2015 and 2014, and the 
related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that 
we plan and perfonn the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. as of July 31, 2015 and 2014, and the changes in its net assets and its 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Beverly, Massachusetts 
December 10, 2015 

100 Cummings Center, Suite 238C, Beverly, MA 01915 • Telephone 978-922-9900 • Fax 978-922-3233 
email: ClasbyCo@msn.com 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable, net 
Prepaid expenses and other 
Long-term investments 
Property and equipment, net 

Total Assets 

Note payable - demand 
Accounts payable 
Deferred revenue 
Accrued expenses 
Mortgage payable 

Total liabilities 

Net assets: 
Unrestricted 

U ndesignated 
Board designated 

Total net assets 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 

Statements of Financial Position 

July 31, 2015 and 2014 

Assets 

Liabilities and Net Assets 

$ 94,147 
53,173 
19,930 

1,985,035 
1,067,801 

$ 3,220,086 

$ 100,000 
50,718 
80,692 
69,028 

726 2852 

12027290 

207,761 
12985 2035 

22 1922796 

$ 3,220,086 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

$ 35,739 
41,057 
41,398 

2,008,664 
1,140,683 

$ 3,267,541 

$ 100,000 
25,666 
66,312 
14,900 

755 2 148 

962 2026 

296,851 
22008 2664 

2305515 

$ 3,267,541 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Statements of Activities and Changes in Net Assets 

Years Ended July 31,2015 and 2014 

Operating: 
Revenue: 
Tuition and fees 
Net program revenue - New York, New Jersey 

Less scholarship and student aid 

Net student fees 

School based program 
Contributions 
Grants 
Investment income 

Total revenue 

Expenses: 
Instruction and training 
Financial and general management 
Property and plant 
Public relations 
Academic administration 
Information resources 
Student services 
Depreciation and amortization 

Total expenses 

Change in unrestricted net assets from operations 

Nonoperating: 
Net realized and unrealized gains on investments 
Unrealized gain/Closs) on fair value of interest rate swap 

Nonoperating change in net assets 

Change in net assets 

Net assets, beginning of year 

Net assets, end of year 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

$ 1,343,909 
59)55 

1,403,164 
( 1042246) 

1,298,918 

75,488 

56 2812 

1A31 2218 

641,247 
256,077 
184,629 
137,993 
92,850 
79,330 

115,659 
72 2883 

125802668 

( 149A50) 

56,835 
( 202104) 

362731 

( 112,719) 

22305,515 

$ 2,192,796 

$ 1,211,808 
73 2205 

1,285,013 
( 71J56) 

1,213,257 

30,000 
51,266 

642086 

12358 2609 

661,875 
262,506 
181,737 
237,551 

83,450 
83,514 

126,662 
702819 

L708J14 

( 3492505) 

59,966 
( 82631) 

5L335 

( 298,170) 

22603 2685 

$ 2,305,515 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended July 31,2015 and 2014 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Change in net assets 
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets 
to net cash provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation 
Net realized and unrealized gains on investments 
Unrealized gain/Closs) on fair value of interest rate swap 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Deferred revenue 

Net cash provided/(used) by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Purchases of equipment and building improvements 
Investment purchases 
Investment sales/maturities 

Net cash provided by investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Principal payments on long-term debt 
Proceeds from line of credit, net 

Net cash provided/(used) by financing activities 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 

Supplemental data: 
Interest paid 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

$ (112,719) $ (298,170) 

$ 

72,883 
( 56,835) 

20,104 

( 12,116) 
1,364 

25,052 
54,128 
14,380 

61241 

(321,278) 
401,741 

80,463 

( 28,296) 

( 28296) 

58,408 

35)39 

94,147 

$ 31,695 

$ 

70,819 
( 59,966) 

8,631 

30,256 
24,467 
14,986 

( 81,992) 
27,852 

(263) 17) 

( 77,118) 
(331,645) 
505 1598 

96 1835 

( 27,196) 
1001000 

721804 

( 93,478) 

129217 

35,739 

$ 30,501 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(1) Nature of Activities 

The Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. (BGSP or the Organization) is a private, 
not-for-profit degree-granting institution for higher education chartered by the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts. 

BGSP was founded in 1973 to provide psychoanalytic education, clinical training, and research 
skills to a diverse student community. Unlike traditional post-graduate psychoanalytic training 
programs, BGSP offers Master's degrees in Psychoanalysis, Psychoanalytic Counseling, and 
Psychoanalysis and Culture, as well as the Doctor of Psychoanalysis degree in both 
Psychoanalysis and Psychoanalysis and Culture .. In addition, BGSP offers its original post
graduate Certificate in Psychoanalysis. BGSP is accredited by the New England Association of 
Schools and Colleges. 

BGSP is governed by its Board of Trustees, which commonly controls the New York Graduate 
School of Psychoanalysis (NYGSP). NYGSP is an independent entity and is accredited as a 
branch campus of BGSP. 

The Organization is primarily supported by tuition, registration, and program revenues. 

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Accounting and Presentation 

These financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Income is 
recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when the obligation is incurred. 

Financial statement presentation follows the recommendations of the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board in its Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ASC 958, Financial 
Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations. Under ASC 958, the Organization is required to 
report information regarding its financial position and activities according to three classes of net 
assets; unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted. The Organization had no 
permanently restricted net assets at July 31, 2015. 

Measure of Operations 

The Organization's measure of operations presented in the statements of activities and changes 
in net assets includes revenues from tuition and fees, grants, contributions, school based 
programs, interest and dividend income and other miscellaneous sources. Operating expenses 
are reported by departmental categories, and depreciation. 

Nonoperating activities presented in the statements of activities and changes in net assets 
include net realized and unrealized gains or losses on investments and any gains or losses on 
debt-related derivative instruments. 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(2) Continued 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Organization considers cash equivalents as 
investments with maturities at date of purchase of three months or less. 

Fair Value 

Fair value is the price received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy 
prioritizes the inputs in fair value measurements and expands disclosures about fair value 
measurements. "Level 1" measurements are measurements using quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities. "Level II" measurements use significant other observable 
inputs. "Level III" measurements are measurements using significant unobservable inputs which 
require development of assumptions. In recording the fair value of its assets and liabilities, 
Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. uses Level I measurements. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Organization has given consideration to the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
Statement ASe 360, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (ASe 360) in its 
presentation of these financial statements. As of July 31, 2015, the Organization has not 
recognized any reduction in the carrying value of its property when considering Ase 360. 

Property and Equipment 

The Organization capitalizes all expenditures for property and equipment in excess of $1 ,000. 
Property and equipment are shown in the financial statements at historical cost, net of 
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the respective assets. 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(2) Continued 

Student Deposits and Deferred Revenue 

Student deposits, along with advance payments for tuition related to the next semester, have 
been deferred and will be reported as unrestricted as earned. 

Income Tax Status and Uncertainty of Income Taxes 

The Organization is exempt from federal income taxes as an organization (not a private 
foundation) formed for charitable purposes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. Contributions are deductible by donors within the requirements of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 

Management follows ASC Topic 740 relating to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. As 
required, management has evaluated its tax positions applying a "more likely than not" standard, 
and believes that there would be no material changes to the results of its operations or financial 
position as a result of an audit by the federal or state taxing authorities. Management has filed 
all of the organization's tax filings in a timely manner including, as permitted, allowed 
extensions. Years 2010 through 2014 remain subject to examination by the United States taxing 
authority. 

Management's Review 

Management has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure 
through December 10,2015, the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 

(3) Accounts Receivable 

At July 31, 2015 and 2014, the net accounts receivable totaled $53,173 and $41,057, 
respectively and consist of: 

2015 2014 

Tuition receivable $ 53,223 $ 41,207 
Pledges receivable 2,950 22850 

56,173 44,057 
Less: allowance for bad debts ( 32000) ( 32000) 

Accounts receivable, net $ 53,173 $ 41,057 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(4) Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists of the following at July 30: 

Land 
Buildings and improvements 
Furniture and equipment 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Net property and equipment 

$ 400,000 
1,696,311 

242,735 
2,339,046 

(1,271,245) 

$ 1.067,801 

$ 400,000 
1,696,311 

242,735 
2,339,046 

(1,198,363) 

$ 1.140,683 

Depreciation expense for the years ended July 31,2015 and 2014 amounted to $72,883 and 
$70,819, respectively. 

(5) Investments and Investment Return 

The Organization's investments are summarized as follows at July 31: 

Money Market / CD 
Mutual funds 
Corporate bonds 
Equities 
State of Israel bond 

Total investment securities 

Fair Value 
2015 2014 

$ 79,368 
55,939 

832,947 
1,015,781 

1,000 

$ 1.985,035 

$ 130,335 
80,517 

775,199 
1,021,613 

1,000 

$ 2,008,664 

The aggregate net unrealized gains are $284,397 and $232,509 at July 31,2015 and 2014, 
respectively. 

Investment return for the years ended July 31,2015 and 2014 follows: 

Dividend and interest income 
Realized gain/(loss) on sales of investments, net 
Unrealized gain/(loss) on investments, net 
Investment management fees 

Net investment return 

$ 56,812 
11,067 
45,768 

( 16,939) 

$ 96,708 

$ 64,086 
38,537 
21,429 

( 17,691) 

$ 106,361 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(6) Fair Value Measurements 

The Organization has evaluated the results of the fair value hierarchy as of July 31,2015 as 
follows: 

Financial Instruments Measured 
at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis: 

Investments 

(7) Note Payable-Demand 

Carrying 
Value 

Quoted prices 
In Acti ve Markets 

for Identical Assets 
(Levell) 

$ 1,985,035 $ 1,985,035 

Significant 
Significant Other 
Observable Unobservable 

inputs Inputs 
(Level 2) (Level 3) 

$ -0- $ -0-

The Organization has a revolving line of credit not to exceed $100,000 with TD Banle The note 
carries interest at the prime rate and expires upon lender demand. The outstanding balance at 
July 31, 2015 and 2014 was $100,000. The line of credit is subject to the same security 
agreement as the mortgage. 

(8) Mortgage Payable 

The Organization has a mortgage note payable with TD Banle This mortgage was originally 
$1,000,000 and was obtained on November 16, 2001 to refinance condominium units #1,2,3,4,6 
& 7, at 1581-1583 Beacon Street, Brookline, MA. This note is secured by a mortgage, security 
agreement, and a conditional assignment of income or leases. 

Effective November 1,2012, The Organization amended its existing mortgage with TD Bank. The 
amended mortgage has an opening balance of$800,000 maturing November 1,2022, amortized on a 
20 (twenty) year basis. In connection with the amended mortgage, the Organization entered into a 
floating.,.to-fixed rate swap to manage the risk of increased debt service costs resulting from rising 
variable interest rates. The swap consists of an $800,000, ten-year floating-to-fixed rate swap 
whereby the Organization pays a fixed rate of 3.905% and receives the LIBOR-BBA rate. The 
notional amount of the swap will decline until maturity on November 1, 2022. 

Interest expense on the mortgage was $31,695 and $30,421 for the years ended July 31,2015 and 
2014, respectively, and is included in property and plant expense on the statements of activities and 
changes in net assets. 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(8) Continued 

The Organization is required to comply with certain financial covenants as listed in the credit and 
security agreement with TD Bank. At July 31, 2015 the Organization is not in compliance with all 
of the requirements. 

The amount of future required principal payments for this mortgage is as follows: 

(9) Derivatives 

Year Ending 

July 3 1, 2016 
July 31, 2017 
July 31, 2018 
July 31,2019 
July 31, 2020 
Thereafter 

$ 29,478 
30,711 
31,968 
33,592 
35,316 

565,787 

$ 726,852 

On November 1, 2014 the Organization entered into an interest rate swap to manage the interest rate 
exposure of its variable rate debt. The swap is recorded at fair value, which is the estimated amount 
that the Organization would receive or pay to terminate the agreement, taking into account current 
interest rates and the current credit-worthiness of the swap counterparty. Cost of regular settlements 
with the counterparty of $12,490 during the year ended July 31,2015, is included in interest expense 
in the statements of activities and changes in net assets. Change in the swap's fair value during the 
year ended July 31, 2015, resulted in an unrealized loss of $20,104, which is included in 
nonoperating changes in net assets in the Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets. The 
fair value of the swap was a liability of$I,272 at July 31,2015 and an asset of$18,882 atJuly 31, 
2014, respectively, and is included in prepaid expenses and other in the Statements of Financial 
Position. 

The Organization's externally managed investment funds may include derivatives. The fair value of 
any such derivatives is included in the calculation of the fair values of the Organization's 
investments in such funds. 
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BOSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(10) Endowment Fund 

The Organization has a board designated endowment for long term investment. The board 
designated endowment allows use of net dividend and interest income for operations while 
reinvesting gains and losses. 

Changes to the unrestricted board designated endowment are as follows: 

Endowment, beginning of year 
Contributions 
Board releases 
Investment return: 
Investment income 
Unrealized and realized gains 

Year Ended 
July 31, 2015 

$ 2,008,664 

( 120,000) 

96 2371 

Endowment, end of year $ 1,985,035 

Endowment investment and spending policies 

Year Ended 
July 31, 2014 

$ 2,008,664 

120,000) 

1062013 

$ 2,008,664 

The Organization has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that provide 
unrestricted revenue. The Organization's spending and investment policies work together to 
maximize this revenue. The investment policy establishes an achievable return objective through 
diversification of asset classes. To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Organization 
relies on a total return strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital 
appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). The current 
spending policy is to distribute the net investment income of the endowment funds while 
maintaining the corpus. 
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To the Board of Directors of 

DAN CLASBY & COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants 

-1-

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

New York Graduate School of Psychoanalysis 
Brookline, Massachusetts 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of New York Graduate School of Psychoanalysis (a 
nonprofit organization), which comprise the statements of financial position as of July 31,2015 and 20 I 4, and 
the related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

. risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of New York Graduate School of Psychoanalysis as of July 31,2015 and 2014, and the changes in its 
net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Beverly, Massachusetts 
December 10, 20 IS 

100 Cummings Center, Suite 238C, Beverly, MA 01915. Telephone 978-922-9900 • Fax 978-922-3233 
email: ClasbyCo@msn.com 
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NEW YORK GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable, net 

Total Assets 

Statements of Financial Position 

July 31 , 2015 and 2014 

Assets 

Liabilities and Net Assets 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Deferred revenue 

Total liabilities 

Net assets: 
Unrestricted 

Total net assets 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

2015 

$ 2,155 
3,140 

$ 5,295 

$ 5,295 

5,295 

$ 5,295 

2014 

$ 2,553 
23,379 

$ 25,932 

$ 25,932 

25,932 

$ 25,932 
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NEW YORK GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS 

Statements of Activities and Changes in Net Assets 

Years Ended July 31,2015 and 2014 

Operating: 
Revenue: 
Tuition and fees 
Less scholarship and student aid 

Net student fees 

Government grant - library 

Total revenues 

Expenses: 
Management fees: 
CMPS 
Boston Graduate School 

Institutional support 
Instruction 

Total expenses 

Change in unrestricted net assets from operations 

Net assets, beginning of year 

Net assets, end of year 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

$ 154,347 
59,255 

$ 290,487 
( 1,558) 

288,929 

288,929 

213,602 
12,591 
62,736 

288,929 

$=== 

2014 

$ 213,080 
73,205 

$ 335,505 
( 8,384) 

327,121 

29,144 

356,265 

286,285 
7,683 

62,297 

356,265 

$=== 
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NEW YORK GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended July 31,2015 and 2014 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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NEW YORK GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(1) Nature of Activities 

The New York Graduate School of Psychoanalysis (NYGSP or the Organization) is a private, 
not-for-profit, degree-gran~ing institution for higher education. NYGSP was chartered by the 
New York State Board of Regents in 2005 to provide psychoanalytic education to a diverse 
student community. NYGSP offers the Master of Arts degree in Psychoanalysis, allowing 
students to prepare for post-graduate psychoanalytic training. NYGSP is governed by its Board 
of Trustees, which is commonly controlled by the Board of Trustees of the Boston Graduate 
School of Psychoanalysis (BGSP). NYGSP is accredited by the New England Association of 
Schools and Colleges as BGSP's branch campus. 

The Organization is primarily supported by tuition, registration, and program revenues. 

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Accounting and Presentation 

These financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Income is 
recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when the obligation is incurred. 

Financial statement presentation follows the recommendations of the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board in its Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ASC 958, Financial 
Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations. Under ASC 958, the Organization is required to 
report information regarding its financial position and activities according to three classes of 
net assets; unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted. The Organization 
had no permanently restricted net assets at J ul y 31, 2015. 

Measure of Operations 

The Organization's measure of operations presented in the statements of activities and changes 
in net assets includes revenues from tuition and fees, grants, contributions, school based 
programs, interest and dividend income and other miscellaneous sources. Operating expenses 
are reported by departmental categories, and depreciation. 

Nonoperating activities presented in the statements of activities and changes in net assets 
include net realized and unrealized gains or losses on investments and any gains or losses on 
debt-related derivative instruments. 
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NEW YORK GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PSYCHOANALYSIS 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(2) Continued 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Organization considers cash equivalents as 
investments with maturities at date of purchase of three months or less . 

Income Tax Status and Uncertainty of Income Taxes 

The Organization is exempt from federal income taxes as an organization (not a private 
foundation) formed for charitable purposes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. Contributions are deductible by donors within the requirements of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 

Management follows ASC Topic 740 relating to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. 
As required, management has evaluated its tax positions applying a "more likely than not" 
standard, and believes that there would be no material changes to the results of its operations or 
financial position as a result of an audit by the federal or state taxing authorities. Management 
has filed all of the organization's tax filings in a timely manner including, as permitted, allowed 
extensions. Years 2010 through 2014 remain subject to examination by the United States 
taxing authority. 

Management's Review 

Management has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure 
through December 10, 2015, the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 
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DAN CLASBY & COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants 

November 30,2015 

Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. 
1581 Beacon Street 
Brookline, MA 02446 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Boston Graduate School of 
Psychoanalysis, Inc. for the year ended July 31, 2015, we considered the School's internal 
controls in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on internal controls. 

The memorandum that accompanies this letter summarizes our comments regarding operations 
and internal control matters. This letter does not affe'ct our report dated November 30, 2014 on 
the financial statements of Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. 

We will review the status of these comments during our next audit engagement. We have 
already discussed many of these comments with various School personnel, and we will be 
pleased to discuss them in further detail at your convenience. 

Sincerely, 

Dan Clasby & Company 

100 Cummings Center, Suite 238C, Beverly, MA 01915. Telephone 978-922-9900 • Fax 978-922-3233 
email: ClasbyCo@msn.com 
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1. Operations Discussion and Analysis 

Overview 

Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis (The "School") experienced a decrease in net 
assets of $112,719 for the year ended J ul y 31, 2015, compared with a decrease in net assets of 
$298,170 for the year ended J ul y 31, 2014 and an increase in net assets of $63,186 for the year 
ended July 3 1, 2013. 

Total assets were $3,220,086 at July 31, 2015, a decrease of $47,461 from July 31, 2014, 
which in turn, was $264,520 less than the total assets at July 31, 2013. Total liabilities increased 
by $65,264 for the year ended July 31, 2015, as compared with an increase of $33,650 for the 
year ended July 31, 2014. 

Results of Operations 

The School's income is generated principally by tuition and fees, gifts, grants, contributions 
and investment income. Net student tuition and fees for the year ended July 31,2015 (FY 2015) 
increased by $85,661, a 7.06% increase from FY 2014. After factoring the general inflation rate 
of .4% (the rate excludes food and energy) for the year ended July 31,2015, in constant dollars 
tuition and fees increased by $80,808, an increase of 6.66%. 

Gifts, grants and contributions for FY 2015 increased by $24,222; investment Income 
decreased by $7,274. 

The School's expenses consist primarily of teacher salaries and related expenses, and general 
and administrative expenses necessary to support operations. Instructional expenses (faculty 
salaries and related payroll taxes and benefits) decreased by $20,628 a decrease of 3.1 % in FY 
2015. Stated in constant dollars instructional expenses decreased by $23,276 or 3.5%. Financial 
and general management expenses decreased by $6,429, a 2.45% decrease. In constant dollars 
financial and general management expenses decreased by $7,479, a 2.85% decrease. 

Property and plant expenses increased by $2,892, a 1.6% increase. Stated in constant dollars 
property and plant expenses increased by $2,165, a 1.2 % increase. 

Academic administration expenses increased by $9,400, an 11.30/0 increase. Stated in 
constant dollars the increase was $9,066, a 10.90/0 increase. The increase was attributable to an 
increase in salaries and related payroll taxes allocated to this function. Public relations expenses 
decreased by 99,558, a 41.9% decrease. Stated in constant dollars the decrease was $100,508, a 
42.30/0 decrease. The decrease was mainly attributable to a decrease in salaries allocated to this 
function and related employee benefits and payroll taxes, along with a decrease in advertising 
and direct mail expenses. 

Information resources expenses decreased by $4,184, a 5.0% decrease. Stated in constant 
dollars these expenses decreased by $4,518 a 5.4% decrease. Student services expenses 
decreased by $11,003, an 8.7% decrease. Stated in constant dollars the decrease was $11,510, a 
9.1 % decrease. The decrease was attributable to a decrease in contracted services. 



Review of Financial Ratios 

The first ratio portrays tuition and fees as a percentage of operating expenses. The higher the 
ratio the better as one of the primary financial objectives is to have the tuition and fees cover the 
operating expenses. The School's ratio improved from FY 2014 due to the increase in tuition 
and fees in FY 2014. 

The second ratio portrays other revenue sources (gifts, grants, contributions and investment 
income) as a percentage of operating expenses. A low ratio indicates less reliance on outside 
sources of revenue; however, a low ratio also impacts overall earnings negatively. Contributions 
increased in FY 2015. While the ratio remained constant. 

The third ratio is a derivative of the first two ratios. The ratio improved slightly in FY 2015. 

The fourth ratio reflects debt service as a percentage of total revenues. The ratio remained 
constant in FY 2015 and continues to remain under 10%, a target important to lending 
institutions. 

The fifth ratio portrays available assets to general liabilities, including long-term debt. The 
higher the ratio the better ~ with a target of greater than III being satisfactory to lending entities. 
Although the ratio was lower in FY 15 the School's ratio continues to be well above the target, 
reflecting a solid balance sheet. 

The sixth ratio indicates how many weeks of expenses could be supported by available assets. 
A minimum target of 8 - 10 weeks is necessary, which the School meets. The ratio improved in 
FY 15 but was lower than FY 13. 

The last ratio reflects the School's total debt to its Net Assets. Any ratio less than 211 is good. 
Although the School's ratio increased in FY 15 slight! y it remains very strong. 



2. Accounting and Internal Control Concerns 

Overview 

The size of the School's accounting and administrative staff precludes certain internal controls 
that would be preferred if the office staff were large enough to provide optimum segregation of 
duties. This situation dictates that the Officers continue to remain involved in the financial 
affairs through oversight and independent review functions (i.e., not signing a check unless 
proper documentation is provided to support the expenditure). As evidenced by the following 
comments, the accounting and administration staff continues to function at a very high level of 
competence. 

Cash 

Audit procedures pertaining to cash disclosed that the balances as presented in the balance 
sheet at July 31, 2015 properly reflected cash. In addition, cash balances were properly 
classified in the financial statements. All cash reconciliations were complete with reconciling 
items posted to the general ledger. Internal controls as established were found to be in good 
form at July 31, 2015. 

Investments 

The balances shown on the general ledger at July 31, 2015 reflected a complete listing of 
investments and the School's ownership of such assets was evidenced by securities or other 
appropriate legal documents either physically on hand or held in safekeeping by others. 

Fixed Assets 

The audit procedures performed pertaining to this area resulted in no adjustments. Proper 
adherence to the School's policies was noted pertaining to the capitalization of items. 

Other Assets 

All general ledger accounts tied to supporting documentation. No adjustments were 
suggested. 

Current Liabilities 

All general ledger accounts tied to supporting documentation. No adjustments were 
suggested. 

Accrued Expenses 

All general ledger accounts tied to supporting documentation. No adjustments were 
suggested. 



Ratio 

2 

4 

5 

6 

Tuition and Fees 

Educational & General Expenditures 

Other Revenue Sources 

Educational & General Expenditures 

Tuition and Fees 

Total Revenues 

Debt Service 

Unrestricted Expenditures 

Available Assets 

General Liabilities 

A vailable Assets 

Weekly Unrestricted Expenditures 

Total Debt 

Net Assets 

7/3112015 

1,298,918 

1,507,785 

132,300 

1.507.785 

1,298,918 

1,431,218 

59,991 

1,476,090 

2,132,355 

1,027,290 

2,132,355 

28,386 

1,027,290 

2,192,796 

0.86 

0.09 

Ml 

0.04 

2.08 

7.2 

0.47 

Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis 

7/3112014 

1,213,257 ~ 
1.637 ,295 

145,352 ~ 
1.637.295 

1,213,257 -.M2 
1,358,609 

57,617 ~ 
1,606,874 

2.085,460 -----.bll 
962 ,026 

2,085,460 ~ 
30,901 

962,026 ~ 

2,305,5 15 

Ratios 

7/31/2013 

1,413,103 

1,567 ,853 

144,200 

1.567.853 

1,413,103 

1,557,303 

66,479 

1,531,257 

2,323.181 

928,376 

2,323,181 

29,447 

928,376 

2,603,685 

0.90 

0 .09 

0.91 

0.04 

2.50 

12 

0.36 

7/3112012 

1,522,292 

1,537,432 

152,579 

1,537,432 

1,522,292 

1,674,871 

69,889 

1,523,049 

2,112,959 

753,689 

2,1 12,959 

29,289 

753,689 

2,540,499 

0.99 

0.10 

0.91 

0.05 

2.80 

7.1. 

0.30 

Description 

This ratio portrays tuition and fees as a percentage of expenditures. 

The expenditures exclude depreciation and amortization 
The higher the ratio the better. The goal is to have tuition growth 
outpace expenditure growth. 

This ratio portrays other revenue sources as a percentage of expenditures. 

The expenditures exclude depreciation and amortization 
The lower the ratio the better, as that will indicate less reliance 
on outside sources of revenue. However, increases in other revenue sources 
help improve overall earnings. 

This ratio reflects tuitions and fees as a percentage of total revenues. 

The higher the better. 

This ratio reflects debt service as a percentage of expenditures. 

Debt service is defined as principal and interest payments for mortgages 
and any other debt. This ratio includes all revenues and expenditures. 
A ratio of 10% or less is what lending entities would like to see . 

This ratio portrays available assets to general liabilities. 

A vailable assets are unrestricted cash, investments, recei vables, 
inventories, and physical properties . General liabilities are 
unrestricted accounts payable, accmed expenses, deferred revenue, 
mortgages payable, and other long term obligations. 
The higher the better. 

indicates how many weeks could be supported by available assets. 

This is a strong ratio as 8-10 weeks of suppl y is considered the minimum. 

The lower the ratio the better. Anything less than 211 is good. 

School's ratio is very strong. 
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Institution Name: Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis

 
OPE ID: ? Boston Campus:  031943-00

 
0

? 0 Certified: Qualified
Financial Results for Year Ending: ? July 31 Yes/No Unqualified
     Most Recent Year ? 2015 Yes Unqualified
     1 Year Prior 2014 Yes Unqualified
     2 Years Prior 2013 Yes Unqualified

Fiscal Year Ends on:  7/31 (month/day)

Budget / Plans
     Current Year 2016
     Next Year 2017

Contact Person: ? Carol M. Panetta, Psy.D.
     Title: V.P. of Finance and Institutional Relations
     Telephone No: 617-277-3915
     E-mail address panettac@bgsp.edu

 

Annual Audit

INTERIM REPORT FORMS
GENERAL INFORMATION
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Attach a copy of the current mission statement. See page 22 of Interim Report
Document Date Approved by the Governing Board

Institutional Mission Statement ? ? March 19, 2016

PLANNING

Year 
approved by 
governing 

board
Effective 

Dates Website location
Strategic Plans ? ? ?

Immediately prior Strategic Plan 2011 2011-2015

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2014/09/Strategic-Plan-
for-Web.pdf

Current Strategic Plan 2016 2016-19

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2016/08/Strategic-Plan-
for-Web.pdf

Next Strategic Plan n/a 2020-2023 n/a

Year 
completed

Effective 
Dates Website location

Other institution-wide plans*
Master plan
Academic plan
Financial plan
Technology plan
Enrollment plan
Development plan

Plans for major units (e.g., departments, library)* 
?

EVALUATION Website location
Academic program review

Program review system (colleges and departments). System last updated: ?
Program review schedule  (e.g., every 5 years)

*Insert additional rows, as appropriate.

Please attach to this form:
1)  A copy of the institution's organization chart(s).

Governing Board
By-laws coming soon

(Board and Internal Governance)

If there is a "sponsoring entity," such as a church or religious congregation, a state system, or a corporation, 
describe and document the relationship with the accredited institution.

Name of the sponsoring entity
Website location of documentation of relationship

Website location

Website Location
http://www.bgsp.edu/about/missi
on-opening-doors-to-
psychoanalysis/

Standard 1:  Mission and Purposes

Standard 3:  Organization and Governance

Standard 2:  Planning and Evaluation
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Board members' names and affiliations http://www.bgsp.edu/about/who-we-are/#board

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

http://www.bgsp.edu/about/who-we-are/#board�
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Campuses, Branches and Locations Currently in Operation (See definitions in comment boxes)
(Insert additional rows as appropriate.)

Date 
Initiated  

2 years 
prior

1 year   
prior

Current 
year

? (FY 2015) (FY 2016) (FY 2017)
? Main campus 2/22/1973 120 113 107
? Other principal campuses N/A N/A N/A
? Branch campuses (US) 1/25/2005 38 36 44
? Other instructional locations (US) 11/20/2014 7 18 16
? Branch campuses (overseas) N/A N/A N/A
? Other instructional locations (overseas) N/A N/A N/A

Educational modalities

Date First 
Initiated

2 years 
prior

1 year   
prior

Current 
year

Distance Learning Programs (FY2014) (FY 2015) (FY 2016)
Programs 50-99% on-line N/A 0 0 0
Programs 100% on-line N/A 0 0 0

? Correspondence Education N/A 0 0 0
Low-Residency Programs N/A 0 0 0
Competency-based Programs N/A 0 0 0
Dual Enrollment Programs N/A 0 0 0
Contractual Arrangements involving 
the award of credit N/A 0 0 0

*Enter the annual unduplicated headcount for each of the years specified below.  
 

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

N/A
N/A

Location (City, 
State/Country)

Number of programs

N/A

The New Jersey campus opened in Spring 2015, which is why enrollment is so low for FY 2014.

Livingston, NJ

N/A

Standard 3:  Organization and Governance
(Locations and Modalities)

N/A

Enrollment*

N/A
N/A

Enrollment*

N/A
N/A

Brookline, MA
N/A
New York, NY
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Degree Level/ Location & 
Modality

Associate'
s

Bachelor'
s Master's

Clinical 
doctorates 

(e.g., 
Pharm.D., 

DPT, DNP)

Professional 
doctorates (e.g., 
Ed.D., Psy.D., 

D.B.A.)

M.D., J.D., 
DDS Ph.D. Total Degree-

Seeking 

Main Campus FT 0 0 17 0 9 0 0 26

Main Campus PT 0 0 14 0 53 0 0 67

Other Principal Campus FT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Principal Campus PT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Branch campuses FT 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 10

Branch campuses PT 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 20

Other Locations FT 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Other Locations PT 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 12

Overseas Locations FT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Overseas Locations FT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Distance education FT

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Distance education PT

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Correspondence FT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Correspondence PT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Low-Residency FT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Low-Residency PT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unduplicated Headcount Total 0 0 74 0 62 0 0 136

Total FTE 0.00 0.00 51.00 0.00 35.50 0.00 0.00 86.50

Enter FTE definition:

FT=Enrollment in 3 
or more courses; 
PT=Enrollment in 2 
or fewer courses; 
FTE=FT+(1/2*PT)

FT=Enrollment in 3 
or more courses; 
PT=Enrollment in 2 
or fewer courses; 
FTE=FT+(1/2*PT)

FT=Enrollment in 3 
or more courses; 
PT=Enrollment in 2 
or fewer courses; 
FTE=FT+(1/2*PT)

Degrees Awarded, Most Recent 
Year 0 0 18 0 11 0 0 29

Notes:

3)  Please refer to form 3.2, "Locations and Modalities," for definitions of locations and instructional modalities.

* For programs not taught in the fall, report an analogous term's enrollment as of its Census Date.

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below
Fall 2015 enrollment and degrees awarded Fall 2015-Spring 2016

1)  Enrollment numbers should include all students in the named categories, including students in continuing education and students enrolled through 
any contractual relationship. 
2)  Each student should be recorded in only one category, e.g., students enrolled in low-residency programs housed on the main campus should be 
recorded only in the category "low-residency programs."

Standard 4:  The Academic Program
(Summary - Degree-Seeking Enrollment and Degrees)

Fall Enrollment* by location and modality, as of Census Date
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Degree Level/ Location & 
Modality

Title IV-Eligible 
Certificates:  Students 
Seeking Certificates

Non-Matriculated 
Students

Visiting 
Students

Total Non-degree-
Seeking 

Total degree-seeking 
(from previous page)

Grand 
total

Main Campus FT 0 0 0 0 26 26

Main Campus PT 7 14 0 21 67 88

Other Principal Campus FT 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Principal Campus PT 0 0 0 0 0 0

Branch campuses FT 0 0 0 0 10 10

Branch campuses PT 0 0 0 0 20 20

Other Locations FT 0 0 0 0 1 1

Other Locations PT 0 0 0 0 12 12

Overseas Locations FT 0 0 0 0 0 0

Overseas Locations FT 0 0 0 0 0 0
Distance education FT

0 0 0 0 0 0
Distance education PT

0 0 0 0 0 0

Correspondence FT 0 0 0 0 0 0

Correspondence PT 0 0 0 0 0 0

Low-Residency FT 0 0 0 0 0 0

Low-Residency PT 0 0 0 0 0 0
Unduplicated Headcount 
Total 7 14 0 21 136 157

Total FTE 3.50 7.00 11 86.50 97.00

Enter FTE definition:

FT=Enrollment in 3 or 
more courses; 
PT=Enrollment in 2 or 
fewer courses; 
FTE=FT+(1/2*PT)

FT=Enrollment in 3 
or more courses; 
PT=Enrollment in 2 
or fewer courses; 
FTE=FT+(1/2*PT)

FT=Enrollment in 3 
or more courses; 
PT=Enrollment in 2 
or fewer courses; 
FTE=FT+(1/2*PT)

FT=Enrollment in 3 or 
more courses; 
PT=Enrollment in 2 or 
fewer courses; 
FTE=FT+(1/2*PT)

Certificates Awarded, Most 
Recent Year 0

Notes:

* For programs not taught in the fall, report an analogous term's enrollment as of its Census Date.

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Standard 4:  The Academic Program
(Summary - Non-degree seeking Enrollment and Awards)

Fall Enrollment* by location and modality, as of Census Date

1)  Enrollment numbers should include all students in the named categories, including students in continuing education and students enrolled 
through any contractual relationship. 
2)  Each student should be recorded in only one category, e.g., students enrolled in low-residency programs housed on the main campus should be 
recorded only in the category "low-residency programs."
3)  Please refer to form 3.2, "Locations and Modalities," for definitions of locations and instructional modalities.
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3 Years 2 Years 1 Year Current Next Year
Prior Prior Prior Year Forward (goal)

For Fall Term, as of Census Date (Fall 2     ) (Fall 2     ) (Fall 2    ) (Fall 2    ) (Fall 2     )
Certificate 
Associate 
Baccalaureate 
Total Undergraduate 0 0 0 0 0

3 Years 2 Years 1 Year Current Next Year
Prior Prior Prior Year Forward (goal)

For Fall Term, as of Census Date (Fall 2013) (Fall 2014) (Fall 2015) (Fall 2016) (Fall 2017)
Master's 69 62 74 68 68
Doctorate 73 66 62 67 65
First Professional 5 6 7 6 6
Other 17 23 14 18 18
Total Graduate 164 157 157 159 157
 

3 Years 2 Years 1 Year Current Next Year
Prior Prior Prior Year Forward (goal)

(Fall 2013) (Fall 2014) (Fall 2015) (Fall 2016) (Fall 2017)
Undergraduate 0 0 0 0 0
Graduate 635 585 625 615 688
Total 635 585 625 615 688

Main campus
Sessions embedded in a class 2 2 2 3 3
Free-standing sessions 2 2 2 3 3

Branch/other locations
Sessions embedded in a class 1 0 2 2 2
Free-standing sessions 0 0 2 2 2

Online sessions
URL of Information Literacy Reports

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Standard 4:  The Academic Program
(Headcount by UNDERGRADUATE Program Type)

Credit hours generated include coursework only (no directed research or clinical supervision).

Standard 4:  The Academic Program
(Headcount by GRADUATE Program Type)

Standard 4:  The Academic Program
(Credit Hours Generated at the Undergraduate and Graduate Levels)

Standard 4:  The Academic Program
(Information Literacy sessions)
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?
Credit Seeking Students Only  -  Including Continuing Education

3 Years 2 Years 1 Year Current Goal 
Prior Prior Prior Year (specify year)

(2013-14) (2014-15) (2015-16) (2016-17) (2017-18)
Freshmen - Undergraduate ?

Completed Applications ?
Applications Accepted ?
Applicants Enrolled ?

 % Accepted of Applied - - - - -
% Enrolled of Accepted - - - - -

Percent Change Year over Year
     Completed Applications na - - - -
     Applications Accepted na - - - -
     Applicants Enrolled na - - - -
Average of statistical indicator of 
aptitude of enrollees: (define below) ?

Transfers - Undergraduate ?
Completed Applications
Applications Accepted
Applications Enrolled

 % Accepted of Applied - - - - -
 % Enrolled of Accepted - - - - -

Master's Degree ?
Completed Applications 32 38 47 36 46
Applications Accepted 24 33 42 30 39
Applications Enrolled 19 27 28 23 32

% Accepted of Applied 75.0% 86.8% 89.4% 83.3% 84.8%
% Enrolled of Accepted 79.2% 81.8% 66.7% 76.7% 82.1%

First Professional Degree ?
Completed Applications 4 4 2 3 3
Applications Accepted 2 3 2 2 2
Applications Enrolled 2 2 2 2 2

% Accepted of Applied 50.0% 75.0% 100.0% 66.7% 66.7%
% Enrolled of Accepted 100.0% 66.7% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Doctoral Degree ?
Completed Applications 14 18 9 14 22
Applications Accepted 13 15 8 12 20
Applications Enrolled 11 13 8 11 18

 % Accepted of Applied 92.9% 83.3% 88.9% 85.7% 90.9%
% Enrolled of Accepted 84.6% 86.7% 100.0% 91.7% 90.0%

Total Graduate ?
Completed Applications 50 60 58 53 71
Applications Accepted 39 51 52 44 61
Applications Enrolled 32 42 38 36 52

 % Accepted of Applied 78.0% 85.0% 89.7% 83.0% 85.9%
% Enrolled of Accepted 82.1% 82.4% 73.1% 81.8% 85.2%

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Complete this form for each distinct student body identified by the institution (see Standard 5.1)

Standard 5:  Students

 Doctoral Degree section includes applicants who apply to PsyaD after completing one of BGSP's MA programs.  2017-
18 includes 7 new enrollees for the hybrid accelerated doctorate and 8 new enrollees for a new master's program in 
Social Justice. 

(Admissions, Fall Term)



Student Enrollment Data  (Fall term, census date) ?

Credit-Seeking Students Only  -  Including Continuing Education

 3 Years 2 Years 1 Year Current Next Year
Prior Prior Prior Year* Forward (goal)

GRADUATE BY PROGRAM (Fall 2013) (Fall 2014) (Fall 2015) (Fall 2016) (Fall 2017)
?

M.A. in Psychoanalysis, Boston  Full-Time Headcount ? 2               2               2               2               2               
                         Part-Time Headcount ? 2               1               3               2               2               
                         Directed Research Headcount 1               -            1               2               2               
                         Total Headcount 5               3               6               6               6               
                         Total FTE ? 3.5            2.5            4.0            4.0            4.0            

M.A. in Mental Health Counseling, Boston  Full-Time Headcount 13             14             14             14             14             
                         Part-Time Headcount 12             9               8               10             9               
                         Directed Research Headcount 3               2               2               2               3               
                         Total Headcount 28             25             24             26             26             
                         Total FTE 20.5           19.5           19.0           20.0           20.0           

M.A. in Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture, Boston  Full-Time Headcount 2               1               1               1               2               
                         Part-Time Headcount 1               1               -            1               -            
                         Directed Research Headcount 1               -            -            1               1               
                         Total Headcount 4               2               1               3               3               
                         Total FTE 3.0            1.5            1.0            2.0            2.5            

M.A. in Social Justice and Human Rights, Boston  Full-Time Headcount -            -            -            -            2               
proposed                          Part-Time Headcount -            -            -            -            6               

                         Directed Research Headcount -            -            -            -            -            
                         Total Headcount -            -            -            -            8               
                         Total FTE -            -            -            -            5.0            

M.A. in Psychoanalysis, New York  Full-Time Headcount 16             13             10             10             11             
                         Part-Time Headcount 19             20             20             20             20             
                         Total Headcount 35             33             30             30             31             
                         Total FTE 25.5           23.0           20.0           20.0           21.0           

M.A. in Psychoanalysis, New Jersey  Full-Time Headcount ? -            -            -            -            -            

F&E Data Forms - Enrollment Breakdown



                         Part-Time Headcount -            -            2               3               3               
                         Total Headcount -            -            2               3               3               
                         Total FTE -            -            1.0            1.5            1.5            

M.A. in Mental Health Counseling, New Jersey  Full-Time Headcount -            -            1               2               3               
                         Part-Time Headcount -            -            10             13             13             
                         Total Headcount -            -            11             15             16             
                         Total FTE -            -            6.0            8.5            9.5            

Psya.D., Boston  Full-Time Headcount 10             4               5               5               5               
                         Part-Time Headcount 34             35             31             33             33             
                         Directed Research Headcount 12             17             16             15             16             
                         Total Headcount 56             56             52             53             54             
                         Total FTE 33.0           30.0           28.5           29.0           29.5           

Psya.D., Hybrid Version  Full-Time Headcount -            -            -            -            -            
                         Part-Time Headcount -            -            -            -            7               
                         Directed Research Headcount -            -            -            -            -            
                         Total Headcount -            -            -            -            7               
                         Total FTE -            -            -            -            3.5            

Psya.D. in Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture, Boston  Full-Time Headcount 6               3               4               3               4               
                         Part-Time Headcount 4               3               2               2               3               
                         Directed Research Headcount 9               9               5               8               7               
                         Total Headcount 19             15             11             13             14             
                         Total FTE 12.5           9.0            7.5            8.0            9.0            

Certificate Programs, Boston  Full-Time Headcount -            -            -            -            -            
                         Part-Time Headcount 5               5               7               5               8               
                         Directed Research Headcount -            2               -            2               2               
                         Total Headcount 5               7               7               7               10             
                         Total FTE 2.5            3.5            3.5            3.5            5.0            

Continuing Education (non-matriculated), Boston  Full-Time Headcount -            -            -            -            -            
                         Part-Time Headcount -            3               2               5               
                         Directed Research Headcount -            -            -            -            -            
                         Total Headcount -            -            3               2               5               
                         Total FTE -            -            1.5            1.0            2.5            



(Fall 2013) (Fall 2014) (Fall 2015) (Fall 2016) (Fall 2017)
Boston Total Graduate Students
                         Full-Time Headcount 33             24             26             25             29             
                         Part-Time Headcount 58             54             54             55             73             
                         Directed Research Headcount 26             30             24             30             31             
                         Total Headcount 117 108 104 110           133           
                         Total FTE 75.0           66.0           65.0           67.5           81.0           

New York Total Graduate Students
                         Full-Time Headcount 16             13             10             10             11             
                         Part-Time Headcount 19             20             20             20             20             
                         Total Headcount 35             33             30             30             31             
                         Total FTE 25.5           23.0           20.0           20.0           21.0           

New Jersey Total Graduate Students
                         Full-Time Headcount -            -            1               2               3               
                         Part-Time Headcount -            -            12             16             16             
                         Total Headcount -            -            13             18             19             
                         Total FTE -            -            7.0            10.0           11.0           

All Campuses Total Graduate Students
                         Full-Time Headcount 49             37             37             37             43             
                         Part-Time Headcount 77             74             86             91             109           
                         Directed Research Headcount 26             30             24             30             31             
                         Total Headcount 152           141           147           158           183           
                         Total FTE 100.5         89.0           92.0           97.5           113.0         
     % Change FTE na -11.4% 3.4% 6.0% 15.9%



Revised April 2016 8

?
Credit-Seeking Students Only  -  Including Continuing Education

3 Years 2 Years 1 Year Current Goal 
Prior Prior Prior Year (specify year)

(FY 2014    ) (FY 2015    ) (FY 2016    ) (FY 2017    ) (FY 2018   )
UNDERGRADUATE ?
First Year         Full-Time Headcount ?

Part-Time Headcount ?
Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
 Total FTE ?

Second Year      Full-Time Headcount
Part-Time Headcount
Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
Total FTE

Third Year        Full-Time Headcount
Part-Time Headcount
Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
Total FTE

Fourth Year      Full-Time Headcount
                       Part-Time Headcount
                       Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
                       Total FTE
Unclassified       Full-Time Headcount ?
                       Part-Time Headcount
                       Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
                       Total FTE
Total Undergraduate Students
                       Full-Time Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
                       Part-Time Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
                       Total Headcount 0 0 0 0 0
                       Total FTE 0 0 0 0 0
     % Change FTE Undergraduate na - - - -
GRADUATE ?
                        Full-Time Headcount ? 49 37 37 37 43
                        Part-Time Headcount ? 103 104 110 121 140
                        Total Headcount 152 141 147 158 183
                        Total FTE ? 100.5 89.0 92.0 97.5 113.0
     % Change FTE Graduate na -11.4% 3.4% 6.0% 15.9%
GRAND TOTAL
Grand Total Headcount 152 141 147 158 183
Grand Total FTE 101 89 92 98 113
     % Change Grand Total FTE na -11.4% 3.4% 6.0% 15.9%

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Standard 5:  Students

Complete this form for each distinct student body identified by the institution (see Standard 5.1)
(Enrollment, Fall Term)
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? Where does the institution describe the students it seeks to serve?  

 (FY 2011) (FY 2012) (FY 2013)
? Three-year Cohort Default Rate 7.2 5.4 1.6
? Three-year Loan repayment rate n/a n/a n/a

(from College Scorecard)

3 Years 
Prior

2 Years 
Prior

Most 
Recently 

Completed 
Year

Current 
Year

Goal 
(specify 

year)

(2013-14) (2014-15) (2015-16) (2016-17) (2017-18)
? Student Financial Aid

Total Federal Aid
Grants - $7,335 $10,542 $5,959 $7,945
Loans $1,160,516 $1,083,850 $1,055,433 $1,099,933 $1,079,738
Work Study - - - - -

Total State Aid - - - - -
Total Institutional Aid

Grants $73,412 $81,270 $51,222 $68,634 $67,042
Loans - - - - -

Total Private Aid
Grants - - $3,000 $1,000 $1,333
Loans - $4,500 $25,500 $10,000 $13,333

Student Debt
Percent of students graduating with debt (include all students who graduated in this calculation)

Undergraduates - - - - -
Graduates 47% 50% 52% 50% 51%
First professional students 50% 0% - 25% 25%

For students with debt:
Average amount of debt for students leaving the institution with a degree

Undergraduates - - - - -
Graduates $62,893 $67,109 $116,836 $82,279 $88,741
First professional students $5,076 - - $1,692 $564

Average amount of debt for students leaving the institution without a degree
Undergraduates - - - - -
Graduate Students $33,577 $45,895 $23,842 $34,438 $34,725
First professional students - - - - -

Percent of First-year students in Developmental Courses (courses for which no credit toward a degree is granted)
English as a Second/Other Language
English (reading, writing, communication skills)
Math
Other 

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Complete this form for each distinct student body identified by the institution (see Standard 5.1)
(Financial Aid, Debt, Developmental Courses)

Standard 5:  Students
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3 Years 2 Years 1 Year Current Year
Prior Prior Prior

(FY 2013    ) (FY 2014    ) (FY 2015    ) (FY 2016    )

? Number of Faculty by category
Full-time 15 15 20 20
Part-time 48 49 54 56
Adjunct
Clinical
Research
Visiting
Other; specify below:

     Total 63 64 74 76
Percentage of Courses taught by full-time faculty

50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

? Number of Faculty by rank, if applicable

Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor

Other; specify below:

     Total 0 0 0 0

? Number of Academic Staff by category
Librarians 1 1 1 1
Advisors 15 15 15 15
Instructional Designers
Other; specify below:

     Total 16 16 16 16

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Standard 6: Teaching, Learning, and Scholarship
(Faculty by Category and Rank; Academic Staff by Category, Fall Term)
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2 Years 1 Year 
Prior

FT PT FT PT FT PT FT PT
? Number of Faculty Appointed

Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor 6 1 5 7 2
No rank
Other
     Total 0 6 0 1 5 7 0 2

? Number of Faculty in Tenured Positions
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
     Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

? Number of Faculty Departing
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor 2 2
No rank
Other
     Total 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0

? Number of Faculty Retiring
Professor
Associate
Assistant
Instructor
No rank
Other
     Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(Appointments, Tenure, Departures,  Retirements, Teaching Load Full Academic Year)

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Prior

Standard 6: Teaching, Learning, and Scholarship

3 Years
Prior

(FY 2013    ) (FY 2014    ) (FY 2015    ) (FY 2016    )

Current Year
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2 Years 1 Year 
Prior

FT PT Total FT PT Total FT PT Total FT PT Total
Instructional Staff 10 33 43 8 21 29 12 25 37 10 25 35
Research Staff 0 1 1 1 1 1 1
Public Service Staff 0 0 0 0
Librarians 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Library Technicians 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Archivists, Curators, Museum 
staff 0 0 0 0

Student and Academic Affairs 1 1 2 2 0 2 2 1 3 2 1 3
Management Occupations 3 3 3 3 1 2 3 1 2 3
Business and Financial 
Operations 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Computer, Engineering and 
Science 0 0 0 0
Community, Social Service, 
Legal, Arts, Design, 
Entertainment, Sports, and 
Media 0 0 0 0
Healthcare Practitioners and 
Technical 0 0 0 0
Service Occupations 0 0 0 0
Sales and Related 
Occupations 0 0 0 0
Office and Administrative 
Support 2 1 3 2 2 2 2 2 1 3
Natural Resources, 
Construction, Maintenance 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Production, Transportation, 
Material Moving 0 0 0 0

Total 13 42 55 12 29 41 17 33 50 15 34 49

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Standard 7: Institutional Resources
(Headcount of Employees by Occupational Category)

For each of the occupational categories below, enter the data reported on the IPEDS Human Resources Survey (Parts B and 
D1) for each of the years listed.
If your institution does not submit IPEDS, visit this link for information about how to complete this form: 
https://surveys.nces.ed.gov/IPEDS/Downloads/Forms/package_1_43.pdf

Prior
(2012-13) (2013-14)

Prior
(2014-15) (2015-16)

Current Year
3 Years
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2 Years Prior                    
(2013-14)

1 Year Prior                     
(2014-15)

Most Recent 
Year (2015-16)

ASSETS (in 000s)

? Cash and Short Term Investments $35,739 $94,147 $65,752 163.4% -30.2%

? Cash held by State Treasurer $0 $0 $0 - -

? Deposits held by State Treasurer $0 $0 $0 - -

? Accounts Receivable, Net $41,057 $53,173 $5,171 29.5% -90.3%

? Contributions Receivable, Net $0 $0 $0 - -

? Inventory and Prepaid Expenses $41,398 $19,930 $21,436 -51.9% 7.6%

? Long-Term Investments $2,008,664 $1,985,035 $1,794,613 -1.2% -9.6%

? Loans to Students $0 $0 $0 - -

? Funds held under bond agreement $0 $0 $0 - -

? Property, plants, and equipment, net $1,140,683 $1,067,801 $1,002,801 -6.4% -6.1%

? Other Assets - -

 Total Assets  $3,267,541 $3,220,086 $2,889,773 -1.5% -10.3%

LIABILITIES (in 000s)

? Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $40,566 $119,746 $51,475 195.2% -57.0%

? Deferred revenue & refundable advances  $66,312 $80,692 $55,604 21.7% -31.1%

? Due to state $0 $0 $0 - -

? Due to affiliates $0 $0 $0 - -

? Annuity and life income obligations $0 $0 $0 - -

? Amounts held on behalf of others $0 $0 $0 - -

? Long-term debt $755,148 $726,852 $698,184 -3.7% -3.9%

? Refundable government advances $0 $0 $0 - -

? Other long-term liabilities  $100,000 $100,000 $0 0.0% -100.0%

Total Liabilities $962,026 $1,027,290 $805,263 6.8% -21.6%

NET ASSETS (in 000s)

Unrestricted net assets  

Institutional $2,305,515 $2,192,796 $2,084,510 -4.9% -4.9%

?      Foundation - -

     Total $2,305,515 $2,192,796 $2,084,510 -4.9% -4.9%

Temporarily restricted net assets

     Institutional - -

?      Foundation - -

     Total $0 $0 $0 - -

Permanently restricted net assets 

     Institutional - -

?      Foundation - -

     Total $0 $0 $0 - -

? Total Net Assets $2,305,515 $2,192,796 $2,084,510 -4.9% -4.9%

TOTAL LIABILITIES and NET ASSETS $3,267,541 $3,220,086 $2,889,773 -1.5% -10.3%

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

Standard 7:  Institutional Resources
(Statement of Financial Position/Statement of Net Assets)

Fiscal Year ends - month & day: (    7 /  31    )
Percent Change                                                 

2 yrs-1 yr prior            1 yr-most  recent            
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3 Years Prior         
(2013-14)

2 Years Prior                    
(2014-15)

Most Recently 
Completed Year              

(2015-16)   
Current Year          

(2016-17)

Next Year 
Forward           
(2017-18)   

Following Year 
(2018-19)

OPERATING REVENUES (in 000s)

? Tuition and fees $1,211,808 $1,343,909 $1,325,062 $1,357,400 $1,499,805 $1,579,634

? New York & New Jersey campus net revenue $73,205 $59,255 $65,000 $66,359 $68,706 $72,499

? Less: Financial aid ($71,756) ($104,246) ($106,063) ($92,065) ($92,448) ($92,563)

Net student fees $1,213,257 $1,298,918 $1,283,999 $1,331,694 $1,476,063 $1,571,989

?  Government grants and contracts $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

?  Private gifts, grants and contracts $51,266 $75,488 $55,065 $64,998 $83,449 $83,034

?  Other auxiliary enterprises  $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Endowment income used in operations $64,086 $56,812 $49,578 $80,000 $72,151 $70,000

? Other revenue (specify): $30,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Other revenue (specify): $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Net assets released from restrictions $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

 Total Operating Revenues $1,358,609 $1,431,218 $1,388,642 $1,476,692 $1,631,663 $1,725,023
 OPERATING EXPENSES (in 000s)

?  Instruction $626,875 $606,247 $561,339 $562,893 $580,783 $596,654

? Research $35,000 $35,000 $35,000 $17,500 $35,000 $35,000

? Public Service $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

? Academic Support $83,450 $92,850 $92,600 $92,626 $94,246 $94,774

? Student Services $126,662 $115,659 $119,190 $126,513 $131,363 $135,206

? Institutional Support $543,571 $433,400 $435,509 $489,036 $505,342 $530,889

Fundraising and alumni relations $40,000 $40,000 $30,254 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000

?  Operation, maintenance of plant (if not allocated) $181,737 $184,629 $158,036 $170,070 $160,605 $164,992

?
Scholarships and fellowships (cash refunded by public 
institution) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

?  Auxiliary enterprises $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

?  Depreciation (if not allocated) $70,819 $72,883 $65,000 $69,806 $64,853 $64,898

? Other expenses (specify):

Other expenses (specify):

Total operating expenditures $1,708,114 $1,580,668 $1,496,928 $1,558,444 $1,602,192 $1,652,413

Fiscal Year ends - month& day: (     07 / 31      )

Standard 7:  Institutional Resources
(Statement of Revenues and Expenses)



Revised April 2016 14

Change in net assets from operations ($349,505) ($149,450) ($108,286) ($81,752) $29,471 $72,610 
NON OPERATING REVENUES (in 000s)

? State appropriations (net)

? Investment return

? Interest expense (public institutions)

Gifts, bequests and contributions not used in operations 

? Other (specify):  
Other (specify):
Other (specify):

Net non-operating revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Income before other revenues, expenses, gains, or 
losses ($349,505) ($149,450) ($108,286) ($81,752) $29,471 $72,610 

? Capital appropriations (public institutions)

? Other (specify):

TOTAL INCREASE/DECREASE IN NET ASSETS ($349,505) ($149,450) ($108,286) ($81,752) $29,471 $72,610 
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3 Years Prior           
(2013-14)

2 Years Prior 
(2014-15)

Most Recently 
Completed Year              

(2015-16)   
Current Year           

(2016-17)

Next Year 
Forward           
(2017-18)   

Debt  

Beginning balance $782,344 $755,148 $726,852 $698,184 $667,984

Additions $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

? Reductions ($27,196) ($28,296) ($28,668) ($30,200) ($31,730)

Ending balance $755,148 $726,852 $698,184 $667,984 $636,254

Interest paid during fiscal year $30,421 $30,501 $29,177 $27,850 $26,500

Current Portion $755,148 $726,852 $698,184 $667,984 $636,254

Bond Rating

Line(s) of Credit:  List the institutions line(s) of credit and their uses.  

Future borrowing plans (please describe)  

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

FISCAL YEAR ENDS month & day (    /    )

Standard 7:  Institutional Resources
(Statement of Debt)

Debt Covenants:  (1) Describe interest rate, schedule, and structure of payments; and (2) indicate whether the debt covenants are 
being met.   

BGSP has been approved by Eastern Bank for a $950,000 line of credit secured against its investment account.  See report narrative for details.

None.

The mortgage's effective interest rate after swap is 3.25%, with monthly swap payments.  Debt covenants are not currently being met, but 
BGSP received a waiver of the requirement for the past two years.  (See Appendix.)
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3 Years Prior           
(2013-14)

2 Years Prior 
(2014-15)

Most Recently 
Completed Year                 

(2015-16)   
Current Year           

(2016-17)

Next Year 
Forward           
(2017-18)   

NET ASSETS      

Net assets beginning of year $2,603,685 $2,305,515 $2,192,796 $2,084,510 $2,002,758

Total increase/decrease in net assets   ($298,170) ($112,719) ($108,286) ($81,752) $29,471

Net assets end of year  $2,305,515 $2,192,796 $2,084,510 $2,002,758 $2,032,229

FINANCIAL AID

Source of funds 

Unrestricted institutional  $73,412 $104,246 $106,063 $92,065 $92,448

Federal, state and private grants $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Restricted funds

Total $73,412 $104,246 $106,063 $92,065 $92,448

% Discount of tuition and fees

? % Unrestricted discount

?

FEDERAL FINANCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY COMPOSITE 
SCORE 3.0 na na na

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

FISCAL YEAR ENDS month & day (  7/31   )

Standard 7:  Institutional Resources
(Supplemental Data)

Please indicate your institution's endowment spending policy:  
The policy states that up to 4% may be spent on operations.  In practice, none was spent until 2012 and spending since then has been, at 
the Board's discretion, based on cash needs.
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3 Years
Prior

2 Years
Prior

1 Year
Prior Current Year

Next Year 
Forward 

(goal)
(FY 2    ) (FY2     ) (FY 2    ) (FY 2    ) (FY 2     )

IPEDS Retention Data
Associate degree students
Bachelors degree students

? IPEDS Graduation Data (150% of time)
Associate degree students
Bachelors degree students

? IPEDS Outcomes Measures Data
First-time, full time students

Awarded a degree within six years
Awarded a degree within eight years
Not awarded within eight years but still enrolled

First-time, part-time students
Awarded a degree within six years
Awarded a degree within eight years
Not awarded within eight years but still enrolled

Non-first-time, full-time students
Awarded a degree within six years
Awarded a degree within eight years
Not awarded within eight years but still enrolled

Non-first-time, part-time students
Awarded a degree within six years
Awarded a degree within eight years
Not awarded within eight years but still enrolled

? Other Undergraduate Retention/Persistence Rates (Add definitions/methodology in #1 below)
1
2
3
4
5
? Other Undergraduate Graduation Rates (Add definitions/methodology in # 2 below)
1
2
3
4
5

1

2
Note: complete this form for each distinct student body identified  by the institution (See Standard 8.1)

 

 
 
Definition and Methodology Explanations

 

Standard 8:  Educational Effectiveness
(Undergraduate Retention and Graduation Rates)

Student Success Measures/
Prior Performance and Goals
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? 6 years ago 4 years ago  6 years ago 4 years ago

? First-time, Full-time Students
    

 

Transferred to a different institution
Not graduated, never transferred, no longer enrolled   

? First-time, Part-time Students
 

 

Transferred to a different institution
Not graduated, never transferred, no longer enrolled

? Non-first-time, Full-time Students

Transferred to a different institution
Not graduated, never transferred, no longer enrolled

?

Transferred to a different institution
Not graduated, never transferred, no longer enrolled

3 Years
Prior

2 Years
Prior

1 Year
Prior Current Year

Next Year 
Forward (goal)

(F13 - S14) (F14 - S15) (F15 - S16) (F16 - S17) (F17 - S18)
Success of students pursuing higher degrees (add more rows as needed; add definitions/methodology in #1 below)

1
% of MA graduates from the Brookline 
campus 44% 75% 60% 60% 65%

2
% of MA graduates from the New 
York campus 100% 33% 50% 61% 48%

3
4

1
Graduates conducting psychotherapy 
or counseling in private practice 41% 15% 35% 30% 27%

2

Graduates conducting psychotherapy 
or counseling in an agency, school, or 
other institutional setting 23% 54% 26% 34% 38%

Measures of Student Achievement and Success/Institutional Performance and Goals

Degree from a different institution

Degree from original institution
Not graduated, still enrolled at original institution
Degree from a different institution

Not graduated, still enrolled at original institution
Degree from a different institution

Degree from original institution

Other measures of student success and achievement, including success of graduates in pursuing mission-related paths (e.g., 
Peace Corps, public service, global citizenship, leadership, spiritual formation) and success of graduates in fields for which they 
were not explicitly prepared (add more rows as needed; add definitions/methodology in #2 below)

Non-first-time, Part-time Students

Degree from a different institution

Degree from original institution
Not graduated, still enrolled at original institution

Standard 8:  Educational Effectiveness
(Student Success and Progress Rates and Other Measures of Student Success)

Degree from original institution
Not graduated, still enrolled at original institution

Bachelor Cohort Entering Associate Cohort Entering
Category of Student/Outcome Measure
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3
Graduates with other direct human 
service employment 5% 0% 4% 3% 2%

4

Graduates conducting human service 
administration in an agency, school, or 
other institutional setting 0% 0% 4% 1% 2%

5
Graduates teaching higher education in 
a related field 18% 8% 26% 17% 17%

6
Graduates employed in fields for which 
they were not explicitly prepared 5% 4% 4% 4% 4%
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?

Name of exam
# who 

took exam
# who 
passed

# who 
took exam

# who 
passed

# who 
took exam

# who 
passed

# who 
took exam

# who 
passed

1
2
3
4
5
?

Name of exam
# who 

took exam
# who 
passed

# who 
took exam

# who 
passed

# who 
took exam

# who 
passed

# who 
took exam

# who 
passed

1 2 2 2 2 2 2 0 0 
2
3
4
5
?

Major/time period * # of grads
# with 

jobs # of grads
# with 

jobs # of grads
# with 

jobs # of grads # with jobs
1
2
3
4
5

* Check this box if the program reported is subject to "gainful employment" requirements.
Web location of gainful employment report (if applicable)

3 Years
Prior

2 Years
Prior

1 Year
Prior

Current 
Year

Next Year 
Forward 

(goal)
(FY 2    ) (FY2     ) (FY 2    ) (FY 2    ) (FY 2     )

?
1
2
3
4
5
?
1
2
3
4
5

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

(F12 - S13) (F13 - S14 ) (F14 - S15) (F15 - S16)

Standard 8:  Educational Effectiveness
(Licensure Passage and Job Placement Rates and

Completion and Placement Rates for Short-Term Vocational Training Programs)

3-Years Prior 2 Years Prior 1 Year Prior
Most Recent

Year

State Licensure Examination Passage Rates 

National Licensure Passage Rates 

Job Placement Rates

Completion Rates

Completion and Placement Rates for Short-Term Vocational Training Programs for which students are eligible for 
Federal Financial Aid

National Counselor Examination for 
Licensure and Certification (NCE)

Placement Rates
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3 Years
Prior

2 Years
Prior

1 Year
Prior Current Year

Next Year 
Forward 

(goal)
(FY 2013) (FY 2014) (FY 2015) (FY 2016) (FY 2017)

? Master's Programs (Add definitions/methodology in #1 below)
 Retention rates first-to-second year 57% n=7 70% n=10 92% n=13 73% 78%
 Graduation rates @ 150% time                              FT 29% n=7 33% n=6 0% n=3 21% 18%

                                                                           PT 67% n=15 70% n=10 65% n=23 67% 67%
                                                                        Both 55% n=22 56% n=16 58% n=26 56% 57%
Average time to degree 4 4 4 4 4
Other measures, specify:

% of graduates attending part-time 68% 62% 88%
Graduation rates @ 150% time (excluding dropouts)   FT 100% n=2 100% n=2 N/A 100% 100%
                                                                               PT 83% n=12 78% n=9 88% n=17 83% 83%
                                                                            Both 86% n=14 82% n=11 88% n=17 85% 85%

? Clinical Doctoral Program (Add definitions/methodology in #2 below)
 Retention rates first-to-second year 100% n=2 89% n=9 92% n=12 94% 92%
 Graduation rates @ 150% time                              FT N/A N/A N/A

                                                                           PT 100% n=2 50% n=4 43% n=7 64% 52%
                                                                        Both 100% n=2 50% n=4 43% n=7 64% 52%
Average time to degree from pre-Candidacy level 14 n=7 20 n=1 13 n=6 16 16
Median time to degree from pre-Candidacy level 13 20 10.5
Average time to degree from Candidacy level 10 n=8 10 n=2 10 n=6 10 10
Median time to degree from Candidacy level 10.5 10 7.75
Other measures, specify:

% of graduates attending part-time 100% 100% 100%
Graduation rates @ 150% time (excluding dropouts)   FT N/A N/A N/A
                                                                               PT 100% n=2 100% n=2 60% n=5 87% 82%
                                                                            Both 100% n=2 100% n=2 60% n=5 87% 82%

? Culture Doctoral Program (Add definitions/methodology in #3 below)
 Retention rates first-to-second year 50% n=2 0% n=2 100% n=1 50% 50%
 Graduation rates @ 150% time                              FT N/A 0% n=1 100% n=1 50% 50%

                                                                           PT 50% n=2 N/A 33% n=3 42% 38%
                                                                        Both 50% n=2 0% n=1 50% n=4 33% 28%
Average time to degree from pre-Candidacy level 9 n=1 9 n=1 8.5 n=4 9 9
Median time to degree from pre-Candidacy level 9 9 7.75
Average time to degree from Candidacy level 7 n=1 6.5 n=1 8 n=1 7 7
Median time to degree from Candidacy level 7 7 8
Other measures, specify:

% of graduates attending part-time 100% 0% 75%
Graduation rates @ 150% time (excluding dropouts)   FT N/A N/A 100% n=1 100% 100%
                                                                               PT 100% n=1 N/A 100% n=1 100% 100%

                                                                            Both 100% n=1 N/A 100% n=2 100% 100%

Distance Education  (Add definitions/methodology in #4 below)

 Course completion rates 

 Retention rates 

 Graduation rates
Other measures, specify:

Standard 8:  Educational Effectiveness
(Graduate Programs, Distance Education, Off-Campus Locations)

Student Success Measures/
Prior Performance and Goals
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Branch Campus and Instructional Locations (Add definitions/methodology in #5 below)
 Course completion rates 
 Retention rates 90% n=10 88% n=8 83% n=6 87% 86%
 Graduation rates @ 150% time                              FT 33% n=3 100% n=2 0% n=2 44% 48%

                                                                           PT 33% n=6 50% n=8 56% n=9 46% 51%
                                                                        Both 33% n=9 60% n=10 45% n=11 46% 50%
Other measures, specify:

% of graduates attending part-time 67% 80% 82%
Graduation rates @ 150% time (excluding dropouts)   FT 100% n=1 100% n=2 0% n=2 67% 56%
                                                                               PT 100% n=2 100% n=4 83% n=6 94% 92%
                                                                            Both 100% n=3 100% n=6 63% n=8 88% 84%
Definition and Methodology Explanations

1

2

3

4

5

N/A

These are the numbers for our New York campus. Retention for 2016 & 2017 = average of previous 3 years.

##############################################################################

##############################################################################

Retention for 2016 & 2017 = average of previous 3 years.  
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? Policies
Last 

Updated ?

Academic honesty  2014

Intellectual property rights  2014

Conflict of interest 2011

Privacy rights  2014

Fairness for students 2014

Fairness for faculty 2011

Fairness for staff 2015

Academic freedom 2011

Research 2011

Title IX 2015

Other; specify

 Non-discrimination policies

Recruitment and admissions  2014

 Employment 2011

Evaluation 2011

Disciplinary action 2011

Advancement 2011

Other; specify

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-

Standard 9:  Integrity, Transparency, and Public Disclosure

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-

Dean of Graduate Studies  
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2016/08/Staff-Handbook-2015.pdf
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-

•http://www.bgsp.edu/admissions-and-financial-
aid/application-process/admission-criteria/

Vice President of Finance

Office of the President 

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-2011.pdf
http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2015/09/Annual-Security-Report-2015.pdf

Office of the President 

Office of the President 

(Integrity)

Responsi    
Com

Website location where policy is posted

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Student-Handbook-2014.pdf
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Student-Handbook-2014.pdf

Dean of Graduate Studies 

Dean of Graduate Studies  
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-2011.pdf
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Student-Handbook-2014.pdf
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Student-Handbook-2014.pdf
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-2011.pdf

Dean of Graduate Studies  

Dean of Graduate Studies  

Dean of Graduate Studies  

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2015/09/Annual-Security-Report-2015.pdf�
http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2015/09/Annual-Security-Report-2015.pdf�
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 Resolution of grievances

Students  2014

Faculty 2011

Staff

Other; specify

? Other
Last 

Updated

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2014/03/Student-Handbook-

Responsi    
Com

Website location or Publication

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2014/03/Faculty-Handbook-

Staff Handbook
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Information Website location and/or Relevant Publication(s)

How can inquiries be made about the institution? Where can 
questions be addressed?

•http://www.bgsp.edu/contact/
•http://www.bgsp.edu/international-applicants/how-to-learn-
more/
•http://nygsp.bgsp.edu/contact/
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2014/10/BGSP-
Bulletin-2014-15.pdf

Notice of availability of publications and of audited financial 
statement or fair summary

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2014/10/BGSP-
Bulletin-2014-15.pdf

Processes for admissions •http://www.bgsp.edu/admissions-and-financial-aid/

Processes for employment
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2014/03/Faculty-
Handbook-2011.pdf

Processes for grading
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Student-Handbook-2014.pdf

Processes for assessment

 
Handbook-2011.pdf
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-

Processes for student discipline
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Student-Handbook-2014.pdf

Processes for consideration of complaints and appeals
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 
2014/03/Student-Handbook-2014.pdf

Statement/Promise Website location and/or publication where valid 
documentation can be found

We do not make specific promises regarding these successes.

Date of last review of:
Print publications 2014
Digital publications 2015

Please enter any explanatory notes in the box below

List below the statements or promises made regarding program excellence, learning  outcomes, success in 
placement, and achievements of graduates or faculty and indicate where valid documentation can be found.

Standard 9:  Integrity, Transparency, and Public Disclosure
(Transparency)
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Information Website location

Institutional catalog

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/MA-Mental-
Health-Counseling-Catalog.pdf                         
http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf                         http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/ 2014/03/ Psychoanalysis-Society-and-Culture-
Catalog-2014.pdf

Obligations and responsibilities of students and the institution

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

Information on admission and attendance

•http://www.bgsp.edu/admissions-and-financial-aid/   
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2014/10/BGSP-
Bulletin-2014-15.pdf                                      
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf    
•http://www.bgsp.edu/international-applicants/       
•http://nygsp.bgsp.edu/admissions/criteria-for-admission/  
•http://nj.bgsp.edu/admissions/criteria-for-admission/                                                            

Institutional mission and objectives

http://www.bgsp.edu/about/mission-opening-doors-to-
psychoanalysis/

Expected educational outcomes

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/MA-Mental-
Health-Counseling-Catalog.pdf                         
http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf                         http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/ 2014/03/ Psychoanalysis-Society-and-Culture-
Catalog-2014.pdf

Status as public or independent institution; status as not-for-profit or for-
profit; religious affiliation

•http://www.bgsp.edu/about/who-we-are/

Requirements, procedures and policies re: admissions •http://www.bgsp.edu/admissions-and-financial-aid/   

Requirements, procedures and policies re: transfer credit

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

A list of institutions with which the institution has an articulation 
agreement

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

Student fees, charges and refund policies •http://www.bgsp.edu/admissions-and-financial-aid/tuition-and-fees

Rules and regulations for student conduct

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

Procedures for student appeals and complaints

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

Other information re: attending or withdrawing from the institution
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

Academic programs http://www.bgsp.edu/academics/

Courses currently offered

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/MA-Mental-
Health-Counseling-Catalog.pdf                         
http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf                         http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/ 2014/03/ Psychoanalysis-Society-and-Culture-
Catalog-2014.pdf

Other available educational opportunities http://www.bgsp.edu/continuing-education/

Other academic policies and procedures

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

Standard 9:  Integrity, Transparency, and Public Disclosure
(Public Disclosure)
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Requirements for degrees and other forms of academic recognition

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/MA-Mental-
Health-Counseling-Catalog.pdf                         
http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf                         http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/ 2014/03/ Psychoanalysis-Society-and-Culture-
Catalog-2014.pdf

List of continuing faculty, indicating department or program affiliation, 
degrees held, and institutions granting them

http://www.bgsp.edu/about/who-we-are/bgsp-faculty/                    
(click through for details on each faculty member)

Names and positions of administrative officers http://www.bgsp.edu/about/who-we-are/

Names, principal affiliations of governing board members http://www.bgsp.edu/about/who-we-are/

Locations and programs available at branch campuses, other 
instructional locations, and overseas operations at which students can 
enroll for a degree, along with a description of programs and services 
available at each location

http://nj.bgsp.edu/, http://nygsp.bgsp.edu/

Programs, courses, services, and personnel not available in any given 
academic year.

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/MA-Mental-
Health-Counseling-Catalog.pdf                         
http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf                         http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/ 2014/03/ Psychoanalysis-Society-and-Culture-
Catalog-2014.pdf

Size and characteristics of the student body http://www.bgsp.edu/about/what-else-makes-us-unique/#facts

Description of the campus setting

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/BGSP-Bulletin-
2014-15.pdf                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
•http // b p d / p t t/ pl d /2014/03/St d t

Availability of academic and other support services

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf
•http://www.bgsp.edu/academics/the-learning-process/
•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/BGSP-Bulletin-
2014-15.pdf
•http://www.bgsp.edu/library/

Range of co-curricular and non-academic opportunities available to 
students

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

Institutional learning and physical resources from which a student can 
reasonably be expected to benefit

•http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Student-
Handbook-2014.pdf

Institutional goals for students' education

http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/MA-Mental-
Health-Counseling-Catalog.pdf                         
http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf                         http://www.bgsp.edu/wp-
content/uploads/ 2014/03/ Psychoanalysis-Society-and-Culture-
Catalog-2014.pdf

Success of students in achieving institutional goals including rates of 
retention and graduation and other measure of student success 
appropriate to institutional mission.  Passage rates for licensure exams, as 
appropriate

http://www.bgsp.edu/about/what-else-makes-us-unique/#facts; we 
will be adding more information to this page.

Total cost of education and net price, including availability of financial 
aid and typical length of study

•http://www.bgsp.edu/admissions-and-financial-aid/tuition-and-
fees/cost-of-attendance/                                                                                           
•http://www.bgsp.edu/admissions-and-financial-aid/financial-
aid/types-of-aid/                                                                  
•http://www.bgsp.edu/admissions-and-financial-aid/tuition-and-fees/

Expected amount of student debt upon graduation and loan payment 
rates

http://www.bgsp.edu/about/what-else-makes-us-unique/#facts

Statement about accreditation http://www.bgsp.edu/about/what-else-makes-us-unique/#facts

http://www.bgsp.edu/about/who-we-are/�
http://nj.bgsp.edu/,�


 

D. Making Assessments More Explicit 
(The E Series) Forms 

 

 



OPT I ON E 1:   PA R T  A.  I NV E NT OR Y  OF  E DUC A T I ONA L  E F F E C T I V E NE SS I NDI C A T OR S 
 

 
 
 

CATEGORY 

(1) 
Have 

formal 
learning 

outcomes 
been 

developed? 

(2) 
Where are these learning 

outcomes published? (please 
specify) 

Include URLs where 
appropriate. 

(3) 
Other than GPA, what 

data/evidence is used to 
determine that graduates 
have achieved the stated 
outcomes for the degree? 

(e.g., capstone course, 
portfolio review, licensure 

examination) 

(4) 
Who interprets the 

evidence? What is the 
process? 

(e.g. annually by the 
curriculum committee) 

(5) 
What changes have been 
made as a result of using 

the data/evidence? 

(6) 
Date of most 

recent 
program 

review (for 
general 

education and 
each degree 

program) 
At the institutional 
level: 
 

      

For general 
education: 

      

List each degree 
program: 
 
1.  Master of Arts in 
Psychoanalysis 
 

 
 
 

yes 

 
Program Catalog:  

http://www.bgsp.edu/
wp-

content/uploads/2015/
03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf 

 

1) Master’s paper 
 
 
 
 
 

2) Fieldwork 
presentation and 
paper 
 
 

3) Qualifying exam 
(for advancing 
students) 

1) PT 1787 Instructor 
Report to Research 
Committee each 
year 
 
 

2) PT 185 Instructor 
Report to Clinical 
Studies Committee 
each semester 

 
3) Chair of Qualifying 

Exam reports 
annually to 
Administrative 
Directors 
 

1) Strongly encourage 
single case study 
 
 
 
 

2) Developed FW 
presentation guide 
for students 
 
 

3) In process of 
making changes to 
the exam. 

 
 
2014-2015 
with 
Counseling 
Program 

  



 
 

CATEGORY 

(1) 
Have 

formal 
learning 

outcomes 
been 

developed? 

(2) 
Where are these learning 

outcomes published?  
 

(3) 
Other than GPA, what 

data/evidence is used to 
determine that graduates 
have achieved the stated 
outcomes for the degree?  

(4) 
Who interprets the 

evidence? What is the 
process? 

(5) 
What changes have been 

made as a result of using the 
data/evidence? 

(6) 
Date of most 

recent 
program 
review 

 
 
2. Doctor of 
Psychoanalysis 
 
 

 
 
 

yes 

 
Program Catalog:  

http://www.bgsp.edu/
wp-

content/uploads/2015/
03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf  

 

In addition to above: 
1) Clinical case review 

 
 
 
 
 

2) Final case 
presentation 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3) Dissertation 

 
1) Clinical Studies 

Committee after 
each presentation & 
ongoing discussion 
 
 

2) Administrative 
Directors after each 
presentation & 
ongoing discussion 

 
 
 
 

3) Research Committee 
engages in formative 
evaluation 
 

 
1) Improved feedback 

to presenters; 
Developed common 
forms for three 
presentation points 
 

2) Revised presentation 
evaluation form. 
Experimenting with 
sharing form with 
presenters to help 
them prepare 
presentation 

 
3) Added flexibility in 

which seminar to 
take to aid research 

 
2015-16 

 
 
3. Certificate in 
Psychoanalysis 
 
 

 
 

yes 

 
Program Catalog:  

http://www.bgsp.edu/
wp-

content/uploads/2015/
03/Clinical-Catalog-
October-2014.pdf  

 
 
 
 

 
Same as Psya.D. 
above except no 
Qualifying Exam 

 
Same as Psya.D. 

 
Same as Psya.D. 

 
Con-
current 
with 
Psya.D. 

 (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 



 
CATEGORY 

Have 
formal 

learning 
outcomes 

been 
developed? 

Where are these learning 
outcomes published?  

 

Other than GPA, what 
data/evidence is used to 
determine that graduates 
have achieved the stated 
outcomes for the degree?  

Who interprets the 
evidence? What is the 

process? 

What changes have been 
made as a result of using the 

data/evidence? 

Date of most 
recent 

program 
review 

 
4. Master of Arts in 
Psychoanalytic 
Counseling 
 

 
 

yes 

 
Program Catalog: 

http://www.bgsp.edu/
wp-

content/uploads/2014/
10/MA-Mental-Health-
Counseling-Catalog.pdf  

 

Same as M.A. above, 
plus: 
 
1. Supervisor 

evaluations 
from the 
internship 

2. Alumni survey 
and focus group 
study to 
evaluate 
program success 
at preparing 
students for 
work in 
contemporary 
counseling field 

Same as M.A. above, 
plus: 
 
1. Fieldwork 

Coordinator 
reports each 
semester to 
Clinical Studies 
Committee 

 

Same as M.A. above, 
plus: 
 
2. Change in 

curriculum for 
Assessment for  
licensing 
requirements; 
increased 
orientation to 
issues in working 
in institutional 
settings; diversity 
course 
restructured; first 
research course 
more preparatory 
for master’s paper 

 

 
 
2014-15 

5.  Master of Arts 
and Psya.D. in 
Psychoanalysis and 
Culture 
 

 
yes 

 
 

Program Catalog: 
http://www.bgsp.edu/

wp-
content/uploads/2014/

03/Psychoanalysis-
Society-and-Culture-

Catalog-2014.pdf 
 

1) Master’s paper 
 
 
 
 

2) Qualifying paper 
(for advancing 
students) 
 
 

3) Dissertation 

1) PT 1787 Instructor 
Report to Research 
Committee each 
year 

 
2) Program Director 

reports annually to 
Administrative 
Directors 

 
3) Formative 

evaluation in 

1) Paper completed 
with Chair rather 
than in Masters 
Paper Course 

 
2) Under continuing 

discussion 
 
 
 

3) Increased use of 
outside members 

2008 



Research 
Committee 

 

for student 
dissertation 
committees 

 
 
 
 

      

 
  



OPT I ON E 1:   PA R T  B .  I NV E NT OR Y  OF  SPE C I A L I ZE D A ND PR OG R A M  A C C R E DI T A T I ON 
 
 

(1) 
Professional, specialized, 
State, or programmatic 

accreditations currently held 
by the institution (by 

agency or program name). 

(2) 
Date of most 

recent 
accreditation 

action by each 
listed agency. 

(3) 
List key issues for continuing accreditation identified in 

accreditation action letter or report. 

(4) 
Key performance 

indicators as selected 
by program 

(licensure, board, or 
bar pass rates; 

employment rates, 
etc.). * 

(6) 
Date and nature of 

next scheduled 
review. 

  
 
American Board for 
Accreditation in 
Psychoanalysis, Inc. 
 
 

 
 
2012 

 
 
Accreditation applies only to the clinical 
Psya.D. and Certificate programs in 
Psychoanalysis. 

  
 
Spring 2019 

 
 

    

.   
 

    

  
 

    

  
 

    

  
 

    

  
 

    

  
 
 

    

 
*Record results of key performance indicators in form S3. 
 
 
 



 

E. BGSP’s 2016-19 Strategic Plan 

 

 



 

1 
 

2016-2019 Strategic Plan 
Extending the Reach of Psychoanalysis 

 
Introduction:  The Role of Planning at BGSP 

Why Develop a Strategic Plan? 

The Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis has engaged in a strategic planning process in order 
to determine the direction that BGSP will take in order to excel at achieving its mission.  Strategic 
planning helps the institution to remain vibrant and responsive to the needs of the community it 
serves and ensures organizational stability and growth.  The strategic plan allows the School to 
define its vision for the future and then determine how it will get there; it establishes priorities, 
understands obstacles, and identifies strategies to move forward.   

The strategic plan provides the basis by which BGSP will:   

• Continue to develop its program of activities, 
• Allocate human and financial resources to accomplish those activities,  
• Assess whether objectives are being met, and 
• Evaluate programs, staff, and resources. 

This strategic plan is not an operational or business plan, nor a complete picture of BGSP’s 
activities, but rather a guide to making decisions on how to allocate resources to achieve the 
School’s fundamental priorities. 

How the Plan Was Developed 

The process of developing this strategic plan has been both iterative and formative at all levels, 
with repeated discussion gradually shaping the final product.  The emphasis of the process has 
been, first, on re-examining the School’s mission in light of the current economic and cultural 
climate.  Second, the School evaluated its own resources and challenges as well as the environment 
in which we operate.  Third, the School developed a list of priorities and objectives based on the 
above factors, in order to finalize the strategic plan.   

In June 2015, the Board and President convened a Strategic Planning Committee, which consisted 
of one Board member, the President, the Vice President, the Dean of Graduate Studies, two faculty 
members, and one student.   
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Mission Review 

The first step was to review the School’s mission.  The Committee ran four mission-oriented focus 
groups between October 2015 and January 2016, inviting the faculty, students, staff, and – for the 
first time – strangers to meet independently with the Committee to talk about psychoanalysis, the 
School’s mission, and the world we live in. 

At the end of January, the Committee produced consecutive drafts of a revised mission statement 
for review by the Administrative Directors and Faculty Council.  The next-to-final draft received 
rave reviews at an “All-Community Meeting.”  The final draft was approved by the Board of 
Trustees on March 19, 2016.   

SWOT Analysis 

Simultaneously, the Strategic Planning Committee conducted a thorough investigation of the 
internal and environmental realities that must guide BGSP’s planning.  Internally, the School 
collected student and financial data as part of its regular institutional reporting.  It also engaged in 
curriculum review and reviewed the results of the student and alumni surveys and other internal 
qualitative assessments.   

Externally, the Strategic Planning Committee was able to rely on a much more extensive network of 
professional connections (compared to last cycle), yielding a broader assessment of environmental 
factors affecting the School.  The Committee discussed national trends within psychoanalysis, 
counseling, and higher education in general, with input from national and local groups as well as 
quantitative data on graduate school enrollment.  In addition, the Committee gleaned information 
from staff at the New York and New Jersey campuses to learn more about the market 
demographics at those locations.  Finally, the marketing department contributed data from the 
explosion of information available from digital media.     

The Committee also reviewed the 2011-2015 Strategic Plan to identify successes and obstacles to 
achieving goals during the last planning cycle. 

In conjunction with the community focus group, all these sources provided data for the 
Committee’s analysis of the School’s Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (SWOT 
analysis), which took stock of existing and needed resources and helped evaluate potential 
directions.   
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Strategic Goals 

The Strategic Planning Committee regularly discussed the results of its analyses with the Board of 
Trustees, President’s Council, Administrative Directors, Faculty Council, and Recruitment 
Committee (which has a lot of student representation).  The Committee then developed a draft of a 
chart of strategic priorities, representing the goals and objectives of the Strategic Plan. This chart 
was reviewed, revised, and finalized with input from the Board of Trustees, the Administrative 
Directors, and the Faculty Council.  The Committee worked with the stakeholders of each objective 
to develop specific “SMART” goals, i.e., measurable action steps to be taken within specific time 
frames in order to accomplish each objective.  The final plan was approved by the Board of 
Trustees on June 18, 2016. 

 

The Mission of BGSP 

The key to developing the strategic plan was the mission review.  Why is everyone here?  What are 
they seeking and gaining?  In developing the plan, how can we make sure every priority advances 
this mission?  The Committee conducted four focus groups to help answer these questions. 

The first focus group asked the faculty to describe, in plain language, their interest and passion for 
psychoanalysis:  why are they here and what do they think psychoanalytic education accomplishes 
(no jargon allowed)?  This group talked extensively about the function of psychoanalysis in 
promoting self-realization and constructive action.  Faculty members articulated how talking in 
order to understand oneself, recognizing one’s inner “horrible things” and accepting all parts of 
oneself leads to the freedom to make constructive choices in the world.   

Following from that, there was a lot of interest in how the world could be changed using what 
psychoanalysts know.  For example, there was considerable concern about a certain politician who 
has gained popularity by speaking to people’s aggressive impulses.  The issue was whether helping 
people talk more constructively and addressing their concerns would help lead to a more 
constructive political outcome, and decrease political support for destructive action.   

The second focus group asked the students the same questions.  What is their mission in pursuing 
psychoanalytic education?  What are they learning and accomplishing by being here?  The students 
emphasized the role of psychoanalysis in helping people learn to tolerate unacceptable feelings 
and ideas and gain control over their destructive impulses.  They appreciated that this takes place 
in the presence of a non-judgmental and tolerant analyst.  Like the faculty, they valued self-
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understanding as a path towards emotional growth and the development of a self-motivated 
identity. 

The third focus group invited members of the public who, for the most part, had never heard of 
BGSP to a conversation at the School.  The group included the Brookline Fire Chief, a social worker 
from the Brookline Public Schools, a workforce development professional, a member of the Board 
of Temple Israel, two members of the Big Sister Association, a marketing professional, a couple of 
business people, and a recent college graduate.  As part of the mission review, the goal of the focus 
group was to understand the major concerns of the community and how BGSP might serve the 
community’s needs through its mission.  At the same time, the Strategic Planning Committee was 
interested in engaging new people in the local community, to see how BGSP might become more 
relevant to the community and establish new partnerships.  The Committee also wanted to gain a 
first-hand understanding of people’s perceptions of “psychoanalysis,” in order to help with 
communications efforts, including the wording of the mission statement.  

The community focus group – the first of its kind at BGSP – yielded some unexpected feedback, not 
about the mission per se, but about the messaging of the School.  The participants seemed to have 
a general sense of what psychoanalysis is and, after a brief tutorial, seemed to readily understand 
how we use it to make positive change, even though they voiced some commonly cynical views 
about it (for example, “you spend years on a couch with a silent analyst and nothing changes,” or, 
“Freud was a sexist”).  However, from the School’s website and descriptions of our programs, they 
gained the impression that the School is “not just psychoanalysis.”  Several people found the name 
of the School off-putting, because our activities (while driven by psychoanalytic process) are much 
more than “lying on a couch.”  They felt that with the current name, people just “pass by” and 
don’t consider the School’s wider contributions to the community, such as educating counselors as 
well as psychoanalysts, and sending counselors into public schools and health centers.  These 
contributions have been encompassed in the School’s mission for years through its emphasis on 
“applied psychoanalysis,” but they are not reflected in the School’s name or its branding.  These 
comments were useful in understanding how better to describe the School and reinforced the 
Committee’s interest in a jargon-free mission statement.  

The final focus group was held for the non-faculty employees of the School, and served mainly as 
education about the School’s mission.  The staff was eager to hear more about psychoanalysis and 
how we teach it.  The discussion shed some light for them on cultural issues around the School, 
such as why we use last names instead of talking on a first-name basis, while giving them an 
opportunity to share their own perceptions of psychoanalysis.   
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Using input from the focus groups, the Strategic Planning Committee worked with the entire School 
community to produce a revised mission statement, which was approved by the Board of Trustees 
on March 19, 2016: 
 

At BGSP, we use our understanding of unconscious dynamics to help solve 
problems of emotional suffering and destructive action.  In this way, we 
help individuals, groups, and communities free their creative energy to live 
satisfying lives in cooperation with others.   

As a graduate school, we teach students to actualize this personally and 
professionally by bringing psychoanalysis to bear on individual, social and 
cultural problems.  BGSP’s educational programs train psychoanalysts, 
counselors, interdisciplinary scholars, and social justice advocates.  Through 
our Therapy Center, School Based Counseling internships, and work in the 
community, students and graduates work to help people directly improve 
their lives. 

 

BGSP in its Current Environment 

Simultaneously, the Strategic Planning Committee conducted a thorough investigation of the 
internal and environmental realities that must guide BGSP’s planning.  Internally, the School 
collected student outcomes, student achievement, admissions, enrollment, and financial data as 
part of its regular institutional reporting.  It also engaged in curriculum review related to its Master 
of Arts in Mental Health Counseling and Doctor of Psychoanalysis programs and reviewed the 
results of the 2012 student survey, a 2013 assessment conducted by a branding consultant, a 2013-
14 focus group series targeted at the Master’s in Mental Health Counseling, a 2014 student focus 
group regarding the doctoral program, a 2015 student focus group conducted for marketing, and 
the 2015 alumni survey.  The Committee also reviewed the 2011-2015 Strategic Plan and its annual 
updates in order to evaluate what was accomplished and what was neglected, trying to identify 
successes and obstacles to achieving goals during the last planning cycle. 

The Committee discussed the national trends brought to light by involvement in the American 
Board for Accreditation in Psychoanalysis (ABAP), the National Association for the Advancement of 
Psychoanalysis (NAAP), the Massachusetts and Rhode Island Association of Counselor Educators 
and Supervisors (MARIACES) and related groups, including counselor educators in New Jersey.  The 
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faculty also expanded its attendance at professional conferences such as the International 
Psychoanalytical Association (IPA) and meetings of educators within Division 39 (Psychoanalysis) of 
the American Psychological Association (APA).  The School grew its network in local academic 
circles by establishing the Consortium for Psychoanalysis in Higher Education, an outgrowth of the 
last planning cycle, which brings together university faculty members who are interested in 
psychoanalysis across New England.  Finally, as in the last planning cycle, the School’s leaders had 
extensive contact with state legislators and regulators regarding the regulatory climate in the fields 
of mental health.   

Apart from networking, in order to gauge the external environment, the Committee reviewed data 
on graduate school enrollment in general and in the behavioral sciences, as well as the Davis 
Educational Foundation’s work on Cost in Higher Education.  The Committee also discussed 
professional articles regarding the state of psychoanalytic education and reviewed anecdotal data 
regarding enrollment in psychoanalytic programs.  The marketing department started working 
more closely with the marketing staff at the New York and New Jersey campuses to learn more 
about the market demographics at those locations.  There has also been an explosion in digital 
marketing data, including information on who opens BGSP’s promotional emails, on which 
platforms, whether they click through to BGSP’s website, and if so, which parts of it (or which social 
media) they visit.   

Using data from all these sources, the Committee compiled an assessment of the School’s 
Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (a SWOT evaluation), described below. 

Strengths 

BGSP continues to be a paragon for flexibility in and promotion of psychoanalytic education.  
Ahead of the curve on removing roadblocks to psychoanalytically-oriented training and treatment, 
the School has a solid reputation within higher education and brings long-term therapy into the 
community and the Boston Public Schools.  As the only accredited, doctoral degree-granting 
psychoanalytic institution in the country, BGSP is a leader in graduate psychoanalytic education 
both nationally and internationally.  It boasts success in bringing students in at the master’s level 
and then, whether immediately or some years later, helping them understand the value of, and 
helping them pursue, full psychoanalytic training.  The School is a rich, multi-cultural community 
that is well-positioned to bring psychoanalytic concepts to bear on clinical and social problems.   

Throughout its history, BGSP has profited from the tremendous commitment of its faculty and 
leaders to the School’s mission.  A history of volunteerism, a strong clinical faculty, and an excellent 
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professional staff support the achievement of that mission.  As a result, the quality of the School’s 
core pursuit, training psychoanalysts, remains high.  BGSP students and graduates are routinely 
singled out for their clinical acumen in field placement, internship, and employment settings.  
Graduates frequently report that, because of their strong clinical reputation, they are often 
referred “problem” cases, that is, cases which have not demonstrated success in previous 
therapies.  This year, as sometimes happens, one graduate’s supervisee applied to the program in 
order to learn to practice more like his supervisor.  In addition to their private practices, graduates 
of both the M.A. in Mental Health Counseling and the Doctor of Psychoanalysis programs have had 
leadership and staff roles in community agencies, such as Arbor Hospital and Boston Medical 
Center.  In addition, BGSP students engage in research as part of their studies (an atypical 
requirement in psychoanalytic training) and have won international awards for their papers (most 
recently a grant from the American Psychoanalytic Association).  The master’s and doctoral 
programs in Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture are distinctive in their mission to integrate 
psychoanalysis with the cultural issues of today. 
 
In last year’s survey of BGSP alumni, 97% of master’s graduates responding said they would 
recommend BGSP to others.  Graduates credit their BGSP education for not only their academic 
gains, clinical training and supervision, and research experience, but also for important personal 
gains, including personal growth and greater tolerance for feelings.  Master’s graduates credit BGSP 
with advancing their careers both by providing a credential and by improving their ability to relate 
to clients.  The latter sentiment was exemplified by this response: “My ability to work with my 
clients in a therapeutic and diplomatic way has increased as I've gotten psychoanalytic experience, 
and that's helped my business greatly.”   

In keeping with the emphasis on clinical training among BGSP’s educational programs, BGSP makes 
a substantial contribution to the community through clinical and educational programs associated 
with the School.  Students in their field placements and internships provide free services in various 
community agencies and public schools.  The BGSP Therapy Center, where advanced candidates 
begin their psychoanalytic practice, remains one of the only places locally to receive long-term, 
affordable psychotherapy outside the managed care model.  BGSP’s School Based Counseling 
Internship allows students in the Boston Public Schools, who likely would not otherwise receive 
treatment, to receive high quality, long-term psychodynamic psychotherapy.   
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In addition to its programs, BGSP is fortunate to have a strong balance sheet to support its mission-
related activities.  With a stable quasi-endowment, ownership of its well-located physical plant, and 
low debt, the School can manage regular fluctuations in enrollment.   

In addition to its advantageous location in Brookline, MA, BGSP operates two other instructional 
locations in partnership with the Center for Modern Psychoanalytic Studies in New York, New York 
and the Academy of Clinical and Applied Psychoanalysis in Livingston, New Jersey.  Besides 
providing a more diverse income stream, the relationships with our partners provide greater name 
recognition for the School and valuable opportunities for peer support and evaluation of all aspects 
of running a psychoanalytic training program. 

Likewise, BGSP has increased its relationship with peers within higher education.  Through the 
establishment of the Consortium for Psychoanalysis in Higher Education, the School developed a 
semi-annual forum for academics who share common interests and concerns to come together and 
address the challenges of teaching psychoanalysis in an increasingly hostile environment.  The 
Consortium has yielded, so far, some partnerships for career panels for undergraduates interested 
in psychoanalysis, a call for proposals for a book on pedagogy in psychoanalysis, and many other 
ideas for collaboration yet to come.  More importantly, it has provided a great amount of publicity 
and networking for the School among some of the most important influencers of our target 
market. 

Weaknesses 

Despite all that it offers to students and the community, BGSP faces several challenges.  Like many 
small colleges, difficulties with funding predominate.  The School earns its money from nearly a 
single revenue stream – tuition.  Student revenue accounts for over 90% of BGSP’s income.  This 
means the School is financially vulnerable to variations in enrollment, which, since 2012, has been 
trending downward.  While BGSP is fortunate to have a $1.95 million Board-designated 
endowment to provide stability, the endowment is not large enough to permit student scholarship 
funding.  In this economy, the paucity of institutional aid contributes to the decreasing enrollment.  
Cuts to expenses have helped mitigate the drop in revenue, but the administration is admittedly 
stretched thin.  The addition of the New Jersey campus has helped diversify revenue, but 
admissions there and at the New York campus are not as robust as they might be. 

Historically, the School has seen a limited stream of donor funding to help offset the costs of 
running the organization.  (Highlights include several major gifts, the bulk of which constitute the 
endowment.)  Until recently, the Board of Trustees has been only very modestly engaged in 
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developing philanthropy at the School, and there have been no significant efforts to engage alumni 
apart from the Annual Fund letter.   

Both of these areas are happily witnessing significant shifts.  The Board, which is currently very 
small with a majority of Trustees related to the School, is under new leadership.  The new Chair and 
Trustees are now focusing intently on increasing the independent membership of the Board, 
actively engaging in Board recruitment.  Likewise, the Chair is vigorously promoting Trustee 
engagement in philanthropy and other committees.  Recent changes, including the very active 
participation of a Trustee on the Development Committee, should result in meaningful change. 

Likewise, a recent graduate has been given staff support to start to engage alumni on all sorts of 
levels – networking, mentoring, annual giving, but most importantly, identification with the School 
after they graduate.  The Alumni office has been surveying the alumni and scheduling events for 
new alumni, to solidify their connection to the School upon graduation. 

Increased efforts towards fund raising will hopefully support not only scholarship, but faculty 
funding opportunities.  The faculty is the School’s greatest strength; it has provided the backbone 
of BGSP in every aspect of the School, from teaching to training analysis, clinical supervision, 
academic advisement, research, outreach, and administration.  While the faculty has historically 
donated a tremendous amount of time and effort to the School, generally taking little or no pay for 
committee participation, advising, or even program direction, more fully developed faculty 
resources will be necessary as the current senior faculty leaves the workforce.  In particular, the 
School will need faculty-administrators who, like the current administration, can provide quality 
leadership of departmental functions. In addition, faculty members from a broad array of academic 
backgrounds and with greater racial and ethnic diversity will be necessary to teach a new, more 
diverse generation of students with more diverse interests than private practice.   

Developing the faculty is always a challenge because of the independent nature of the graduate 
school and the clinical focus of the faculty.  Without a university endowment to support a full-time, 
publishing faculty, the School will not generate the kind and quantity of research that would boost 
the field significantly in academia.  However, it can continue to attract well-qualified, part-time 
faculty members who are intrigued by the psychoanalytic focus of the institution. 

The community focus group in January brought to the surface a latent question of whether the 
name and branding of the School is a weakness.  The School does have a narrow focus, seeking to 
apply psychoanalytic principles to help individuals and groups.  This places natural, sensible 
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limitations on enrollment.  (After all, we do not enroll people who are not interested in exploring 
unconscious dynamics.)   

However, BGSP has a broader focus than most psychoanalytic institutes.  Its counseling program 
brings a greater psychoanalytic orientation into community work, and the programs in 
psychoanalysis, society, and culture raise broader questions of social understanding.  The School 
has more ways currently, and would like to develop additional ways, of “solving problems of 
emotional suffering and destructive action” than training psychoanalysts for the treatment room.  
So, the question is whether, in a time when “psychoanalysis” is so widely and negatively 
misunderstood, continuing to emphasize it so heavily in the School’s communications is beneficial.  
The Strategic Planning Committee feels that the School could be strengthened by exploring other 
ways of communicating its mission and purposes – for instance, by emphasizing the strengths of 
each program rather than applying the brand of “psychoanalysis” across the board. 

Threats 

As recently as fifteen years ago, BGSP’s biggest threat was from classically-oriented psychoanalysts, 
who maintained an elitist position regarding psychoanalytic training, insisting that psychoanalysis 
could not be learned except at the post-graduate level.  BGSP broke that mold by establishing 
psychoanalysis as a graduate level discipline.  As post-graduate enrollments started to decline, 
BGSP was well positioned to educate people at the graduate level. 

Five to ten years ago, during the development of the last strategic plan, psychoanalysts of every 
stripe were bemoaning the rise of managed care and the rapid cultural shift towards short-term 
behavioral and psychopharmacological interventions in mental health.  Enrollment in 
psychoanalytic institutes declined sharply.  Nevertheless, psychoanalytic institutes continued to 
operate in their own rigid silos, with just a few outliers suggesting that the field was approaching a 
crisis, and we should all begin to work more flexibly together.  As late as 2011, having introduced 
the higher education model to psychoanalysis, BGSP was outshining its post-graduate competitors, 
which were admitting as few as zero new candidates in any given year. 

Much of the predicament can be attributed to the field’s insularity, including its very weak history 
of outcomes research in the field.  Because Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy and other short-term 
treatments have been dedicated to producing studies about the outcomes of those therapies, such 
treatments have come to be seen as “evidence based” and therefore desirable.  Psychoanalysis has 
not followed suit until very recently.  Likewise, the field of psychoanalysis has been riddled with 
jargon and poor at explaining what it is and why someone would choose it, focusing more on 
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internal squabbles than on what the world cares about.  Combined with the fact that 
psychoanalysis was traditionally seen as a post-graduate discipline, third party payments have 
never been popular for psychoanalytic treatment, and psychoanalysis itself is not a licensed 
discipline in most states.  This history poses a threat not only to BGSP, but to the entire field. 

Today, psychoanalytic training is in full-fledged crisis.  One local psychoanalytic training institute 
has dropped its full training program, and another has cut its enrollment in half.  Kernberg’s (2012) 
article entitled “Suicide Prevention for Psychoanalytic Institutes and Societies” reflected the extent 
of the problem and, incidentally, recommended many actions that BGSP took years ago.  Even that 
article, however, did not recognize the extent to which psychoanalysis has all but disappeared not 
only from popular clinical settings, but from academic psychology departments.  Both our 
anecdotal data and our email response data reflect this dramatic shift.  Anecdotally, when 
establishing the Consortium for Psychoanalysis in Higher Education (cf. page 3), we noticed that the 
large majority of participants are from humanities departments.  Of the few psychologists who are 
there, one noted that as psychoanalytically-oriented psychologists, like herself, are retiring from 
undergraduate departments, they are being replaced with research-oriented, grant-funded 
psychologists who do not have a psychoanalytic orientation.  This corresponds with our email data.  
BGSP regularly sends introductory emails to students taking the GRE exam for admission to 
graduate school, who indicate their intended graduate major.  Those interested in psychology and 
mental health disciplines open BGSP’s emails at about half the rate of those who are interested in 
related fields in the humanities or other social sciences, such as literature or anthropology. 

While Kernberg’s article did not recognize this shift, it did presage an era of increasing flexibility 
among the most traditional institutes, which previously had extremely rigid admissions and training 
requirements.  While healthy for the field (if the pool is fuller, we all float a little higher), this 
means that some students who previously might have been driven to BGSP by the rigidity of 
competing institutes might now be able to attend elsewhere.  Therefore, the School needs to 
consider how to make its training more amenable to students who already have graduate-level 
clinical training. 

In addition to declines in psychoanalytic training, graduate enrollment in the behavioral sciences 
overall has been decreasing since 2010.  According to the Council of Graduate Schools’ publication, 
Graduate Enrollment and Degrees 2004-2014 
(http://cgsnet.org/ckfinder/userfiles/files/E_and_D_2014_report_final.pdf), BGSP’s enrollment has 
essentially mirrored graduate enrollment in the behavioral sciences, which saw a sharp decline 
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from 2010 through 2014.  (BGSP’s drop curve began slightly later, with lowest new admissions in 
Fall 2012.)   

Such declines are not surprising in today’s economic environment.  With student debt 
overwhelming many graduate applicants, few are willing to take on more loans, and the cost of 
living in Boston can be prohibitive.  Prospective students recognize that wages are higher in the 
medical fields, such as psychiatric nursing, than in the behavioral fields, such as mental health 
counseling, in which BGSP offers a licensable master’s degree.  The U.S. Department of Labor cites 
the median pay for Mental Health Counselors and Marriage and Family Therapists at $43,190, 
whereas the median pay for Registered Nurses is $67,490 per year. 
(http://www.bls.gov/ooh/community-and-social-service/mental-health-counselors-and-marriage-
and-family-therapists.htm  and http://www.bls.gov/ooh/Healthcare/Registered-nurses.htm, 
accessed 5/4/16). 

Another challenge comes from the ever strengthening professional identity of related fields, to the 
exclusion of psychoanalysis.  The most prominent example at the moment is the rapid ascendance 
of CACREP (the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs).  
CACREP has lobbied very successfully to make graduation from a CACREP-accredited program a 
requirement for counseling licensure in multiple states and for various other credentials, such as 
reimbursement as a counseling provider for federal insurance programs.  Only two programs in 
Massachusetts are CACREP-accredited, primarily because of the organization’s requirement that 
faculty members have degrees in counselor education as opposed to psychology or related fields.  
Lobbying is underway to fight these restrictions on trade, but the group poses a real threat, 
because prospective students are asking for CACREP accreditation. 

Likewise, peer institutions indicate that their psychoanalytically-oriented psychology programs are 
having a harder time becoming accredited by the American Psychological Association.  The field 
must do more to promote psychoanalysis and psychoanalytic research in order to recapture its 
place in mental health. 

Finally, the environment for small colleges in New England has become precarious.  BGSP is 
currently the second-smallest accredited college in Massachusetts, with many of its small peers, 
such as Andover-Newton Theological Seminary, succumbing to financial pressures to merge with 
larger institutions or close.  The School might consider various models for achieving economies of 
scale that would preserve its current mission and programs.  



June 16, 2016   2016 STRATEGIC PLAN PAGE 13 
 

Opportunities 

With the increasing flexibility in the field of psychoanalysis and the widespread recognition that 
psychoanalysis will need to assert itself broadly to survive, BGSP has many more opportunities for 
building productive relationships.  During the last planning cycle, members of the faculty and 
administration increased their participation in events of the International Psychoanalytic 
Association and took leadership roles in professional associations such as the National Association 
for the Advancement of Psychoanalysis and the American Board for Accreditation in 
Psychoanalysis.  As these organizations themselves become more well-connected within the field, 
BGSP needs to maintain a high level of involvement in order to promote its interest in high quality, 
independent psychoanalytic training. 

Likewise, faculty members are building constructive relationships with members of the American 
Psychological Association’s Division of Psychoanalysis (Division 39).  President Jane Snyder was 
recently asked to write a book chapter by the President of Division 39, and faculty member 
Stephen Soldz, who spent a decade battling APA ethics policies that protected government 
psychologists involved in abusive interrogations from scrutiny, has solidified relations with the 
Division and is well supported in his run for the APA Council of Representatives.  He and other 
faculty members now have strong relationships with leaders of Sections IX and V, related to social 
responsibility and applied clinical work, respectively.  Since these two areas are strong interests of 
the School, BGSP can build on those relationships to make sure BGSP plays a part in the 
cooperative re-establishment of psychoanalytic values within psychology.  Specific APA initiatives, 
such as pro bono consultation to mental health clinics, can foster more local connections with 
those people who influence our target markets. 

The School also needs to take advantage of its recent connections made through the Consortium 
for Psychoanalysis in Higher Education.  This spring, BGSP participated on a “career panel,” 
organized by the Consortium, which drew 35 undergraduate students to Mount Holyoke College to 
hear how panelists have made a future using psychoanalytic thought and practice.  Events such as 
these are important to bring greater recognition and credibility to the School’s programs, are an 
outstanding way of introducing BGSP to its target audience, and should be continued. 

Participation in the Consortium has highlighted the dramatic extent to which psychoanalytic 
thought has moved out of the clinical world but into the humanities.  While the School’s programs 
in Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture reflect this shift, more could be done to attract students 
interested in fields such as literature and the arts.   
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In addition, there has been a shift in mental health training in general to be more focused on social 
justice, that is, on decreasing inequalities in access to those resources, rights, and privileges that 
promote mental health and social well-being.  This has been highlighted by the current social 
upheaval related to the use of force by police, which underscores recent publicity on the 
importance of “unconscious bias.”  Similarly, there is a heightened emphasis on social-emotional 
learning within public education.  (See, for instance, the Massachusetts Department of Early and 
Secondary Education’s Guidelines for the Approval of Educator Preparation Programs, 2012.)  In 
many respects, the lines between mental health, social welfare, and social justice are rightly 
becoming blurred.  Within psychoanalysis, this is reflected in the nascent conversations regarding 
race and culture within the field.  With award-winning films such as Black Psychoanalysts Speak and 
Psychoanalysis in el Barrio prompting difficult but critical conversations on the intersections 
between race, ethnicity, and psychoanalysis, BGSP has not only an opportunity but an obligation to 
bring psychoanalysis to the table to contribute to the discussion of social injustices and human 
rights.   

The School’s programs in Psychoanalysis, Society, and Culture successfully address many of these 
questions by stimulating intellectual discussion and research (for example, in a recent doctoral 
dissertation on masculinity), but the programs lack a practical emphasis, internships, and career 
opportunities and are under-enrolled.  In order to both maintain the academic and develop the 
practical aspects of addressing socio-cultural issues, the School can add programming specifically 
related to the interface between psychoanalysis and social justice, highlighting how the 
understanding of unconscious dynamics can contribute to advocacy efforts.  Now is an especially 
opportune time to launch such a program, because faculty member Stephen Soldz has earned great 
respect and name recognition within social justice and human rights circles, and could lead a 
program in social justice and human rights. 

In keeping with its emphasis on “applied psychoanalysis,” the School can also build on its success in 
bringing a psychodynamic perspective into mental health counseling in the community.  It needs to 
devote resources to effectuate the inclusion of psychoanalysts as counselor educators, by some 
combination of lobbying against CACREP, lobbying for broader standards for counseling faculty 
members by that organization, and/or strengthening alternative accreditors.   

Meanwhile, the field of counseling itself is undergoing rapid transformation with the ascension of 
integration of behavioral health into primary medical care and the proliferation of “wraparound” 
services in the community.  BGSP needs to stay ahead of this curve in terms of training both faculty 
and students to understand and appropriately participate in the new models of care.  At the same 
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time, the School has the opportunity to train clinicians on how to maintain an analytic approach in 
their community work.  In conjunction with promoting BGSP’s addictions programming, this will 
help psychodynamic work to have a place in community mental health.   
 
Changes in technology are also playing an immense role in today’s education environment.  While 
most of BGSP’s programming relies on face to face interaction, the faculty agrees that 
technologically-mediated instruction could play a big role in the accelerated track of the clinical 
Psya.D. program, in which all students are already certified psychoanalysts.  There has been a lot of 
demand from prospective students for that track to be available via distance learning, since many 
prospective students are in other metropolitan areas, and their caseload schedule, as practicing 
analysts, does not allow relocation or a lot of time for commuting.  Increasing enrollment in this 
track would provide not only revenue dollars, but also greater recognition of BGSP among 
influential psychoanalytic communities. 
 
The ever-morphing role of digital social media also provides opportunities to reach new people in 
new ways.  The School is changing its direct marketing strategies to incorporate digital media.  
However, BGSP also needs to evaluate how many resources it can afford to devote to marketing 
and education efforts aimed to people who are not pursuing graduate education in psychoanalysis 
and related fields, but who might be influenced to think differently about the field and influence 
others.  Clear layperson’s messaging and “mythbusting” about psychoanalysis is needed to better 
communicate with the general public, local community members, potential Trustees, potential 
donors, potential internship providers, and legislators or other members of the community. 
 
Communicating more with the greater Brookline community, in particular, has the potential to 
increase local participation.  The area is well educated and generally well off.  Greater awareness of 
the School’s contributions could make a positive impact on community relations, Board 
development, and philanthropy. 
 
Strategic Direction  

BGSP is situated in a rapidly changing landscape.  A crisis within the field of psychoanalysis is 
prompting a re-evaluation by major psychoanalytic organizations of previously rigid constraints on 
training.  This opening, in concert with BGSP’s inroads in higher education and recent collaborative 
efforts, provides a greater opportunity to be more of a “player” in the advancement of 
psychoanalytic education.  At the same time, the obstacles are very real.  The extreme decline of 
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psychoanalysis within the mental health establishment, the sharp drops in enrollment in behavioral 
health graduate programs and the indifference to psychoanalysis within much of the public 
imagination suggest that the odds are not in our favor. 

Yet, the mission prevails.  The need for an understanding of unconscious dynamics to help solve 
problems of emotional suffering and destructive action has not diminished.  BGSP remains 
committed to teaching students to bringing psychoanalysis to bear on individual, social and cultural 
concerns.   

In the current environment, the School needs to pursue its mission very skillfully in order to ensure 
its survival.  Most critical is the need to nourish our roots while strengthening our branches.  
Ensuring that BGSP’s core psychoanalytic training program continues to reflect the depth, 
openness, and inventiveness of its founders – their rich history, their commitment to student 
development, their passion for innovation, and their abiding respect for the unconscious – is 
imperative in order to sustain the radical intellectual fervor and emotional insights that constitute 
psychoanalysis.   

Thus rooted, in order to endure, BGSP needs to vigorously reintroduce analytic listening to those 
areas that are suffering from its loss and help psychoanalytic understanding flourish where it is 
struggling.  The School already has platforms from which to do this, including the “counseling” 
program and the “culture” program.  Additional programs related to social justice and the 
humanities could significantly boost this effort.  Equally importantly, BGSP needs to promote these 
programs in a way that (1) people will see them and consider them, and (2) people can understand 
the benefits that psychoanalysis provides to these related fields. 

It is disturbing for psychoanalysts to witness the radical changes in BGSP’s external environment.  
Adapting to those changes is painful.  At the same time, the faculty can provide (and has provided) 
transformational experiences for students engaging in all kinds of work outside the treatment 
room.  Such transformation can only enrich the field of psychoanalysis as it becomes its future self.     

Strategic Goals     

BGSP’s overarching goal is to increase its financial health while excelling at its mission.  Looking 
forward, the School recognizes that each goal it pursues needs to accomplish one or more of four 
objectives: 

• Improve the School, in order to support quality, retention and new programming. 
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• Increase enrollment, in order to drive tuition. 

• Increase donations, in order to supplement tuition. 

• Promote psychoanalysis in the world.  While the effects of such promotion may be indirect, 
there is a clear need to shift attitudes towards psychoanalysis in order to increase both 
enrollment and donations. 

The Strategic Plan identifies the following goals towards these ends: 

1. Improve the School to support quality, retention and new programming. 

In addition to regular assessment and improvement efforts, the School will focus on the 
following: 

a. Faculty development.  The School will develop “junior” faculty and faculty-
administrators to replace retiring faculty over the long term.  It will recruit faculty 
members from a broad array of academic backgrounds for new programs, focusing 
also on expanding racial and ethnic diversity.  It will increase the use of visiting 
scholars to bring a wider range of voices into the classroom.   

Who:  Jane Snyder 

What and When:    

• Accelerated doctoral faculty:  Pair junior/senior faculty for training 
opportunities (Fall 2017 or earlier) 

• Social justice faculty:  Hire two regular adjuncts in social justice (Fall 2017 or 
earlier participation in Advisory Board) 

• Visiting scholars:  Continue the Comparative Case Seminar; one Distinguished 
Scholar lecture per semester (starting Fall 2016) 

b. Focus on internships.  BGSP will enhance its internship offerings for existing 
students and develop vibrant placements for students in a new social justice 
program. 

Who: Tina Woolbert (clinical internships); Stephen Soldz (social justice internships); 
Sherry Ceridan (addictions internships) 
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What and When: 

Clinical 
• Attend MARIACES meetings starting November 2016 to network with other 

internship coordinators 
• Evaluate the need for new internships by Spring 2017   

Addictions 
• Secure two prospective internship sites by Spring 2017 

Social Justice 
• Add three prospective internship site leaders to the Advisory Board by Fall 

2016 

N.b. The actual number of internships added needs to correspond to the number 
of students requiring internships. 

c. Governance. The School will consider changes to governance structures to (a) 
ensure that its core program is not neglected as other programs require attention 
and/or (b) provide economies of scale. 

Who:  Jane Snyder, Board of Trustees 

What and When: 

This is an ongoing discussion at the President’s Council and Board level.  
Considerations include: 

• Establishing “divisions” within the School such that each cluster of related 
programs (a) receives the specific attention it requires and (b) can be 
independently marketed to its target audiences. 

• Investigating the possibility of joining or establishes an “education system” to 
consolidate resources among multiple institutions. 

• Investigating the possibility of merging with a larger institution. 

2. Increase enrollment to drive tuition. 

Above and beyond its regular marketing initiatives, the School will pursue the following: 
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a. Social Justice.  The School will develop a master’s program in Social Justice and 
Human Rights. 

Who:  Stephen Soldz & Committee 

What: When Completed: 

Develop Curriculum Outline Draft May 2016 

Complete Program Description 

Add Electives to Culture Program 

June 2016 

Meeting of Advisory Board (contact UU 
Brookline, Vicki Semel) 

June 2016 

Recruitment of First Wave Faculty August 2016 

Finalize Curriculum Outline August 2016 

Draft of Syllabi or Course Descriptions August 2016 

Application to State September 15, 2016 

Marketing plan: Draft web site, GRE emails, 
slider, brochure/flyer, advertising (WBUR?) 

October-December, 2017 

State Approval January 2017 

Recruit Students – Launch marketing January 2017 

Secure at least 5 placement sites February 2017 

Determine 2017-18 Schedule and Faculty March 2017 

Social Justice Fundraising Event  March/April 2017 

2017-18 Admissions Deadline  June 1, 2017 

Finalize Schedule and Syllabi June 2017 

Register Students July 2017 
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Launch Program September 2017 

Program Evaluation and Development of 
New Goals 

June 2018 

  

b. Blended intensive/online learning.  In order to capture the interest of those 
certified analysts who do not want to commute for the doctorate, BGSP will offer 
the accelerated track of the Psya.D. program in a blended format, reducing the 
travel time for candidates. 

Who:  Jill Solomon & Committee 

What: When Completed: 

Survey accelerated alumni and faculty 
members 

May 2016 

Outline various formats June 2016 

Research distance learning regulations – 
Allison Williams 

August 2016 

Recruit faculty members September 2016 

Establish high quality videoconferencing 
capability -- beta 

September 2016 

Select a format August 2016 

Complete any state approvals October 2016 

Recruit students - Launch marketing October 2016 

Recruit admissions evaluators November 2016 

Finalize faculty assignments February 2017 

Tentative schedule of classes February 2017 
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Finalize Schedule and Syllabi April 2017 

2017-18 Admissions Deadline  May 1, 2017 

Register Students May 2017 

Launch Program July 2017 – summer intensive 

 

c. New York.  The School will continue to pursue the possibility of offering the 
accelerated track of the Psya.D. program in New York, where there is large demand.   

Who:  Carol Panetta and Mimi Crowell 

What and When:  Pursue New York State for the absolute charter and doctoral-
degree-granting status.  Because the New York State Office of College and University 
Evaluation adheres to its own special timeline, there is no predicted time when this 
can be achieved, but BGSP will apply constant pressure. 

d. Post-master’s audience.  The School does not currently attract many post-master’s 
clinical candidates.  BGSP will evaluate the structure, requirements, and timing of its 
doctoral program to see if changes can be made to interest this market. 

Who:  See below. 

What: When Completed: 

Map out potential changes to doctoral 
program – Carol Panetta 

September 2016 

Revise or reject potential changes to 
doctoral program in conjunction with 
faculty – Lynn Perlman and Jane Snyder 

October 2016 

Change web site and admissions materials 
as needed – Carol Panetta and Paula 
Berman 

November 2016 

Launch marketing to post-master’s December 2016 
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clinicians as appropriate – Carol Panetta 

  

 

e. Psychoanalytic Studies.  In order to ensure that humanities majors are finding a 
degree that suits them, the School will offer a flexible M.A. in Psychoanalytic Studies 
that allows students to custom design a psychoanalytic program. 

Who:  Carol Panetta and Jane Snyder 

What and When:  Submit a name change proposal to the Mass. Board of Higher 
Education in September 2016.  Begin marketing immediately after approval. 

f. Messaging.  The School will formally evaluate its communications strategies to 
attract the best balance of (a) people who know they are interested in 
psychoanalysis, (b) people who are interested in related disciplines, such as 
counseling, and are open to applying psychoanalysis to those disciplines, and (c) 
members of the public who are interested in supporting BGSP’s work.   

Who:  See below.  

What: When Completed: 

Develop a call for proposals for a branding 
project – Carol Panetta 

August 2016 

Hire a communications consultant – Jane 
Snyder 

September 2016 

Review consultant’s findings – President’s 
Council and Board of Trustees 

December 2016 

Develop a new communications plan – 
President’s Council and Board of Trustees 

January 2017 

Implement new communications strategy March 2017 
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3. Increase donations to supplement tuition. 

a. Board development: The Board will recruit new, independent, active Board 
members to help with philanthropy and other functions.  

Who:  President and Board of Trustees 

What: When Completed: 

  

Add two new independent Trustees 
(Lucas, Grubbisich) 

Spring/Summer 2016 

Add three additional new independent 
Trustees 

2016-17 academic year 

Achieve 2/3 Board independence  June 2017 

Elect independent Chair June 2017 

  

  

b. Board leadership: The Board will appoint a Trustee to Co-Chair the Development 
Committee with an administrator.  The School will increase support staff to the 
Committee. 

Who:  Chris Bierbrier and Jane Snyder 

What and When:  Chris Bierbrier will attend the Development Committee through 
Fall 2016.  She will then recruit a new Trustee to Co-Chair the committee starting in 
Spring 2017.  Jane Snyder will find a new administrative leader for the committee by 
that time.  Wendy Forrester will be assigned to staff the committee starting 
immediately. 

c. Alumni engagement: The School will increase both student engagement and alumni 
engagement in order to turn current students into active alumni and increase alumni 
participation in all aspects of the School.   
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Who:  See below. 

What: When Completed: 

  

Re-evaluate Student Association 
mentorship – Jane Snyder to work with 
faculty 

Early September, 2016 

Establish annual alumni event combining 
alumni affairs, marketing, and admissions 
– Leslie Barnard, Carol Panetta, Paula 
Berman, Stephanie Woolbert 

First annual event in September/October, 
2016 

Highlight alumni achievements on the 
website – Carol Panetta 

Launch in October, 2016 

Establish an electronic newsletter – Leslie 
Barnard, Carol Panetta 

Launch January, 2017 

  

 

d. Social Justice funding:  The School will run a special campaign for start-up funding 
for the new program in Social Justice and Human Rights. 

Who:  Chris Bierbrier and Paula Berman 

What and When: 

Chris Bierbrier and Paula Berman will establish a Leadership Council to raise 
between 50 thousand dollars over a 3-5 year period using a two-phased approach.   

Phase 1 - A quiet fund raising period focused on recruiting founding members to 
the Council 

During this phase, we would identify 3-5 donors who have a passion for social 
justice, can afford to make a $5,000 commitment for 3-5 years and are interested in 



June 16, 2016   2016 STRATEGIC PLAN PAGE 25 
 

being members of the Council.  To assess interest and commitment levels, individual 
meetings will be set up between the potential donor, Stephen Soldz, and Jane 
Snyder. It is hoped that board members and/or Stephen's contacts in the field would 
be able to introduce us to those individuals who meet our criteria. All members of 
the Council will be invited to a special event, to be held yearly. At this event Stephen 
and his Advisory Board would update members on key social justice issues and the 
progress being made in our Social Justice and Human Rights Program. Other 
activities might be planned in the interim to keep the Council apprised/ involved.   

 Phase one can begin once we have the following program elements in hand: 

• Compelling program description 
• Names of the members of Stephen's Advisory Board 
• Objectives and outcomes 
• Description of target market and key benefits of the program for that market 
• Internships 
• Job market outlook and placement opportunities 
• List of faculty 
• Budget 
• Identification of donation priorities (e.g, faculty development, recruitment, 

internships, research, fellowships, scholarships, whatever)  

Phase 2 - A broader scale fund raising campaign 

Once the Social Justice and Human Rights Council has a commitment from a 
minimum of 5 donors, there will be a general fund raising initiative.  This initiative 
will be launched at a cocktail party to be held at the Bierbriers’ home in Cambridge. 
 A wide range of friends and associates will be invited to hear Dr. Soldz speak about 
the importance of the program.  All guests will be asked to make a donation. 
Recruitment for Council members will continue throughout this phase. 

4. Promote psychoanalysis in the world to shift attitudes towards enrollment and donations. 

a. Outreach:  Increase the visibility of faculty members in the academic and wider 
communities (outreach, publications, presentations, conferences).   

• Host a Spring, 2017 conference on Social Justice (Jane Snyder to assign 
conference coordinator in June, 2016). 
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• Develop new page on website for “news and events” to broadcast faculty 
publications and presentations (Carol Panetta, October 2017). 

• See the Recruitment Committee’s outreach plan (Jane Snyder, ongoing). 

b. Digital content:  Promote and drive the creation of digital content supporting 
psychoanalysis. 

Who:  Carol Panetta and Social Media Committee 

What and When: 

• Continue social media push:  update blog, update YouTube page, maintain 
Facebook page, initiate Instagram in January, 2017. 

• Produce BGSP’s next video by September, 2016. 
• Update Wikipedia by October, 2016. 
• Develop an outreach strategy for existing bloggers, YouTubers, and 

podcasters.  Layout the strategy by September, 2016 and have a “product 
placement” by June, 2017. 

c. Outcomes research:  Promote outcomes research on the BGSP web site, blog, and 
social media. 

Who:  Carol Panetta and Stephen Soldz (with Jessica Baker and Michael Fraley) 

What and When:  

• Dr. Panetta will ensure the website outcomes research page will be fixed by 
September, 2017.  Dr. Soldz will send updates to Mr. Fraley regularly. 

• Dr. Soldz will also send updates to Ms. Baker regularly to post on social 
media. 

d. CACREP:  Effectuate inclusion of psychoanalysts by recognized counseling 
accreditors and/or strengthen alternative accreditors. 

Who:  Stephen Soldz and Carol Panetta 

What and When:  Dr. Soldz is participating in ongoing conference calls with related 
parties.  Dr. Panetta is attending MARIACES meetings to stay informed.  Both will 
work to apply to MCAC (alternative accreditor) in Spring, 2017. 
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e. Collaboration and networking:  Collaborate with partners who are promoting 
psychoanalysis (such as the Consortium for Psychoanalysis in Higher Education, 
APA’s Division 39, NAAP, social media).  This is an ongoing group effort! 

f. Legislation:  Promote legislative recognition of psychoanalysts.  

Who:  Jane Snyder and Carol Panetta 

What and When:  File a licensing bill in January, 2017 and lobby for passage by July, 
2018. 

 



 

F. Waiver of Debt Covenants for 2016 

 

 



1700 District Avenue
2nd Floor

Burlington MA, 01803

May 4, 2016
VIA EMAIL

Dr. Carol Panetta, VP of Finance 
Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. 
1581-1583 Beacon Street
Units 1, 2,3,4,6 and 7
Brookline MA, 02446

RE: Covenant Waiver Under Revolving Line of Credit and Mortgage Agreement dated November 16, 2001 (the “Loan 
Agreement”) by and between TD Bank, N.A. (the “Bank) and Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis, Inc. (the 
“Borrower”).

Dear Carol:

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Loan Agreement.

The Loan Agreement provides, in relevant part, that Borrower shall maintain and comply with the following 
covenant(s):

“The Borrower shall not permit its Debt Service Coverage Ratio to be less than 1.25 to 1.0 at any time to be 
tested on an annual basis."

As reported by Borrower’s financial statement for the period ending July 31 2015, the Debt Service Coverage Ratio
was -0.13x and accordingly Borrower did not maintain the minimum required covenant level of 1.25x for such period.

"Borrower shall be required to pay down the Revolving Loan for thirty (30) consecutive days to a maximum 
balance of $0.00 prior to each anniversary of the date of this Agreement"

As reported by Borrower’s financial statement for the period ending July 31 2015 and based on the above referenced 
covenant test dates, as measured by the anniversary of the November 16, 2001 Loan Agreement, the Revolving 
Loan did not pay down to a maximum balance of $0.00 and accordingly Borrower did not maintain the maximum
required covenant level of $0.00.

The Bank hereby agrees to waive the above cited violations, subject to the conditions that:

a) the waiver set forth in this letter is specifically limited to the violation cited above and does not constitute an 
amendment of the Covenants for any other period or of any other provision of any Loan Document;

b) the Bank specifically reserves the right to enforce the Loan Documents with respect to any future violation of 
the Covenants cited above or any other covenant or any other provisions of any Loan Document;

c) all other terms and conditions of the Loan Documents remain in full force and effect; and
d) after giving effect to the waiver herein no Default or Event of Default presently exists.



Yours truly, 

TD Bank, N.A. successor by merger to First Massachusetts 
Bank, N.A. 

__________________________________
By: Sean McGah, VP



 

G. Eastern Bank Line of Credit 

 

 





































 

H. Social Justice and Human Rights Advisory 
Board 

 

 



Social Justice and Human Rights Advisory Board 
August, 2016 
 
Stephen Soldz, Ph.D., Project Director, BGSP Faculty 

Mara Wagner, Psy.D., BGSP Faculty 

Jane Snyder, Ph.D., BGSP President 

Francis Bigda-Peyton, Ph.D., BGSP Faculty  

Sarah Dougherty, J.D. (Northeastern University), M.P.H. (Tufts University). Senior Fellow, U.S. Anti-
Torture Program, Physicians for Human Rights; Formerly held appointments at the FXB Center for Health 
and Human Rights at Harvard University and at the Institute for Justice and Democracy in Haiti. 
 
Danielle Egan, Ph.D. (Sociology, Boston College), Psya.D. (Boston Graduate School of Psychoanalysis).  
Professor and Coordinator, Gender and Sexuality Studies, St. Lawrence University. 
 
Gordon Fellman, Ph.D. (Sociology, Harvard). Professor of Sociology, Brandeis University; Chair, Peace 
and Conflict, and Coexistence Studies Program. 
 
Lynne Layton, Ph.D. (Comparative Literature, Washington University; Clinical Psychology, Boston 
University); Certificate in Psychoanalysis (Massachusetts Institute for Psychoanalysis).   1997-2004, 
Visiting Faculty, Social Studies, Harvard University; Founder, Psychosocial Work Group (2013); Editor, 
Psychoanalysis, Culture & Society. 
 
Alice LoCicero, Ph.D, M.B.A. Visiting Faculty, Wright Institute; Core Faculty and Intern Supervisor, Center 
for Multicultural Training in Psychology, Boston Medical Center; Society for Terrorism Research (Co-
Founder and First President); Formerly: Associate Professor and Chair of Social Science, Endicott College, 
Beverly, MA. 
 
Julia Moore, M.B.A. (Yale University), M.A. (BGSP), LMHC.  Senior Consultant for Continuity Family 
Business Consulting, Tavestock group expert, former consultant for McKinsey, Faculty, Harvard Business 
School Executive Education program, Board of Trustees, Austen Riggs Center. 

Steven Reisner, Ph.D. (Clinical Psychology, Teachers College of Columbia University), President, 
Psychologists for Social Responsibility (2013). American Psychological Association Council 
Representative (Division 39: Psychoanalysis). Member of APA’s Ethics Commission and its Conflict-of-
Interest Work Group; worked with the International Criminal Court, United Nations Critical Incident/Disaster 
Unit, US State Department, International Organization of Migrations, and Heartland Alliance on projects in 
Iraq, Sierra Leone, Haiti, Kosovo, and elsewhere. 
 
Paul Reynolds, Psy.D. (Massachusetts School of Professional Psychology). Former Coordinator, Group 
Program, Boston Institute for Psychotherapy; Steering Committee of Reflective Spaces/Material Places, 
Boston; Co-Leader Social Justice Seminar, Massachusetts College of Art and Design (2014-2016); Former 
Trainer, Haitian Mental Health Network, Boston MA/Port-Au-Prince, Haiti. 
 



Usha Tummala-Narra, Ph.D. (Clinical Psychology,  Michigan State University). Associate Professor, 
Counseling, Developmental, and Educational Psychology, Boston College; Author, Psychoanalytic Theory 
and Cultural Competence in Psychotherapy (2016), American Psychological Association Books. 

Anjuli Wagner, Ph.D. (Public Health, University of Washington), Magnuson Scholar, Kenya Research and 
Training Center. 
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